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FOREWORD

The Mobile District is one of the oldest and also one of the most active
districts in the Corps of Engineers. Since early in the 1800’s, except for a
brief interruption during the Civil War, Army and civilian personnel of the
Corps stationed at Mobile or directed from the Mobile headquarters have
worked continuously to develop the rich water resources of the area and to
build and improve its many important military installations. Their accom-
plishments have made major contributions to the growth and well being of
the Southeast.

Recording this long and eventful history has been a monumental task. We
were most fortunate to obtain Dr. Virgil S. Davis, Chairman of the Division
of Social Sciences and Professor of History at Mobile College, to do the job
on a contract basis. His diligence in searching out and organizing informa-
tion from widely scattered sources, his enthusiastic interest in the project,
and his ready cooperation with the District Historical Committee have made
working with him a pleasure.

DRAKE WILSON
Colonel, CE
District Engineer
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PREFACE

This research project is a part of the United States Army Corps of Engineers historical
program which proposes to record the history of the Corps since its inception in 1776. This
project is limited to that area which became the Mobile District. Work in this area was
initiated after the War of 1812. The invasion of New Orleans and attacks on Dauphin Island
and Mobile Point by the British revealed the need for a Gulf of Mexico defense system.

Second Lieutenant Hipolite Dumas was sent to survey the Gulf Coast frontier in 1815.
This was the first Corps activity in the Mobile District. There were no actual Corps of Engi-
neers districts, as such, at that time. During the early years, the engineer incharge of
work on the Gulf of Mexico was assigned projects which often were far removed from that
area which became the Mobile District. Engineers operating from offices maintained at Fort
Morgan, Mobile Point, Alabama, and at Fort Pickens, Pensacola, Florida, were responsible
for projects as far to the east and south as Key West, Florida, and as far west as the Red
River in Louisiana. Though the bulk of the projects were located between the St. Marks
River, Florida, and East Pearl River on the Mississippi-Louisiana boundary, those did not
constitute district boundaries strictly speaking.

Military responsibilities during the period before 1888, the year that the Southeast Di-
vision was established, were exclusively coastal defenses. Civil projects were largely
harbor improvements with some channel clearing and dredging in the early years. After the
Civil War, there was a tremendous expansion of river and harbor work, but almost no mili-
tary projects until the eve of the Spanish American War.

The Corps of Engineers was reorganized in 1888. With increased responsibilities, the
Nation was divided in Corps divisions with a Division Engineer over each. The divisions
were divided into districts with District Engineers for each. The District Engineers reported
to the Division Engineers who, in turn, reported to the Chief of Engineers.

The Mobile District fell in the Southeast Division, but became the Montgomery District
with responsibilities from the Escambia River eastward to St. Marks, and the Mobile Dis-
trict from the EscambiaRiver westward to East Pearl River. This organizational structure re-
mained until the two districts were joined in 1933. The boundaries and responsibilities of
the Mobile District did not change significantly again until World War II.

During the months preceding United States entrance into the conflict, the Corps of Engi-
neers was given the responsibilities for all military construction for the Army and Army Air
Corps. The Mobile District was further given military projects from the New Orleans, Vicks-
burg, and Nashville Districts and became one of the largest and most active engineering
organizations in the world.

Since 1941 the boundaries of the military district have changed several times. Bounda-
ries which finally became fairly definite extended from the St. Marks River, Florida, to
Pearl River in the west and included Northwest Florida, western Georgia, all of Alabama,
all of Tennessee, a larger portion of Mississippi with responsibilities extending briefly



into South Carolina and Kentucky. They were further expanded in 1971, however, when
military responsibilities of the Jacksonville District were assigned to the Mobile District,
and the Canaveral District was phased out and that responsibility was assigned to the
Mobile District.

The civil district has remained definite since the joining of the Montgomery and Mobile
Districts in 1933. Boundaries are dictated primarily by river systems. The District as it
emerged extends from the St. Marks River, Florida, to East Pearl River in the west and
includes all the rivers and their tributaries between those points. This includes many har-
bors and a long coastline with the usual responsibilities for channel, harbor, and beach
erosion projects. The District extends inland to include northwest Florida, western Georgia,
most of Alabama and about two-thirds of Mississippi.

Beginning with one man assigned to accomplish a coastal survey in 1815, the Mobile
District grew until it reached a workload in 1964 greater than that of any other district, and
was described as the busiest engineering district in the world. Its responsibilities have
extended from the east coast of Florida to the South Pacific in the west and to Panama
Canal Zone to the south in the form of special assignments. Projects ranged from minor
local flood-control work to playing a major role in landing man on the moon.

This research treats much of the history only in a general fashion. With two hundred or
more projects in progress at once, many of which have been multi-million dollar works, time
and space would not permit a full treatment.

The author wishes to express appreciation to Colonel Robert E. Snetzner and Colonel
Harry A. Griffith, District Engineers during the period of this research for their cooperation.
The members of the Historical Committee, Gibson I. Nettles, Chairman, have been patient
and helpful. A. J. Chamberlin and his staff in the Public Affairs Office have been helpful
and have provided much historical data. W. C. Strain and his staff in the Office of Admin-
istrative Services, especially the Records Branch, were a great help. Personal interviews
with L. L. Knight, E. E. Peters, T. 0. Gaillard, E. A. Drago, W. R. Matkin, George Collier
and others afforded first-hand information. Writings of L. L. Knight, A. L. Saylor, William
L. Dolive, U. L. Perry, and 1. L. Campbell, all Mobile District Corps employees, have also
been especially helpful. G. I. Nettles, more than anyone else, has worked with the author

and has sought_ to assure a good history. The criticisms, suggestions, and advice of Jesse A.
Remington, Chief Historian of the Corps of Engineers, have been most helpful.
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COPY OF OFFICIAL ORDER DATED MAY 4, 1815, DIRECTING LIEUT. H. DUMAS TO

EXAMINE THE DEFENSES OF MOBILE AND NEW ORLEANS AND TO PREPARE A TOPO-

GRAPHICAL MAP OF THE COUNTRY FROM PENSACOLA TO LAKE BARATARIA, WEST

OF NEW ORLEANS (OLDEST KNOWN RECORD OF CORPS OF ENGINEERS ACTIVITY
IN WHAT IS NOW THE MOBILE DISTRICT)




CHAPTER I:
EARLY WORK IN THE MOBILE DISTRICT

General Joseph G. Swift, chief engineer,
expressed concern with harbor fortifications
in correspondence with the Secretary of War
on 21 March 1815.1 He reported that he had
discussed the matter with Secretary of State
James Monroe and had arranged to send offi-
cers of the Corps of Engineers to the impor-
tant ports from Maine to New Orleans. They
were to give full reports on the state of
fortifications, and, where necessary, select
sites for new works to protect the principal
positions on the coast and the avenues to
those sites.

Swift sent Second Lieutenant Hipolite
Dumas, an 1813 graduate of West Point, to
survey the Gulf Coast Frontier later in 1815.
Dumas was a native of France, and received
an appointment to the military academy from
Pennsylvania. He became a Captain on 31
March 1819, but resigned from military ser-
vice in 1825. He died 7 February 1841. Dumas
was instructed to accomplish a topographical
survey of the Gulf Coast. Right in the midst
of his work, however, all surveys and recom-
mendations were ordered suspended until a
newly created Board of Engineers for Forti-
fications could conduct surveys and form
its own conclusions concerning the needs for
coastal defenses. It is assumed that the work
of Dumas was turned over to that board since
no report under his signature has been found.
He did accomplish extensive surveys, how-
ever, because the Board of Engineers cites
surveys which it could not have accom-
plished so quickly. In 1819, the Chief
Engineer ordered $10,000 sent to Lieutenant
James Gadsden to be used to settle the ac-
counts of Dumas. Gadsden was able to report
on 4 May 1819 that the accounts had almost
all’ been settled.

While Dumas was making his survey on
the Gulf of Mexico, changes were being made
in the Corps of Engineers. Congress, by
joint resolution, authorized the President to
employ a ‘‘skillful assistant’” for the Corps
of Engineers. On 29 April 1816, upon recom-
mendation of Albert Gallatin, American minis-
ter to France, and Lafayette, General Simon
Bernard, a native of France and one of Na-
poleon’s most capable engineers, was select-

ed. Bernard had a distinguished career
during Napoleon’s reign, but he had gone to
Napoleon’s aid at Waterloo and stood beside
him in that battle. This precluded any pos-
sibility of remaining in the French military
service under the restored Bourbon, Louis
X VIII.

After the final exile of Napoleon, Bernard
came to America with Joseph Bonaparte, a
brother of Napoleon. President Madison offi-
cially employed Bernard 16 November 1816.
He was given the salary of a general and
accorded the privileges of that rank, but
was not given a military commission in the
American Army. It was hoped that his posi-
tion as a civilian would prevent opposition
from the already established American offi-
cials. This was not to be the case, however.
General Swift and Colonel Joseph G. Totten,
who later became Chief of Engineers, strong-
ly opposed the appointment.

The War Department attempted to prevent
opposition to Bernard. On the day of his ap-
pointment, it established the Board of
Engineers for Fortifications to be composed
of three officers of the Corps of Engineers.
Colonel William McRee and Totten were
placed on the board with Bernard. This board
would prevent Bernard from having direct
authority over American military officers.

Because of Swift’s opposition to Bernard,
he was ordered to West Point to superintend
the military academy, to prevent his inter-
ference 1in the activities of the board. In
January 1817, Swift persuaded President
Madison to relieve him of his duty at West
Point so he could supervise the functions of
the board. Later President Monroe reassured
Swift that his authority superseded that of
Bernard, but Secretary of War John C. Cal-
houn tended to approve Bernard’s plans for
fortifications rather than those of Swift. The
chief engineer became irritated and resigned
in November 1818, ending what had begun
as an outstanding career with the Corps of
Engineers. McRee, appointed a cadet in 1803
from Wilmington, North Carolina, resigned
from the Corps of Engineers 13 March 1816.
He refused to continue to work with Bernard



when it became evident that Bernard was to
have the dominant influence on the board.?

Totten, who had been most vocal in his
criticism of the War Department’s policy of
placing a foreigner in the military establish-
ment, refused to resign. He learned to work
alongside or independently of Bernard, and
enjoyed a long and distinguished career. He
became Chief Engineer in 1838.3  Bernard
remained on the board until his resignation
in 1831.

The Board of Engineers began the first
really general and comprehensive survey of
the defense needs of America. It secured
many surveys and much topographical data,
utilizing the work of the Topographical
Engineers whose duties began in earnest in
1813. By an Act of Congress 3 March 1813,
eight topographical engineers were appointed
along with eight assistants. At the close of
the War of 1812, all but two of those engineers
were mustered out. An act of 4 April 1816
provided for topographical engineers with the
army general staff. They were placed under
the Board of Engineers to accomplish gene-
ral surveys and to collect data for a system
of fortifications.4

Tne Board of Engineers started their sur-
vey at the Sabine River in the west and
worked eastward to the Spanish Florida line
at the Perdido River. General Bernard filed
a report dated New Orleans, 23 December
1817.5 In that report he observed the na-
ture of the Gulf Coast Frontier, gave a list
of projected forts, and estimates of expenses
of construction. That report became the
working foundation for future plans for de-
fense on the Gulf Coast Frontier until the
system of forts planned was outdated by
technological progress.

The conclusion of the report seems to
have been largely the work of Bernard. In
later disputes, Bernard alone wrote elabora-
tions on the original report to defenditsrec-
ommendations. For the purpose of this
research, only that portion of the report deal-
ing with the Mississippi Gulf Coast, the
Mobile Bay area and the Florida Gulf (‘oast
will be considered. New Orleans, Mobhile
Bay, and Pensacola came to be treated as a
single defense system, so there is, of neces-

sity, frequent references to New Orleans.

When Bernard reported in 1817, he saw
five approaches by which an enemy might in-
vade the Gulf Coast. They were the Bayou
Teche, Vermillion River Basin, the Missis-
sippi River Delta, Mobile Bay, and Pensa-
cola. The elaborate system of forts planned
by Bernard revolved around protection of
those approaches from enemy penetration and
to insure free communication between those
approaches for the mutual benefit of all.
Above all else, the Port of New Orleans
must be held with free access to the Gulf
since it was the only trade outlet for a vast
portion of the United States by way of the
Mississippi River and its tributaries.

Bernard found two forts already construct-
ed on Mobile Bay. Fort Bowyer had been
built by the Americans in 1813 on the west-
ern extremity of Mobile Point at the mouth of
Mobile Bay. It was a circular battery enclos-
ed in the rear by two curtains and a salient
bastion. It was elevated about eighteen feet
above the ocean level. Its delineations were
well performed and would have been suffi-
cient, Bernard observed, if its only purpose
had been to defend the ship channel. Since
the enemy could carry on by land, it was too
small, and the ramparts of its two fronts were
too small and too weak. An enemy could ap-
proach to within pistol shot without being
seen by hiding behind the bank which border-
ed the north shore of the peninsula. The
walls had been constructed of timber filled
with sand. Bernard observed that the beams
and thick planks with which it was lined
were so decayed that they could be pulled
off in pieces. It was deemed of no value and
would have to be abandoned as soon as a
new fort could be erected.

Fort Charlotte in Mobile was the old Fort
de Conde renamed by the British in honor of
their young queen in 1763 when the English
acquired the territory at the close of the
French and Indian War. It was the only fort
within the scope of the Gulf Coast survey
that was well built. 1t had been built by the
Frenchin 1702, Bernard said that its delinea-
tion and relicf were far below the degree of
perfection which had been attained in the
construction of Kuropean forts which belong-



ed to its era It was more than adequate, how-
ever, for the purpose for which the fort had
been built. It had been a stronghold against
the Indians and a refuge for the inhabitants
of the community in the event of an invasion
by the former. Since serious threat of Indian
attack no longer existed, the fort had lost its
importance. It hardly defended the west bank
of Mobile River and offered no protection
against invasion by all the eastern branches
of the waterways flowing into Mobile Bay. He
concluded that the fort should be retained
however, as a depot for the militia and as a
place of arms against Pensacola as long as
that city continued to be in other than United
States possession.

The current state of defense for Mobile
Bay necessitated starting from scratch. With
this in mind, Bernard sketched his proposed
defenses. There were three considerations in
justifying an elaborate defense system by the
standards of the day. The first was, the
protection of Mobile Bay. Second, he saw the
necessity of protecting the same area from an
invasion from Spanish Pensacola by land.
This would be necessary until Pensacola be-
came a possession of the United States, a
condition which Bernard considered a pre-
requisite for the peace and protection of
Alabama settlers. The third was the security
of the Port of New Orleans. It must be pro-
tected from an overland invasion from
Alabama, and also a coastal waterway must
be kept open between the two ports by way
of Mississippl Sound and Lake Ponchartrain.

The Alabama and Tombigbee Rivers join
just above Fort Stoddard at present Mount
Vernon to form the Mobile River. The Tom-
bighee had a channel which was navigable
for three hundred miles by boats drawing
three feet of water. Schooners drawing four
feet could go to St. Stephens. The Alabama
was navigable to Fort Jackson, a distance of
about two hundred miles. This area served
some 40,000 population in 1817, and the
settlers were increasing rapidly. The quality
of the soil and mild climate dictated that it
would develop into an area of great economic
importance. Further, Bernard accepted it as
a matter of course that the Tombighee and
Tennessee Rivers would be joined and
Mobile would become the main port of trans-

portation between the Mississippi Valley and
the Gulf Coast.6

The immediate concern in 1817, however,
was to protect the Alabama settlers against
the Spanish in Florida and the Indians in-
cited by the Spanish or British. Violence, he
said, would not cease entirely until Florida
belonged to the United States and until the
coastal defenses deprived the Europeans of
all means of communications with the Indians.
The Indians then could be made dependent
upon the United States through commerce.

There also existed a string of islands bet-
ween New Orleans and Mobile Bay with a
natural channel between them and the main-
land which afforded a direct line of com-
munication between the two points. It was
necessary to protect this line of communica-
tion in time of war. [t was regrettable that the
islands were too far apart to permit a line of
forts giving protection to the entire channel.
This channel was later utilized as a part of
the Intracoastal Waterway,

An enemy landing at Mobile would have
access to all areas of the Gulf Coast Frontier
by way of roads. Old Fort Stoddard just north
of Mobile had been a port of entry before
Mobile was acquired by the United States.
There was a carriage road from Mobile to
Fort Stoddard. There it connected with a
whole system of roads which could be used
as routes of invasion. The road directly bet-
ween Mobile and Pensacola was only two or
three feet wide and could accommodate only
someone on foot or on horseback. It posed
no threat at that time, but could be easily
widened.

There were roads from Fort Stoddard to
Baton Rouge and Natchez, both of which
were situated on the Mississippi River. An
enemy utilizing those roads could approach
New Orleans from the north by way of the
Mississippi. There was also a road from Fort
Stoddard to Pensacola. It accommodated car-
riages, but the bridges were in a sad state of
repair, and would have to be rebuilt to ac-
commodate any extensive transportation.
There was a ferry boat at the Fish River
crossing. There was a better road between
Pensacola and Fort Montgomery on the left
bank of the Alabama River. This was the



road over which Andrew Jackson marched
against Pensacola in November 1814. It was
the best possible overland route to Pensa-
cola, and afforded the most favorable access
to act against that city. It was, however, just
as valuable to an invading enemy. Each of
the above mentioned roads had great military
significance which became increasingly im-
portant if Mobile Bay was vulnerable.

With those considerations in mind, Ber-
nard developed his plans for the defense of
the Gulf Coast Frontier. The conclusions
drawn from the survey of 1816-1817 called
for forts at Grande Terre, one on each side
of the Mississippi River at Plaquemine Bend,
Bayou Dupre, Bayou Bienvenue, Chef Menteur,
and the Rigolets Pass, all in Louisiana. The
system projected for the Mississippi Sound,
Mobile Bay area, included a tower to protect
Pass au Heron, a substantial fort on the
eastern end of Dauphin Island and one of
equal size on the western tip of Mobile Point
across the bay. At a later date Fort Massa-
chusetts was built on Ship Island to protect
Mississippi Sound though it was not a part of
Bernard’s system. Bernard foresaw the ac-
quisition of Florida by the United States and
commented concerning the necessity of ade-
quate fortifications for Pensacola Bay. When
Florida was secured in 1819, the defense
system was expanded to include four forts on
Pensacola Bay with the protection of the
navy yard being the primary consideration.

The value of Mobile Bay, Bernard said,
would be enhanced to the United States due
to the annexation of Florida. Pensacola, he
noted, was the only harbor in the Gulf admit-
ting the largest war vessels then in posses-
sion of the United States. James Gadsden
stated that peculiar advantages such as a
sheltered harbor and a deep channel across
the bar dictated that Pensacola Bay must be
selected as a site for a naval depot for the
Gulf Coast Frontier. While forts could easily
protect the ship channel from a sea attack,
Pensacola was so vulnerable to a land at-
tack that it was necessary to perfect the
defenses of not only Pensacola, but also
Mobile Bay. The two bays, he said, were in-
timately connected and had to be looked upon
as a single system of defense in the interest

of security and permanent defense of the
contemplated naval depot.?

The knowledge of Pensacola Bay was
based on a survey accomplished by the

British between 1764 and 1771. The survey
was made by George Gauld, M.A., under the
direction of the Lords Commissioners of the
admiralty. The title which appears on the
charts describes the scope of the project. It
states that it was ‘‘an accurate chart of the
coast of West Florida and the Coast of
Louisiana from the Suwannee River on the
West Coast of Florida to 90 degrees 20’ West
Longitude, describing the entrance of the
River Mississippi, Bay of Mobile, and Pensa-
cola Harbor.”’ In 1825 Simon Bernard
referred to a survey of Pensacola Bay which
had been made by a Captain Elliot of the
navy in 1822. This survey was being used by
Major James Dearney of the Topographical
Engineers then at Pensacola making a more
complete survey. Tampa Bay was also being
surveyed as a possible site for the proposed
naval yard. Bernard considered it the only
possible site which could compete with
Pensacola Bay. A survey of Port St. Joe
revealed water thirty feet deep and a pro-
tected harbor, but other considerations nulli-
fied those advantages.

Actual work toward the navy yard was
initiated by order of the Secretary of the Navy,
Samuel L. Southard, 15 September 1825. He
appointed Captains William Bainbridge,
James Biddle, and Lewis Warrington to
select a site for a naval establishment at
Pensacola.? - The United States ship “Hornet”
under the command of Captain Woodhouse
was placed at their disposal for transporta-
tion.

They were ordered to assemble at Norfolk,
Virginia, on or about 1 Qctober and to proceed
to Pensacola as soon as it was convenient.
They were to select the site and negotiate
the purchase of land subject to approval
of the Navy Department, but in the event of
urgency, could negotiate final settlement of
the purchasc. They were authorized to ac-
quire all land necded for current needs and
any which might be necessary to meet future
requirements. They were provided with a
proposed plan for fortifications which would
be cstablished to protect the harbor.



Major James Kearney of the Topographical
Engineers had recently surveyed Pensacola
harbor and a Lieutenant Pinkham had accom-
plished soundings. The naval commission
made its selection for a site for the navy
yard on the basis of projected fortifications
and the surveys. It settled on a site just
north and east of Tartar’s Point near old Fort
Barrancas. There the water was deepest near
the shore and the position was well situated
relative to proposed defense structures.
Being near Barrancas, it could utilize the
assistance of troops stationed there if need-
ed. Tartar’s Point afforded complete protec-
tion from swells created by southern winds.
The land was high, hence healthful There was
also an adequate supply of fresh water.
Since the area was public domain land, pur-
chases were unnecessary.

Fortifications on Pensacola Bay revolved
around the necessity for protecting this naval
yard. An elaborate system of defense was
constructed which ultimately included four
forts. All were substantial structures with
Fort Pickens being the largest. It was not
exceeded in size by any other gulf coast fort
except Fort Jefferson constructed on Dry
Tortugas west of Key West, Florida, at a
later time.

The Pensacola defenses were national in
purpose from their inception. There was
little local population to protect, and no
concentration of economic interest. The pine
barrens extended from the coast line for some
forty miles inland. The area was unsuited
for agriculture, and would not support any
significant population in an agrarian economy.
With the development of the plans for the
Pensacola defense projects, the Gulf Coast
Frontier system was complete.

Most of the system was constructed,
though not on the schedule Bernard had pro-
jected. Since the Corps of Engineer districts
had not been formed at this time, much of the
construction in Louisiana was directed by
the officer in charge at Mobile Point. Though
the Louisiana forts were located outside the
area which became the Mobile District, they
are noted here simply as a part of the Gulf
Coast defense system. Fort Livingston was
constructed at Grande Terre at the entrance
of Barataria Bay west of the Mississippi.
Fort Jackson was built on the west bank of

the Mississippi at Plaquemine Bend, and
Fort St. Philip on the east bank. Fort Macomb
and Fort Pike were constructed at Chef
Menteur and the Rigolets respectively, and
Martello Castle was built at Dupre Bayou.
Those forts gave protection to all water ap-
proaches to New Orleans. As stated above
those forts were outside the Mobile District
and their construction, therefore, did not fall
within the scope of this research.

Those forts which were included in this
research were those along the Mississippi,
Alabama, and Florida coasts. Fort Massa-
chussetts was built on Ship Island. Its pur-
pose was to protect Mississippi Sound. Fort
Powell, a Martello Tower type structure was
built at Pass au Heron to protect the pass
from Mississippi Sound into Mobile Bay. Fort
Morgan and Fort Gaines were placed in
positions to protect the ship channel into
Mobile Bay from the gulf.

The four forts constructed to protect
Pensacola Bay and the navy yard were Fort
Pickens, Fort McRee, Fort Barrancas, and
Fort Redoubt. That system of forts gave the
Gulf Coast Frontier adequate protection
against enemy invasions at the time they
were projected. They were out-of-date, how-
ever, by the time the last one had been com-
pleted.

The system of forts reflected the back-
ground, experience, and training of Bernard.
He had been trained in the traditions of the
great French military engineer the Marquis de
Vauban, 1633-1707. Vauban perfected the
pentagonal fortifications with bastions
projecting at each corner so that there was
no length of wall which could not be placed
under cross fire from behind ramparts. This
system gave reasonable protection against
the type of cannon fire utilized in warfare at
that time. Though Vauban served Louis XIV,
1642-1715, the system had not been out-
dated when Bernard arose to prominence
during the French Revolution and Napoleonic
era, 1789-1815. Bernard had directed the
construction of the great defense system of
Antwerp, Belgium, during the Napoleonic
wars. He brought the best of European national
defense know-how to America. Though the
system extended from Texas to Maine, only
that portion which fell within the Mobile
District is included in this research.



CHAPTER IlI:

MOBILE BAY DEFENSES

Congress acted upon the report of the
Board of Engineers by approving the initial
recommendations for the coastal defense
system. The project was implemented in the
Mobile District by negotiating contracts for
the construction of forts at the east end of
Dauphin Island and Mobile Point.1 A con-
tract for the Dauphin Island project was
signed 17 July 1818 with Richard Harris of
Richmond, Virginia. It was a brief contract
with no specifications for the proposed fort
included. Harris simply agreed to construct
or cause to be constructed a fort on Dauphin
Island at such a place as the United States
by any engineer may direct. It was to be
constructed of ‘‘such walls, ditches, em-
bankments, buildings, parts, and dimensions,
as the said engineer may from time to time
prescribe.’”” The contract was signed by
Joseph G. Swift, Chief Engineer, represent-
ing the War Department and Harris. It was

witnessed by George Blaney and C. Vande-
venter.

This fort, as proposed by the Board of
Engineers, was to be 675 yards in length
from the crest of the parapets. Total esti-
mated cost was $693,292.75. It was to be the
same size as the one proposed for Mobile
Point, and would be manned by 900 men in
time of war and 100 in peace times. There
were to be 128 pieces of artillery including
six 13-inch and four 10-inch mortars. These
two forts, Dauphin Island and Mobile Point,
as projected would be exceeded in cost and
size only by Fort Monroe, at 2,304 yards
from the crest of the parapets and Fort Wash-
ington at 835 yards. The other forts of the
system were to range from 633 yards for Fort
Delaware to the smaller forts at 308 yards.2

The contract called for work to begin on
Dauphin Island by 1 December 1818, and to
be finished by 1 December 1821. Harris en-
gaged a number of white laborers and made
considerable preparations to execute the
contract, and arrived at Dauphin Island on
22 November. Though only Harris signed the
contract, he is listed along with Nimrod
Farrow, a partner, as contractors in subse-
quent documents. When they arrived, they

found no engineer available to designate the
location of the proposed fort, and the work
was delayed.

The initial labor force included about
seventy-five laborers and mechanics. They
were idle until the location of the fort was
designated on 22 January 1819. Captain
James Gadsden was ordered to Mobile Point
by General Joseph G. Swift 22 October 1818.
He arrived at Mobile 17 January 1819, and
proceeded to Dauphin Island to direct the
construction of that fort. He was responsible
for construction of the forts at Mobile Point
and the Rigolets in Louisiana. He remained
the officer in charge of the Gulf Coast
Frontier and dispersing official until he was
transferred in April 1821.

Before actual construction could be ac-
complished at Dauphin Island, it was neces-
sary for the contractors to gather a labor
force, tools, implements and materials such
as bricks, lime, timber, and iron. Mobile was
considered to be on the remote Gulf Coast
Frontier, and Dauphin Island was somewhat
remote from Mobile, being disconnected from
the mainland. This necessitated securing a
fleet of schooners and building a wharf,
General Turner Starke, native of Fairfield
District, South Carolina, became the agent in
charge of construction and henceforth direct-
ed the project. There is no evidence that
Harris had ever visited the site of the pro-
posed fort before signing the contract. He
was, therefore, totally lacking in information
concerning foundations, availability of ma-
terials, accessibility of Dauphin Island to
the source of supplies, and the availability
and cost of labor. When excavations were
begun, for instance, he learned that the cost
of shoring up the walls was about as expen-
sive as the excavations themselves. This
just about doubled the anticipated cost of
the excavations.

. The corps of white laborers was used dur-
1ng the first year, 1819, in establishing the
brickyards, building the wharfs, and other-

wise making preparations for the actual
construction.



When Harris and Farrow had had time to
appraise the situation, they concluded that
it was practical to dismiss the white laborers
and utilize slaves. The slaves were purchas-
ed at attractive prices due to the declined
price of cotton. A good field laborer in 1819
was worth no more than $600 to $650 and
slave labor when hired was only about $100
per year. Having purchased slaves, however,
necessitated the construction of shelter, and
providing food, clothing, and other require-
ments. Dr. Anderson Salie was employed in
1818 and remained as the resident physician
for the duration of the construction of the
project.

Dr. Salie reported later that there were
never less than 150 to 200 laborers actively
engaged in the project. Those included some
white mechanics, masons, and overseers. It
had been estimated that bricks would have
to be imported from the East at about $14
per thousand. It was discovered, however,
that excellent clay for brick making existed
in numerous localities along the Gulf Coast,
and the price proved much less than expected.
Brick yards were established on Fowl and
Dog Rivers, and all the necessary houses to
shelter laborers and equipment were con-
structed.

General Starke appears to have been ef-
ficient. In 1820 he was utilizing the labor of
200 slaves, and was about to increase the
force to 300 slaves and thirty white men to
meet the 1 December 1821 deadline for
completion of the fort according to the
contract.

In 1821, Colonel James Gadsden trans-
ferred the superintendence of the fortifica-
tions on the Gulf of Mexico Frontier to
Captain Rene E. DeRussy.?2 DeRussy
reported that he expected the barracks to be
completed during that summer. General Starke
had established a brick kiln at Red Bluff on
the eastern shore of Mobile Bay from which
he expected to secure many bricks. He had
family connections on the eastern shore. His
nephew, Major Lewis Starke had been under
the command of Andrew Jackson in the
Florida Indian War. In 1818 Lewis resigned
from the military and at the urging of General
Starke, remained in the Mobile area. In 1825

he married Louisa Dolive in the Mobile home
of Nicholas Weeks. For many years he made
his home at Red Bluff on Rock Creek. Later
he moved to White Bluff or the Village at the
later site of Daphne. Lewis Starke provided
bricks for the coastal defense projects. His
father-in-law, Louis Dolive, his uncle,
Nicholas Weeks, and his brother-in-law,
Uriah Blue, were all engaged in brick making
and supplied bricks and lumber for the forts.
General Turner Starke operated a kiln at Red
Bluff using slaves owned by the Harris
estate until the death of Starke. Though his
only connection with the Dolive family seems
to have been through his nephew, Lewis
Starke, he appears to have brought the re-
sources of the Dolive family to the disposal
of the Corps of Engineers.4

DeRussy had under his command Lieu-
tenant E. J. Lambert of the eighth Infantry
and Lieutenants H. C. Story, William H.
Chase, Frederick A. Underhill, and Cornelius
G.Ogdenall of the Corps of Engineers.5 The
Gulf Coast Frontier experienced its difficul-
ties. Lieutenant Chase was resident officer
at the fort being constructed at the Rigolets.
He reported that a storm 15 September 1821
destroyed a large quantity of materials.6 The
work at Dauphin Island was moving slower
than expected, but by mid-October the
barracks had been raised to the first tier of
loopholes, and there were about 1,000,000
bricks on hand.?” Then, without warning,
Congress ordered all work on the Gulf Coast
Frontier halted.8 The work would not be
resumed until additional surveys had been
made and a re-evaluation of the defense
requirements determined. There was serious
doubt about the need for the project on
Dauphin Island. The construction of the
fort was abandoned.

It appears that the decision of Congress
was based on the assumption that the project
was larger and more expensive than the
situation warranted, and that the contractors
would not be able to meet the deadline. It
was the United States Government which
failed to complete the contractual agreement,
however, and this necessitated arriving at
what damages, if any, were due Harris and
Farrow. The question was in litigation for
several years.



In 1825 John C. Calhoun, recently elected
Vice President, but still in Monroe’s cabinet
as Secretary of War, appointed Thomas Swann
of Alexandria, Virginia, to head a Senate
Commissionto determine if Harris and Farrow
had failed to carry out the provisions of the
contract, and to settle the United States
obligations to the contractors. An extensive
investigation followed.? Swann’s final
recommendation was that Congress pay the
contractors an additional $72,747.78 to bring
the total expenditures at Dauphin Island to
$424,800.00. The commission further dropped
a suit which the United States had instituted
against Harris and Farrow and agreed to
release all liens and securities held against
the property of the contractors except a corps
of slaves against which the engineer in
charge held a mortgage given by Harris for
money advanced.

The above sum proved to have been a
total loss. The work was never resumed on
this fort. When defenses were finally con-
structed on Dauphin Island some thirty years
later, slaves were kept occupied breaking up
the bricks of the original construction to use
in place of gravel in making of concrete.
General Bernard wrote reports almost annually
justifying his original plans for a fort at
Dauphin Island, but to no avail.

Construction at Mobile Point was quite in
contrast to that on Dauphin Island. It got off
to an extremely slow start and was plagued
with difficulties. The project was initiated
by letting a contract to Benjamin W. Hopkins
of Vermont 13 May 1818. The terms were the
same as those in the contract with Harris.
Records of the early work at Mobile Point
have not been discovered, though a voucher

dated 30 June 1819 referred to the late Mr. B.

W. Hopkins, and noted that the contract had
been transferred to Samuel Hawkins. B. W.
Hopkins died during the first summer, 1818,
of his contract.10

The contractor could not purchase the
necessary supplies and was forced, therefore,
to fabricate them. The necessary facilities
with which to fabricate materials were diffi-
cult to secure. Much delay was unavoidable.
Brick yards had to be established and a meth-
od of making lime from oyster shells perfect-
ed. In January 1820 it was noted that excava-

tions had been started but were suspended in
order that the entire labor force could be
engaged in making or gathering supplies.
Brick yards were already operating and
were yielding such quantities as to afford an
early resumption of the excavations. It was
observed 10 February 1821 that the work at
Mobile Point was not progressing nearly so
well as that at Dauphin Island though the two
projects were similarly situated.l!

DeRussy gave new direction to the Gulf
Coast Frontier defense construction when he
assumed direction in 1821. He was a native
of the West Indies, and was appointed a
cadet in March 1807 from New York. He was
cited for gallant conduct at the Battle of
Plattsburgh 11 September 1814. His work as
officer in charge of the Gulf Coast defenses
was directed from Mobile Point, the location
of the residence of the engineer officers for
some years.

John Bliss was made superintendent of
the project. He was receiving bricks in 1819
from Fowl and Dog Rivers at $9.00 per
thousand.1? Lieutenant E. J. Lambert was
engaged in keeping the journals, overseeing
laborers, andinspecting materials. Lieutenant
Cornelius A. Ogden appears to have arrived
at Mobile Point in 1819, but his name does
not appear in any prominence until 1823. For
a period in 1823 he signed all the vouchers,
then: DeRussy signed them again until he
was transferred in 1825. Ogden was then
made engineer officer in charge of the con-
struction of the fort at Mobile Point. He was
destined to direct the construction of the
fort to its completion.

During the period 1819-1825, when mat-
erials were being accumulated, Jackson and
Smith Company of Mobile supplied sundry
materials. Bricks were purchased from Elijah
Montgomery, General Starke, and J. T. Ross.
The brick yard belonging to Nicholas Weeks
on Fish River was rented for $250.00 per
year, and later DeRussy rented slaves from
Weeks to operate the yard. Dr. James F.

Roberts was acting surgeon at $120.00 per
month.

.DeRussy surveyed the work at Mobile
Pomt upon arrival in 1821 and concluded that
It was not practical to continue the contract
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with Hawkins. He observed that he had spent
five years in collecting materials for fortifi-
cations, and concluded that he was more
capable than Hawkins in directing the
progress of construction. He recommended
specifically thatthe contract not be renewed.
The superintending engineer would then be
able to obtain materials from a variety of
sources, creating competition hence reducing
prices. He had already dispatched Lieutenants
Story and Lambert with six men to explore
possible sources of stone for foundation
construction from outcroppings of rock beds
on the Perdido River. He had further investi-
gated the prospects of producing lime from
oyster shells, which were in abundance at the
shell banks on Dauphin Island and near
Mobile Point. Lumber was abundantly avail-
able, and the price of lumber had diminished
in the area by at least one-third since the
contracts for the forts had been let.13

The Corps of Engineers acquired a fleet
of sloops for use at Mobile Bay and DeRussy
appealed to the chief engineer to send him
professional sailors, noting that they would
require good wages and food. They would be
continuously employed at Mobile Point. He
also noted that he needed a master carpenter
and fouror five good carpenters, ten laborers,
ten quarrymen, and twenty masons. He
recommended that the above artisans be used
to man the sloops as they were being de-
livered from shipyards in the north.14

Asthe expiration date of the contract with
Hawkins drew near, DeRussy sent Lieutenant
Story to Washington to try to secure approval
of his plan for accomplishing the construction
of the forts under direct supervision of the
superintending engineer rather than by
contract.15 If the government did not renew
the contract, and abandoned the project,
and by this time there was serious question
about the continuation of this project, as
well as the one on Dauphin Island, there was
a problem of settling accounts accumulated
under the two contracts.

Colonel C. G. Russell, acting as agent for
the Hopkins estate, had removed materials
from Mobile Point for which Gadsden had
paid when Corps officer on the gulf coast.
DeRussy forbade removal of other materials,
but many other questions presented them-

selves. Among facilities constructed and
maintained by the contractor were a brick
kiln, a stone quarry, and the lime making
facilities at the shell bank. Also there was
a question concerning eighty-one slaves
upon whom Harris and Farrow had given a’
mortgage to Gadsden as security for advances
made. Those slaves were being retained, but
were employed by General Starke at his brick
kiln. It came to light that the contractors had
also mortgaged a part of the slaves to indivi-
duals in New Orleans. A Mr. Cox had, in
turn, purchased that mortgage. The compli-
cations resulted in litigation which lasted
for several years, and doubtless contributed
to the decision to place construction under
the direct supervision of Corps officials
rather than continuing the contracts. There
was a period of inactivity during this transi-
tion. DeRussy reported to Chief Engineer
Colonel Alexander Macomb, who had suc-
ceeded Armistead, that work had been com-
pletely suspended in December 1821. Foun-
dations of the barracks had been laid and
some bricks were on hand, but little else had
been accomplished on actual construction.

The work began to progress under De-
Russy’s supervision. He kept close watch
over both quality of materials and workman-
ship. Slave labor was utilized largely with
only certain white artisans and overseers
employed. While he personally directed work
at Mobile Point, he supervised the work of
Lieutenants Story, Chase, Underhill, and
Ogden. Story was at Plaquemine Bend on the
Mississippi River where Fort Jackson and
Fort Saint Phillip were under construction.
Underhill and Chase were at Chef Menteur
and the Rigolets and Ogden was with De-
Russy at Mobile Point.16 During the years
1822-1824 things progressed slowly but
relatively smoothly.

DeRussy proposed to supply his own lime.
He negotiated a contract with Calvin Bailey
of Boston to supply the lime requirements
for the first quarter of 1825. He had finalized
plans to manufacture lime from oyster shells
by 22 December 1824. Unlimited supplies of
shells were available from shell banks on
Dauphin Island and on the peninsula between
Mobile Bay and the Gulf of Mexico only a
few miles from Mobile Point. Those mounds



were an accumulation of shells left by Indian
tribes who, for centuries, had visited the
sites and eaten oysters. Both banks remain
quite large despite the many shells removed
during the last century and a half. Since the
mounds were privately owned, these shells
had to be purchased. The asking price was
seventy-five cents per barrel at first, but
competition brought the price down. When the
contract with Bailey expired, DeRussy was
in the shell manufacturing business himself.
It was produced from shells at the Dauphin
Island shell banks. Hydrolytic cement which
was not available locally was secured from
New York. The first shipment received was
considered to be of very good quality, and
DeRussy placed an order for 500 additional
barrels in February 1825.

The project received added inspiration in
the spring of 1825. During 1824-1825, the
Marquis de Lafayette revisited the United
States at the invitation of Congress. Congress
had voted him a gift of $200,000 and a large
tract of land. His visit brought him to Alabama,
where he proposed to inspect fortifications
DeRussy made great effort to be prepared to
impress Lafayette. He concentrated on the
exterior of the citadel and otherwise sought
to improve the appearance of Fort Morgan, the
name later given to the fort. DeRussy noted
that the elation created by the General’s ex-
pected visit had had a powerful influence on
the exertions of the mechanics, masons, and
overseers. He concluded that the fort was
ready to receive Lafayette and that the
visitor would be highly gratified at the work
accomplished. Because of a busy schedule,
Lafayette departed Mobile for New Orleans
without having visited the fort.

DeRussy became ill and had difficulty
recovering. In July 1824 he was temporarily
detached from the Corps and Ogden was
placed in command of Gulf Coast defenses.
DeRussy requested a change of station 6
February 1825 giving poor health as the
reason. He was becoming increasingly
subject to attacks of fever. He also mention-
ed a private reason, the painful separation
from his child.

Though the records are not clear, it is
probable that DeRussy lost the remainder of
his family. William H. Chase reported later
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that the superintending engineer at Mobile
Point had lost his wife and two children and
that his own health had been shattered. Since
DeRussy never mentioned any other members
of his family while expressing great concern
for his daughter, it appears that he was the
person mentioned by Chase. He had sent his
daughter north and it is almost certain that
the reason was to remove her from the Gulf
Coast climate. DeRussy acknowledgedreceipt
of change of station orders 28 July 1825. He
was transferred to New York Harbor. He
departed Mobile Point by way of Huntsville,
Alabama, since no water transportation was
available at the time. A Lieutenant Delafield
was left in command of the Gulf Coast defense
construction temporarily in the absence of
Captain Chase, who was designated superin-
tending engineer. Chase had been recalled to
Washington under a cloud. DeRussy did not
mention the nature of the cloud under which
Chase found himself, but it must not have
been serious. He was soon back on the Gulf
Coast as officer in charge. Lieutenant Ogden
remained at Mobile Point, however, and
directed construction of Fort Morgan. Chase
was directing construction of forts in Loui-
siana.

By the time Ogden assumed responsibility
for the construction of Fort Morgan, most of
the problems had been resolved. The shell
banks on Dauphin Island were supplying
adequate lime. Ogden kept six men and one
yoke of oxen at the site and placed barrels
and tools at the disposal of an overseer who
directed the manufacture of lime and deliver-
ed it to Fort Morgan at a cost of twelve and
one half cents per barrel. The oyster shells
produced a mortar harder and stronger than
that produced from lime stone. It did set too
quickly, however, for easy use. Ogden noted
in October 1825 that every material necessary
for the construction of the fort could be
procured on Mobile Bay in any quantity re-
quired cxcept stone lime and hydrolyvtic ce-
ment. This was not quite true, but only metal
hinges, certain stones and a few other items
had to be imported to the area.

DeRussy cstablished the labor policy and
Ogden continued it. In the spring of 1825 the
rations of the blacks were increased. Expe-
rience had taught that the slaves required



more food than the white laborers when the
days increased in length, and the interval
between their meals became longer.

While Ogden continued the use of hired
slave labor under white supervision he did
negotiate new contracts with the owners.
Since such contracts revealing the nature of
hiring slave labor are not generally available,
one of those negotiated by Ogden is given in
some detail. The Corps had been paying
$240.00 per year for a prime laborer. The
owner provided clothing and medical atten-
tion. Time loss by the slave was deducted
from the agreed wage.

Ogden concluded that the Corps could
save $10,500 per year on labor if the Corps
provided the clothing, medical attention, and
absorbed the loss of time of the slaves and
paid $200.00 per year for a prime laborer.
Cost of medical attention was considered to
average $3.20 per slave. Average loss of time
was twenty days per year, or $12.77. Cloth-
ing was placed at $20.00 per slave, but this
cost could be completely avoided by utilizing
condemned military clothing.

A contract was negotiated with Robert R.
Harwell. All previous agreements with Har-
well were annulled. It was then agreed that
he would hire to the United States for one
year, 1826, the following slaves: Sim, Allen,
Nelson, Alfred, LLud, Jamus, Emmanuel, Cain,
Solomon, Larry, Sophia, Jenny, Holly, Maria,
Rachael, and Thing. The slaves were to
work on the construction of the fort at the
direction of the commanding officer of engi-
neers. Harwell received full compensation
for the labor of the slaves without deductions
or drawbacks.

All good able bodied men were hired at
$200.00 per year. The price had increased
considerably, since the 1819 recession had
largely subsided. All good able bodied women
brought two-thirds the price of a prime man,
and all boys in proportion to their labor com-
pared with that of men.

Harwell was also given the privilege of
sending additional slaves that were new to
the construction business and therefore not
as experienced as prime hands at the rate of
$175.00 per year, with women getting two-
thirds that price. Boys would be valued in
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proportion to labor accomplished at the

above rate.l7

He also hired slaves belonging to the
estate of Turner Starke for $150.00 per year
for the best hands and all others in propor-
tion. Starke had died recently while visiting
Cuba for his health. J. F.. Ross administered
his estate, which was still in litigation con-
cerning a deed and trust held from Harris and
Farrow dating back to the suspension of the
Dauphin Island project. Similiar contracts
were mnegotiated with the other owners who
had slaves employed at Mobile Point.

Lieutenant T. S. Brown was assigned to
Mobile Point as assistant engineer in July
1826, giving Ogden much needed assistance.
By this time, he had the brick yard on Fish
River and those at Mobile Bay under his
direct supervision. He also directed the mak-
ing of lime on Dauphin Island, and scheduled
the activities of eight schooners. His great-
est energies were expended, however, at the
fort, where he sought to keep adequate mate-
rials on hand at all times and to direct the ac-
tivities of the labor force.

In 1826, Government-owned schooners
were engaged in transporting bricks, cement,
lumber, timber, coal, logs, lime, and cord
wood. The project had finally become stabi-
lized, but so had the Mobile area. Ogden
requested that henceforth all appropriations
be deposited in the Mobile branch of the
State Bank, noting that checks written on the
New Orleans branch commanded a premium in
Mobile. Prices had also become stabilized in
Mobile.18

The labor force had become well estab-
lished. E.J. Lambert was principal overseer.
Thomas Malone was inspector and assistant
overseer. Dr. James F.. Roberts was surgeon.
Vouchers reflecting payments for labor and
materials were also made to Lewis Hudson,
Edward Webb, James A. Tolbert, Mon Wood-
row, and Winslow Foster. Bricks and other
materials were purchased from Uriah Blue,
Thomas Malone, Elijah Montgomery, Nicholas
Weeks, Augustin Lacosta, Louis Dolive,
Charles Bingham, and John Jenkins.

One dark spot did appear in 1826. Brazil,
a slave owned by a Mr. Sierre, had died while



in the employment of the Corps of Engineers.
Sierre secured statements verifying that
Brazil had died due to ill treatment. Ogden
reported that from the “superabundance” of
evidence, death was due to 1ill treatment,
and requested authority to reimburse Sierre
for the value of the slave. He stated that
Sierre would in all probability go to Congress
if the Corps did not reimburse him.l9 Og-
den’s request was evidently granted. No fur-
ther reference to the event was noted.

Ogdenreported a work force of 202 includ-
ing himself 1 January 1828. There were 159
laborers of whom 67 were employed making
bricks on Fish River, 6 were making lime
on Dauphin Island, and 23 were trans-
porting  bricks. 4 were hauling lum-
ber. The remainder of the labor force was in
administrative functions and skilled labor.
Among those were master carpenters, carpen-
ters, master masons, masons, master smiths,
smiths, a coxswain, a clerk, an overseer,
and an assistant engineer. Records reveal
that there was a constant shifting of labor-
ers, but the basic organization remained.
Daily reports reflected the arrival and de-
parture of schooners, listing their distinc-
tions and cargoes. The number of slaves
varied slightly from month to month. There
were 176 slaves 2 February 1828.

A rather ordinary distribution of labor ap-
pears in the 18 February 1828 report. There
were seven slaves and seven whites engaged
in overseeing and superintending the work.
Nine slaves and eleven whites were working
on the officers’ quarters. Six slaves were
working onthe center ofthe casemate arches.
Twenty-three slaves and three whites were
assigned to the casemates. Four slaves and
two whites were employed on the gateway
arches. Seven slaves and three whites were
on the schooners. Twenty-three slaves and
one white were receiving materials, five
slaves and one white were cooking. Six
slaves were making lime on Dauphin Island.
Sixty-three slaves and one white were repair-
ing brick yards, preparing wood and coal,
burning bricks and cooking and baking for
the Fish River brick yard. Weather and other
considerations resulted in varying the as-
signed task from time to time. When windy
weather prevented delivery of bricks, those
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engaged in transportation were kept busy
weaving oakum. This was a loose fiber ob-
tained by untwisting and picking old hemp
ropes. It was normally used in calking the
seams of ships. Ogden used it to water-proof
the roof of the fort.

A typical schooner load of supplies arrived
from Mobile 4 March 1828. It contained
660 pounds of soap at eleven cents per
pound, sixty-four bushels of beans at $2.50
per bushel, and 380 gallons of vinegar at
forty cents per gallon. There were three
bushels of salt at seventy-five cents per
bushel, one hundred pounds of candles at
twenty-four cents per pound, ten barrels of
prime pork at $12.48 each, and 407 gallons
of whiskey at thirty cents per gallon. Five
large files were included at $1.25 each and
fifty pounds of chalk at six cents per pound.
The drayage and wharfage for the cargo was
$5.81. A cargo of a different type arrived 10
March. The sloop Cousin arrived carrying a
cargo from Charles Bingham and Company of
Mobile. It contained fifty pairs of shoes at
one dollar per pair 153 yards of domestic
plaid at twenty cents per yard, and 117 yards
of white sheeting at fourteen cents per yard.
Included were 133 bushels of hair at 62%
cents per bushel, six kegs of white lead at
$4.25 per keg, and one keg of nails (141
pounds) at 10 cents per pound. There were
also six cast steel smooth files at $4.00, one
dozen sheets of sand paper at fifty cents,

and ten pounds of glue at fifty cents per
pound.

Despite the fact that the work had become
stabilized generally, there were still prob-
lems and set-backs. March wind and thunder
storms damaged 15,000 unfinished bricks 11
March 1828 at Fish River. The next day
lightning  struck the signal staff about 10
feet from the door of the officers’ quarters
and broke nearly every pane in the windows
and destroyed some of the sashes on the
north side of the structure. Stormy weather 4
April cost two lives. A gale blowing from the
north caused the Corps-owned sloop Cousin
to founder at her anchor. The sloop. + Ann
foundered at her anchor loaded with bricks
from Elijah Montgomery’s brick yard. The
two lives lost were those of laborers seeking
to secure the sloops.



Ogden became ill in April and a Lieuten-
ant Tuttle was assigned to Mobile Point to
direct construction of the fort, Shortly after
his arrival, he proceeded to Mobile with the
slaves of the estate of Turner Starke. Their
contractual employment had terminated. Up-
on arrival in Mobile, Tuttle was prevailed
upon to retain half of the slaves and let them

work for their subsistance. The owners could

not conveniently dispose of all of them at
once. Tuttle was authorized to use them until
the estate called for them. They were deliver-
ed to Blakely on 4 June. Ogden returned
from sick leave 3 May 1828, but Tuttle was
not transferred from Mobile Point.

The corps of slave laborers was reduced
to only 123 later in 1828. Thirty-three whites
brought the total force to 156. The work on
the fort had become somewhat routine. Qgden
was placed in charge of a project to deepen
the pass into the Pascagoula River, deepen-
ing the channel through Pass au Heron be-
tween Dauphin Island and Cedar Point, and
deepening the Mobile Harbor. The number of
men assigned to the Corps of Engineers had
not kept pace with the work assigned, and
the money appropriated. For the next decade
there was a serious manpower shortage, which
hampered the accomplishments of projects
for which appropriations were made by Con-
gress. John H. Eaton, Secretary of War, in
his annual report to the President in 1829,
recommended that the Corps be enlarged to
accomplish all the Government’s internal im-
provement projects as well as facilities for
National defense. He observed that the Corps
was sadly deficient personnel-wise to accom-
plish its tasks and to meet the demands
made upon it by the various states. In the
absence of civil engineers, states were call-
ing upon the Corps of Engineers for assist
ance, but were being denied because of the
lack of manpower.

To assist Ogden, Captain Daniel W. Gib-
bon was assigned to the project for the im-
provement of the Pass au Heron. A Major
Broom was assigned to the project to improve
Pascagoula River.

The work at Mobile Point gradually taper-
ed off as the fort took shape. Records have
not been preserved from May 1829 - June
1830, but there is no evidence of any major
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changes in policies or procedures. Purchases
now were from Dobson and Williams of Mobile
rather than Charles Bingham and Company
though some of the slaves of Bingham were
still employed. The June 1830 roll listed two
runaway and two sick slaves. The runaways
had returned by 27 July, one of his own
accord.

The most serious health problem at Fort
Morgan was an epidemic of influenza in
February 1831. This was not as serious as it
might have been considering the close rela-
tionship of the labor force. On 8 February,
there were twenty-one ill and the number had
climbed to twenty-seven by 10 February. It
gradually declined thereafter until only three
were ill on 26 February. That day, Enoch, a
slave belonging to Charles Bingham, died,
but the next day only one was on the sick
list.

The force at Fish River was moved to
Mobile Point 19 June 1831. There were a-
bout enough bricks on hand to complete the
project. The hot summer weather did bring an
increase in illness, however. The daily re-
port listed from ten to seventeen ill daily
during the latter part of June. By 13 July it
had climbed to twenty-three. This time the
illness was due to scurvy. A hospital was
maintained for the sick, and the resident
physician, Dr. Roberts, was in attendance.
Periodically a slave would be discharged and
sent home, usually to Mobile, for the benefit
of his health. Such included one belonging to
Weeks, two to E. L. Lambert, one to a Mrs.
Walton of Pensacola and one to R. R. Hammel.
Hammel’s slave recovered his health and re-
turned to Mobile Point in August. In October
the 1ll still stood at ten to eighteen and some

were still being discharged because of their
health.

The labor force increased in 1832. In
April, there were 163 slaves and a number of
whites. In July the total force stood at 199.
By April, 1832, lime production on Dauphin
Island had ceased. After a peak force in
July, the number was reduced. By 1 August
1833, there were only 68 slaves. The total
force stood at 95, ten of whom were ill.
Gradually the remaining slaves were dis-
charged. The largest single batch was ten



belonging to Walton and Walton of Pensacola.
The fort, now considered complete for all
practical purposes, soon had only twenty
persons on duty. Nine were slaves. Others
were Ogden, superintending engineer, one
assistant engineer, one clerk, one store
keeper, a coxswain, two carpenters, and two
blacksmiths. Two persons were not identi-
fied.R0

Though the Corps of Engineers continued
to be active at Fort Morgan, the major task
was complete. Lieutenant Ogden turned over
all property belonging to the Corps of Engi-
neers to Captain Chase in May 1834, having
received transfer orders. In the absence of a
resident engineer at Mobile Point to replace
Ogden, he placed the machinery being utiliz-
ed at Choctaw Bar under the authority of the
City of Mobile. Arrangements were then made
to sell all perishable property. Any balance
of previous appropriations left on hand, he
turned over to Chase. When Chase assumed
responsibility for the project, he praised
Ogden for having discharged his duties faith-
fully and effectively at Fort Morgan. Difficul-
ties due to the failure of contractors to
carry out their agreements had delayed com-
pletion and had increased expenses, but the
final product was admirable. Chase observed
that Ogden would leave the Gulf Coast with
the respect and esteem of all with whom he
had been officially, or privately, connected.21

By 1834, the War of 1812 was far behind.
Europe was enjoying one of its longest pe-
riods of general peace following the Treaty of
Vienna, 1815. Possibility of war seemed re-
mote. The South was in one of its periods of
peak prosperity as the cotton kingdom matur-
ed- Energies were being expended in the
acquisition of land and slaves. Alabama was
forgetting its disappointment over suspension
of construction of the fort on Dauphin Island,
and demonstrated little interest in the fate of
Fort Morgan.

Little note was taken, therefore, when
Fort Morgan was designated the rendezvous
for the Creek Indians preparatory to their re-
moval to the West. The fort was occupied by
a large party of Indians about 10 March 1837.
The slopes surrounding the walls had been
carefully covered with clay and sodded to
keep the sand in place. The Indians stripped
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the sod away and used the clay for making
pots and cooking utensils. They cut some
200 pines and other trees which had been re-
served as a wind break. Now the sand was
subject to shifting. Several outbuildings
were destroyed, but they were already in a
state of advanced decay, and therefore had
no particular value. The fences were chopped
and used as fuel. The gates of the fort were
constructed of cypress and were massive and
costly. Lead sheathing with which they had
been topped had been removed and the gates
otherwise damaged. Captain F. S. Belton
sent by the Chief Engineer to inspect the fort
in 1837 stated that he was not absolutely sure
that this was the work of the Indians, but the
sheathing was gone nonetheless. Great dam-
age had been done to the quarters. Pumps in
three wells had been irreparably damaged .22

Two years later the damage was still evi-
dent. Gullies had washed in the embankments
and sand had blown in and filled portions of
the ditch around the fort. The glacis had
shrunk in their dimensions and stood in need
of repairs. The fort was desolate and had a
generally unkempt appearance, and this only a
few years after completion. Chase, visiting
Mobile Point from Pensacola, was able to
state, however, that the walls were in good
condition. There were few cracks. The quar-
ters, store rooms, and citadel required but
slight repairs. The wharf was entirely unfit

for use. Estimated cost of repairs was
$10,300 23

Despite many attempts to update Fort
Morgan, it was probably never as adequate as
a defense facility again as it was in 1834
when first completed. The only time in its
history that it was actually utilized in actual
war was the Battle of Mobile Bay in 1864,
and, of course, it proved inadequate.

Congress made no appropriations for
coastal defenses in 1835, Fort Morgan was
not garrisoned, and as noted straight way
fell into decay. The forts on the Gulf of
Mexico were surveyed in 1838 to determine
their state of repair and the sum required to
place them in a state of efficiency. Fort
Morgan, along with others, had never been
garrisoned and there had been no continuous
upkeep. It was found in a dilapidated state.



Nothing came of the survey. Another was
ordered during the winter of 1839-40. It was
less hurried than the previous survey and a
more minute report was submitted along with
estimated cost of repairs. This report did
result in an appropriation in July 1840 and
slow progress was made toward repairing and
updating the fort.

Two additional forts were ultimately con-
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structed on Mobile Bay, rounding out the
system as recommended by Bernard. Fort
Gaines was constructed on the eastern end
of Dauphin Island at the site of the project
which was abandoned in 1821, and Fort
Powell at Pass au Heron. Those projects
were incomplete when the Civil War erupted
in 1861 and were completed by the Confed-
erates. They will be discussed later.



CHAPTER Ill:

THE PENSACOLA DEFENSE SYSTEM

Congress had settled the location of the
naval base at Pensacola, Florida, by 1826
and requested that fortifications to protect
the installation be initiated within the year
if possible. Macomb, Chief Engineer, felt
that surveys were not sufficiently complete
to justify the commencement of fortifications
without possible injury to the projected naval
yard. The plans for the structures had not
been completed nor their exact location de-
cided. Macomb could not give the impatient
Congress a projected date for completion. He
did place Pensacola among the most impor-
tant projects of the Corps, and felt an early
accomplishment of the work was justified. He
asked Congress for an appropriation for the
construction of wharves and a house to be
commenced as soon as exact sites could be
settled.!

Macomb instructed the Board of Engineers
to project plans and prepare estimates for
the fort to be erected on the western extrem-
ity of SantaRosa Island in 1826. The Board
expected to have plans ready by January
1827. Tt was estimated that this fort, later
named Fort Pickens, would be erected on
that site though the location or exact nature
of works on the mainland could not be pro-
jected until the naval base plans had been
completed and the Corps had had time to
study them. The Board of Engineers visited
Pensacola in 1827 to finalize their plans.?
The overall plan for Fort Pickens was com-
pleted early in 1827. It was to be a work of
considerable magnitude and importance. The
plan called for twenty mortars and twenty-
eight cannonades with a total of 200 guns.
Provision for a garrison of fifty men in time
of peace was projected with the number in-
creasing to 600 in time of war and 1,200 in
the event of siege. Estimated cost, including
materials, was $650,000. Macomb requested,
and received, a $50,000 appropriation from
Congress to get the construction of Fort
Pickens under way in 1828.

This fort was considerably larger than
Fort Morgan and the projected fort on Dauphin
Island which had been abandoned. They were
each to be garrisoned with 900 troops in time
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of siege and 100 each in time of peace. Fort
Pickens, then, was planned on a considerably
larger scale.

Captain William H. Chase of Massachu-
setts was assigned to Pensacola to direct
the Pensacola harbor defenses in 1828.
Though Chase was unhappy on the Gulf of
Mexico Frontier, he was destined to make
Pensacola his home. He retired there in
1856 and died at his plantation home, Chase-
field, at Warrington 8 February 1870. The
climate proved more healthful than he had
anticipated. He was the first West Point
graduate assigned to the Mobile District to
make the deep South his permanent home.
Many others followed his example in the
future.

Chase came to Pensacola better equipped
to accomplish his task than any other person
to have attempted construction in the Mobile
District. He was assigned to New Orleans in
1820, and directed the construction of Fort
Pike at the Rigolets for the next two years.
He then constructed Fort Jackson, 1822-24.
Those were the forts designed to defend New
Orleans from attack by way of the Missis-
sippi River and Lake Pontchartrain. Chase
was then assigned to duty in Massachusetts
temporarily, but returned to Louisiana
where he directed construction of defenses
at Chef Menteur, Bienvenue, and Bayou
Dupre. He remained there until assigned to
Pensacola in 1828, but he had been exposed
to the most unhealthful situation on the Gulf
Coast Frontier. The high windswept sand
beaches of Pensacola were to be nothing
compared to the humid, fever infested marsh-
es of southern Louisiana. He had also ac-
quired experience in defense construction,
but, more important, he had made contacts
which were to relieve him of tremendous bur-
dens as he tackled the Pensacola harbor
defenses. The defense facilities constructed
under his supervision were expanded to
include all four of the forts in the Pensacola
defense system. An assignment which Chase
had hoped would be of short duration lasted
for nearly thirty yvears.



Upon his arrival at Pensacola, Chase
surveyed the task before him and was able
to convince Jasper Strong and his partner
George R. Underhill to come to Pensacola
with their labor forces.3  Underhill and
Strong had been employed in Louisiana for
several years, and had developed both the
facilities and the capability required for the
Pensacola project. Chase found that by leav-
ing the responsibility for the slave labor
force completely in the hands of the owners,
the United States could be relieved of the
responsibility and save money at the same
time.

Masonry was constructed at $8.70 per
cubic yard, and payment was made quarterly.
Excavations were accomplished at 15 cents
per cubic yard. Chase observed that the
above prices were more economical than the
Corps could accomplish by doing the task
with hired labor. Underhill and Strong as-
sumed responsibility for sheltering as well
as clothing and boarding the slave labor
force. This also relieved the Corps of numer-
ous responsibilities. As a result of this
arrangement, the labor force and problems
pertaining to it were seldom mentioned in
the records.

How many visits Chase made to Pensa-
cola from Louisiana before moving there is
not clear, but he made his home at Pensacola
by 1 July 1829.4 He was assigned as super-
intending engineer for construction of Fort
Pickens and commanding officer or senior
officer of the Corps of Engineers on the Gulf
of Mexico Frontier. His area extended from
Red River in the west to the Apalachicola
River in the east. Those under his super-
vision were Ogden and Lieutenant Washington
Hood at Mobile Point, Alexander H. Bowman
at Dupre Tower in Louisiana, and Dr. W.
McMahon at Santa Rosa Island. Major General
Alexander Macomb, who had been chief
Engineer since 1 June 1821, was succeeded
by Brigadier General Charles Gratiot as
Chief 24 May 1828.

Chase submitted a memo to Gratiot 1
October 1829 in which he reviewed the neces-
sity for the “expensive” fortifications at
Pensacola Harbor and stated reasons why
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they should be completed at the earliest
possible date.® The primary reason for
what was developing into a rather elaborate
system of defense of the harbor was the de-
cision to locate the navy base there, but
that was not the only reason. Chase insisted
that the proximity of the Mobile and Pensa-
cola Bays necessitated reciprocal defense
facilities. The defense of one could not be
perfect without the defense of the other. To
leave either bay vulnerable would be a
threat to the security of the other, and even
the very rich Mississippi Delta country. He
noted also that Pensacola Harbor was the
only one on the Gulf Coast which was both
deep enough and sheltered enough to afford
an enemy a safe refuge so that a fleet could
be refitted in safety. He argued that forts
under construction and projected at Key West
and the Island of Tortugas would not remove
the necessity of adequate defenses for Pensa-
cola Harbor.

Fort Pickens, the first fort of the Pensa-
cola defense system, was to be constructed
of brick. One of the first tasks was to find a
source of supply. Since Chase could not
secure quality bricks at reasonable prices
locally, he turned to the Mobile Bay yards as
a source of supply. Ogden at Fort Morgan had
found it necessary to suspend purchase of
bricks during 1829, and when Chase approach-
ed the Mobile yards they had about 1,500,000
bricks on hand. Chase purchased bricks from
the yards of Major Elijah Montgomery and
Uriah Blue on Mobile Bay. He could transport
the bricks to Pensacola and still save money
because of the high prices charged by the
Pensacola yards. He also secured better
quality bricks. It did not take long for the
Pensacola yards to accept the challenge and
begin to produce quality bricks at reasonable
prices. Not many orders were placed with
Mobile yards. The last was on 4 July 1829.
Chase ordered 500,000 bricks from Blue’s
yard, but indicated that he could not pay for
them until the next year’s appropriation had
been made. He then informed Blue and Mont-
gomery that they would no longer compete
with the Pensacola yards because of the
distance their bricks had to be transported.
His purchases from the Mobile Bay area had
served his purpose, however, as the Pensa-



cola yards had begun producing quality

bricks.

Hydrolytic cement was ordered from W. E.
Lawrence of New York on an experimental
basis. An order for ten casks was placed 15
September 1829. If the cement set under
water as Chase hoped, additional orders
were promised.

Lime came from Thomastown, Maine, where
it was produced from limestone. There was
an abundance of local sand, which because
of its purity produced a very hard cement.
Lumber of superior quality could be secured
locally in unlimited quantities.

The site selected by the Board of Engi-
neers for the location of Fort Pickens, the
projected fort on Santa Rosa Island, was on
the south beach of the island. The north
beach was constantly exposed to strong cur-
rents which might endanger the fort while the
south beach tended to increase. Excavations
for the foundations were begun under the
direction of Lieutenant Alexander H. Bowman
in June 1829. About seventy laborers were
employed in June with intentions of increas-
ing the number considerably during the last
quarter of the fiscal year, July-September.
The intense heat reflecting on snow white
sand prevented maximum performance during
the summer months. As fall approached,
weather would be more conducive to produc-
tive labor.

By 1 October 1829, foundations on two
fronts had been laid. The foundations of two
casemates were complete and walls raised
about four feet high. The ditches on two
fronts had been almost completed. Quarters
for the engineers were complete, and the
superintendent’s house was almost complete.
Chase expressed hope that Congress would
appropriate funds to enable completion in
four years. Climate made it possible to con-
tinue construction year round, thus increas-
ing the rate of complction of the project. The
original estimate of the fort was $650,000
and appropriations through fiscal ycar 1829
were $125,000.

It was important to Chase to complete the
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project as soon as possible. He observed
that exposure to the unhealthy climate to
which the officers of the Corps of Engineers
were subjected in the discharge of their
duties endangered their lives. He was con-
vinced that no officer of the Corps could
serve on the Gulf Coast Frontier as long as
four years without great injury to his health.
To prove his assertion he related some facts.

The loss of life and health of the em-
ployees at the several engineering positions
on the Gulf of Mexico Frontier gave melan-
choly evidence of the unhealthfulness of the
climate. At the Rigolets, Chef Menteur,
Dupre Tower, and Bienvenue, Chase recorded
the deaths of one contractor, one clerk, one
surgeon, a master carpenter, an officer of the
Engineers, an officer of the garrison, and at
least half of the laborers and mechanics
during the past ten years. Chase himself had
sustained fourteen attacks of fever. At Fort
Jackson on the Mississippi River an officer
of the Engineers, the wife of another officer,
a clerk, three officers of the garrison, one
soldier, and many laborers attached to that
station had been severely attacked. At the
Mobile Point and Dauphin Island the wife and
two children of the superintending engineer
had died of the fever and the officer himself
suffered severe attacks. Two superintendents
and three contractors had also died. He did
notnote the number of laborers and mechanics
who had died on those projects.

Chase submitted the information to the
Chief Engineer in an effort to secure appro-
priations for continuous accomplishment of
the projects. It was desirable that all works
located in those unhealthful positions be
completed in the shortest time possible, es-
pecially when it could not be a matter of
great concern to Congress whether construc-
tion be accomplished in four or seven vears,
he said.

l.css than two months after he related the
need for haste in constructing the defenses,
(‘hasc found the work at Santa Rosa Island
at a standstill temporarily. The Board of
Engincers had not forwarded the plans to
him. He had gone as far as he could with the
foundations and walls until he knew what



wasto be constructed upon them. The masons
were idle and the forces of Underhill and
Strong were without employment. To make
matters worse, this was winter and the very
best season for work on the Gulf Coast. The
weather was mild and less subject to gales
and rains.6

While work was slack at the fort, Chase
spent time in studying old charts of surveys
of the channel and making plans for deepen-
ing it.7 He reported that construction al-
ready had been begun on the naval base, and
reaffirmed his convictions that Pensacola
was the only harbor on the Gulf of Mexico
suitable for such a facility. He expressed
great satisfaction that the naval arsenal was
being established in conjunction with rising
interest in the Southwest, and at an early
date in the development of the country before
sectional conflict of interest or personal op-
position had developed.

The bar at the entrance to Pensacola har-
bor was the only impediment to its importance
as a naval base, and his investigations re-
vealed that the obstruction could be removed
with little difficulty. He utilized the charts
of surveys accomplished by the British
shortly after they occupied the harbor follow-
ing the Treaty of Paris, 1763. Those charts
were compared with those by the Corps of
Engineers in 1822 and with some which he
had just made. Those investigations revealed
that the depth of the water on the bar had not
changed since 1764. The currents had kept
the bar swept to a constant depth, and it was
reasonable to assume that if a channel were
cut across the bar, the same currents would
keep it swept clean.

The largest warship of the day only drew
twenty-four feet of water. Chase proposed
that a channel twenty-seven and one-half
feet be dredged across the bar to a width of
one hundred and thirty yards. Dredging
machinery capable of this task was already
operating at Nantucket. The feasibility of
the project was evident by the success of
the Nantucket project. That project involved
the removal of obstructions more difficult
than the Pensacola Bar. In order to accom-
plish the channel it was necessary to dredge
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an average of three feet with the range being
from six feet at the shallowest point on the
bar to 0. An estimated 1385 yards of sand
would have to be removed. He proposed that
the channel later be increased to 260 yards
and maybe even to 390 yards wide to accom-
modate a fleet.

Chase had employed the Schooner Eliza-
beth and a Captain Forsyth to assist him
in the survey of the harbor. They also sur-
veyed all the channels and islands between
New Orleans and Pensacola for the purpose
of charting a course without the necessity of
taking to the open water of the Gulf. He
determined where lighthouses and bouys
should be placed between L.ake Ponchartrain
and Mobile Bay.

In the spring of 1830, Underhill died.
Chase did not record the cause of death, but
he did note that it was necessary to increase
prices paid Strong because of the illness of
so many of his slaves. Chase stated that the
cause of excessive illness was the exposed
conditions under which the slaves had to
work on Santa Rosa Island. To add to his
difficulties Dr. McMahon was transferred to
Tampa Bay. Chase requested his return,
observing that the commanding officer at
least should have a surgeon attached to his
station.8 It is not difficult to understand
Chase’s feelings on the subject when it is
recalled that he had spent nearly ten years
in the Louisiana marshes and had seen so
much illness and death.

During 1830, the work on Fort Pickens
tended to become routine. Chase now had the
completed plans for the fort and the brick
yards were producing quality bricks. Chase
found that the local clay made extremely
hard and durable bricks when manufactured
properly. The labor force of Jasper Strong
was very efficient and Strong’s work was al-
together satisfactory to Chase.

The bulk of the lime used still came from
Thomastown, Maine, though some was pur-
chased from other places. He did contract to
purchase no more than 10,000 casks from a
Captain Richard Spear in 1831 but did not
note the place.



There was one incident which caused
Chase major concern during 1830.9 There
was a rumor that Congress might not make an
appropriation to continue the defense projects
Chase thought the prospect of not getting
additional funds sufficiently serious enough
to make some rather specific plans. The
balance in the budget from old appropriations
would be used to work up all perishable
materials. This would leave on hand only
about 1.000,000 bricks. Those he could use
to pave the parade embankments to prevent
the drifting of the sand.

Though he would regret the suspension of
the work in its unfinished state, the United
States would suffer no loss other than the
delay of the defense of the harbor. Houses
and quarters could be utilized if work was
resumed in the future. In the event work
was not resumed, he suggested that the
buildings might be occupied by soldiers
which Chase recommended be stationed there.
A battery which would hold thirty-six guns
had been completed. With the erection of
earth breastworks, a position would be in-
vincible with the aid of guns already estab-
lished at old Fort Barrancas across the Bay.

His primary concern, however, was for
Strong. He had not accomplished enough work
to receive sufficient reimbursements to cover
the initial cost of getting his labor force
transferred from Louisiana and established
in new quarters and getting his equipment
transported to the site. The construction of
houses for the slaves and his own quarters
would prove a dead loss. The terms of the
agreement with Underhill and Strong was on
a year to year basis, and the contractors had
no protection in the event an appropriation
was not made in any given year or the ap-
propriation was too small to justify the scale
of operation to which Underhill and Strong
had established their labor force and equip-
ment. Chase suggested that the Corps of
Engineers could purchase and utilize any
structures which the contractors had built,
thus preventing loss to them. The appropria-
tion was made by Congress, but the incident
reflects the concern of Chase to protect both
the interest of the United States and that of
the contractors. This quality of his person is

20

what endeared him to the local population
and enabled him to retire in Pensacola as an
honored and respected citizen.

The summer heat of 1831 caused the fever
attacks to return to Chase, and he left the
Gulf Coast in the hopes of improving his
health. He made his quarterly reports from
Stanton, Virginia, in August and proceeded
from there to Philadelphia. He kept in touch
with Pensacola through correspondence.10
He noted the first of October that Fort Pick-
ens had an adequate supply of bricks. Ten
cubic yards of bricks had just been delivered
and there were 3,000.000 already manufactur-
ed at the ten brick yards then supplying his
requirements.11

By 1831, the Board of Engineers had
finalized their plans for the overall defense
of Pensacola harbor. A fort was to be built
across from Fort Pickens on a neck of land,
Foster’s Island. It would place any enemy
ship entering the harbor in a direct cross
fire between Fort Pickens and the new proj-
ect, which was later named Fort McRee. Old
Fort Barrancas was to be repaired and up-
dated and a new fort built 1500 yards to the
rear of Fort Barrancas to give it protection
from the land side. This fort was named Fort
Redoubt. Chase knew that the two new struc-
tures projected along with elaborate modifica-
tions and enlargement of Fort Barrancas were
going to require many additional bricks. He
also recalled with what difficulty he had
gotten the production of quality bricks es-
tablished on Pensacola Bay. He requested,
therefore, an additional $50,000 be included
in the annual estimates of operating costs of
the Pensacola harbor defense projects in
order to purchase the required bricks and thus
keep the yards operating. He proposed to
purchase and place on the site the bricks
needed for the construction of Fort McRee

first, then meet the requirements of the other
sites.

The brick work at Fort Pickens was com-
pleted during September 1832, and the re-
mainder of the work would proceed as funds
permitted under a more limited 1833 appro-
priation. Fort Morgan at Mobile Point was

also nearing completion, and Chase observed
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that neither had been named. He suggested
names for the forts, but his proposals were
not accepted.12  The fort on Santa Rosa
[sland was named in honor of Brigadier
General Andrew Pickens of South Carolina,
who defended the South from the British
during the American Ravolution. The fort on
Foster's Island was named for Colonel
William McRee, who, along with Generals
Bernard and Totten, served on the Board of
Engineers which was responsible for initiat-
ing the Gulf Coast Frontier defense system
plans.

Though Chase must have been disappointed
that his proposals for the naming of the forts
had not been accepted, he was encouraged
that the Board of Engineers authorized him
to proceed with construction on Foster’s
[sland. Neither the plans nor the location of
a site had been approved by the Board of
Engineers, but there was much that Chase
could accomplish. He proposed to build the
temporary buildings, a house for the superin-
tendent and quarters for the engineer in
charge. He further proposed to build barracks
to house 150 men and to collect 2,000,000
bricks on the site. He acknowledged receipt
of the plans shortly thereafter.13

In September Chase predicted that Fort
Pickens would be completed by 31 March
1834.14  Work being accomplished at that
time was largely on the grounds. Gradual
slopes were covered with nine inches of
clay and one-half inch of shells upon which
Bermuda grass was planted. The shells held
the soil until the grass had become establish-
ed. Chase found that this process worked
very well in this sandy site almost void of
topsoil. The steep slopes were covered with
clay from one to two and one-half feet thick.
The terrepleins were covered with one and
one-half inches of shells and the parade with
four inches. The fort was taking on its
finished appearance, and Chase expressed
hope that the Board of Engineers would vigit
and inspect his work. He found great satis-
faction in the end product of his efforts.

The fort was not completed by the pre-
dicted date. Chase was able to report on
June 1834 that he was ready to remove all
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temporary buildings from the vicinity of the
fort, both those constructed by the Corps of
Engineers and those by the contractor. He
recommended that no buildings be permitted
within 800 yards of the fort in the future, as
they would tend to interfere with the opera-
tion of the fort for defensive purposes. The
casemates had been covered so as to render
them perfectly dry. A garrison could be
housed there, so there was no necessity for
structures outside the fort. Fort Pickens was
complete and would be ready for a garrison
by 30 September, Chase reported to the Chief
Engineer 20 August 1834.

The Corps of Engineers were destined to
be vitally associated with the fort throughout
its useful existence, however, because it had
to be constantly modified to meet the chang-
ing requirements of the defense system and
repaired as decay and other considerations
caused damage. By the time the fort was
completed, it was evident that proper consid-
eration of the pressures of sand against the
walls had not been given. The northeast
bastion was already yielding to pressures
due to a lengthy rainy season in the late
winter of 1835. It became necessary to take
down the masonry of most of two faces of
that bastion and increase the dimensions of
the foundations and scarps.1® It is not
clear who was at fault though Chase recorded
no dissatisfaction with Strong’s work. Chase
observed that that area had been constructed
first and permitted to stand nearly three
years before the ramparts and parapets were
constructed. The severe weather had not
impaired any other area of the fort. Estimated
cost of repairs was $12,000.

During March 1835 three magazines were
completed with the largest having a capacity
of 1000 kegs of powder. The other two held
about 680 kegs. The fort was ready for oc-
cupancy and the work of the Corps tapered
off. The next major responsibility would be
the construction of mounts for larger guns as
the original guns had already become obsolete.

As the work on Fort Pickens reached its
final phase, work on the three other projected
forts got underway in the Pensacola Bay
area. Those were Fort McRee on Foster’s



[sland, Fort Barrancas on the mainland, and
Fort Redoubt situated 1500 yards behind
Fort Barrancas. By the time Fort Pickens
had been completed, the area had lost much
of the frontier complexion. No longer were
there references to the Gulf Coast Frontier.
Though vast areas of Florida still remained
in a state of undeveloped wilderness and
there was to be Indian trouble for another
decade, West Florida was settling down to
an agricultural economy and social and
cultural institutions were emerging. The
problems which troubled Chase in the con-
struction of Fort Pickens had generally been
resolved. The brick yards had become stabi-
lized and sources of other supplies had be-
come established. Chase had become com-
fortably established in his plantation home,
Chasefield, near Warrington. Much of his
work had become routine, and there were,
therefore, fewer references to the details in
existing records. Lieutenant Alexander H.
Bowman, appointed a cadet from Pennsylvania
in 1821 was assistant engineer at Pensacola.
He was placed in charge of construction of
Fort McRee on Foster’s Island. Chase em-
ployed Bowman in collecting materials and
construction of temporary buildings and
wharves. The plans were finalized in 1834
and actual construction got underway.16

Chase employed Jasper Strong to accom-
plish the work at $8.60 per cubic yard of
masonry.l17  The fort was small and Chase
predicted rapid progress and an early com-
pletion date. Foster’s Island was only a
strip of white sand running parallel to the
mainland. Target date for completion was set
at 31 December 1835. Chase suffered a set-
back in his projected execution of the con-
struction however. The appropriation bill for
fortifications failed to pass Congress in
1835. Chase concluded that it would result
in great loss to the public if operations on
the Gulf of Mexico were suspended. In order
to save as much as possible, he sought to
keep the project going through his personal
means and private credit. Strong expressed
willingness to do the same. He reported to
the Chief Engineer that he and Strong would
carry on until the next fiscal year appropria-

tion was made unless directed todo otherwise.

He had intended to request a leave for a few
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months to visit the Virginia Springs, but
decided, under the circumstances, to remain
at his post.18

Gratiot, Chief Engineer, was in agreement
with Chase that the failure to make an appro-
priation in 1835 was expensive. He observed
that work had to be restricted to that which
could be accomplished with balance on hand.
This necessitated reassigning officers and
dismissing artisans, mechanics and laborers
whose experience and skill would be difficult,
and in some cases impossible, to replace.
It was also necessary to store or sell mate-
rials and machinery.19

When Chase had exhausted his balance on
hand, the construction of the platform foun-
dations of Fort McRee were in progress.
Great care had been taken at great effort in
laying those platforms due to the exposed
nature of the island. Chase saw the proba-
bility that all this effort would be lost if
they were not secured by construction above
high water mark. On his own credit, therefore,
he continued the project in anticipation of
the next annual appropriation. Work was
continued thus for nearly four months, and
the safety of the foundations was secured.
The entire structure was accomplished about
five feet above the high water level. There
was also much material on hand which was
subject to great damage if not worked up.
Strong continued to employ his labor force at
his own expense until such materials were
used, also relying on the next appropriation
to reimburse him for his services. Much
expense had been saved, but large arrears
had occurred. Chase requested an appropria-
tion of $160,000 for the next fiscal vear to
cover the arrears and to complete the fort.20

There were alterations in the plans which
necessitated increased height of the scarp
wall and thickness of the bombproof case-
ments. Chase noted that this involved addi-
tional cost, but did improve the facility. He
was able to continue construction with the
coming of the new fiseal year in 1836, and
received sufficient funds to complete the
projgct.21 Congress made no appropriations
again in 1836 for the 1836-37 fisc

in in al vear for
fortifications, but Fort McReo w

as completed



in October 1836. Twelve rooms in the case-
mates were furnished for officers quarters
and six large rooms for soldiers. Chase had
expended $33,000 on his own credit for which
he still had not been reimbursed. This a-
mount was requested in the estimates for the
1838 appropriation.22 There remained only
certain modifications and additional quarters,
and Chase would be ready to turn the fort
over to a garrison. In 1839, Fort McRee was
still $7,000 in arrears.23

With Forts Pickens and McRee completed,
Chase turned his attention to the, mainland.
He suggested occupying the old battery at
Barrancas in case it became necessary to
resist an attempted invasion. The battery
could be put in order to receive twelve guns
bearing on the harbor for about $3,500. They
could undoubtedly be retained as a part of
the overall plan whatever it might be. In
1835, he began preparations for gun mounts.
Inthe absence of permanent defensive works,
Chase proposed to draft a plan for a line of
field works from Barrancas to Grand Bayou.
The adequate defense of the navy yard neces-
sitated a redoubt for Barrancas, he observ-
ed.24 A line of field works would serve
until the redoubt could be constructed.

0Old Fort Barrancas was in a fair state of
repair. It had been a site of defensive works
since the Spaniards constructed Fort San
Carlos de Barrancas during the last decade
ol the Seventeenth Century. The position was
taken by the French twice between 1718 and
1722, and the fort was practically destroyed.
It was rebuilt by the Spaniards. In 1763 it
passed to the British and was garrisoned by
them until 1784, at which time Spanish con-
trol was restored.

During the War of 1812, Andrew Jackson
demanded surrender of the fort and occupied
it for a time. The Spaniards had violated
their neutrality, having permitted the British
to be outfitted in Pensacola harbor. Jackson
occupied the fort again briefly in 1818 be-
cause of alledged encouragement by the
Spaniards of predatory incursions of Florida
Indians into Alabama. Florida was ceded to
the United States in 1819 and Fort Barrancas
was occupied by the American troops 20
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October 1820.

Old Fort San Carlos de Barrancas was a
small fort constructed in a semi-circle with a
moat. The guns were all directed toward the
ship channel. The Board of Engineers formu-
lated plans for a much larger fort to be
constructed in the hillside above and behind
the original structure, while leaving the old
fort intact. The two were connected by an
underground tunnel.

Construction records have not been found,
but the project did not get underway until
1840. Some of the delay was doubtless due
to the severe economic depression which
followed the panic of 1837. The price of
cotton on the New Orleans market fell to
almost one-half its former amount. Land and
slaves saw a corresponding decline. The
Federal Government, previously enjoying a
surplus each year, had a deficit every year
between 1837 and 1841 except in 1839.
There were numerous bank failures. Congress
was unable to fund programs adequately as
it had previously done.

The Seminole War raged in central and
south Florida from 1836 to 1842. This doubt-
less also slowed progress on the Gulf Coast
defense system by diverting funds to finance
the war. The war had so depleted the regular
army that in July 1838 its authorized strength
had to be increased from around 7,000 to
about 12,000 men. By the time the war ended
in 1842, some 10,000 regular soldiers and
an estimated 30,000 short term volunteers
had been engaged. Almost 1,500 men had
lost their lives in battle or from disease and
about 330 million had been spent.25 This
occurred just at the time the Government was
resorting to deficit spending. There would
not be adequate money nor engineering per-
sonnel to carry on the many projects of the
Corps of Engineers again before they were
all disrupted or altered by the coming of the
Civil War in 1861.

Construction of the new Fort Barrancas
finally began in 1840. A companion fort, Fort
Redoubt, was projected 1500 yards to the
rear of Fort Barrancas to give that fort pro-
tection from a possible land invasion. Though



the fort was a redoubt, eventually the term
began to appear as a proper name, and the
facility has been known since as Fort Re-
doubt. It appears, however, that the engineers,
both Chase on the local scene and those in
the Chief Engineer’s office, often looked
upon Fort Barrancas and Fort Redoubt as
one defense project. Records often fail to
mention Fort Redoubt though some construc-
tion listed in reports under Fort Barrancas
appear to have been actually accomplished
on the redoubt.

The two forts were pentagonal in shape
as were the other forts designed by Bernard
along the Gulf Coast, and they also reflected
the traditions of Marquis de Vauban, but the
enceinte, the encircling fortification around
the fort, was formed of five straight walls.
There were no bastions at the corners. Each
had moats on four sides with heavy masonry
and earth works built into the hillsides into
which the forts were constructed. The final
shape of each, therefore, emerged as a “U”
with a pentagonal fort inside.

Joseph G. Totten, then Chief Engineer,
observed in 1842 that the Pensacola fortifi-
cations presented a formidable and efficient
array of strength.He predicted that the entire
system would be completed within two or
three years. There was one problem, however,
the isolated position of Pensacola. There
was no easy and safe communication with
sources of supply and relief. No significant
population had developed in the area, and
due to the infertile nature of the soil, would
not do so in the future.

Totten stated that there was a time when
private enterprise seemed about to convert
that mere harbor of refuge into one of the
great ports of western commerce by opening
a speedy and direct communication with the
interior. He did not state the nature of the
proposed project, but observed that it had
failed or had been delayed. It appcared that
the government might have to assume respon-
sibility for opening such a line of communi-
cation in the interest of national defense.
Though there was emerging a genuine national
army by this time, sudden c¢cmergencics would
have to be met by local militia and temporary
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volunteers for some time to come.
Fort Pickens was considered complete in
1843, but slight modifications Were.already
needed. No work was being accompllsl.led at
Fort McRee except for the construction of
two hot-shot furnaces, both of which were
almost completed. The next year, 1844,
Totten was able to report that Fort Barrancas
was complete and was considered adequate
both in defense capability and in execution
of construction.26  Future reports refer to
construction of barracks, however.

The defenses of Pensacola were now com-
plete except for Fort Redoubt. Totten was
well pleased with the final results. He ob-
served in his 1845 report that the navy yard
could receive any vessel which might take
refuge there, and that the safety of the har-
bor now warranted any extension of facilities
desired to repair and equip vessels. Pensa-
cola still remained remote and isolated from
sources of supply. He considered this serious
enough to justify the particular attention of
the Government. The Chief Engineer lamented
that Congress had not been able to appro-
priate adequate funds for the past seven
years. Construction of defensive works had
progressed very slowly since the depression
of 1837. The Corps had become conditioned
to expect little money. Appropriations were
made, not on the basis of needs as they were
presented, but on the basis of past appropria-
tions which were now far too small.

The Mexican War broke out in 1846. One
company, the First Artillery. was stationed
at Fort Pickens. The entire Corps of Engi-
neers had only 128 officers and there were
forty-three in the Topographical Engineers.
Many of those were assigned to the gencrals
on the fields. The work at Pensacola did not
require all of the attention of Chase now and
he was assigned to a special board of engi-
neers in 1844. While serving on that board he
conducted examinations of the Florida Reef,
1844-45; the Gulf Frontier of Mississippi and
Texas. 1845; the Memphis and Pensacola
navy yards, 1851; and the New Orleans Cus-
toms House. 1851. He served on the Board of
Engineers for Atlantic Coast Defense from

13 March to 13 Septembor 1848 27 Durine
tal



that time he continued his assignment at
Pensacola,which included acting as superin-
tending engineer for the Mobile area. The
1840’s represented a trying period for the
Corps of Engineers and Chase experienced

disappointing results for the next decade or
S0.

Effort was made during the decade, 1850-
1860, to complete the Gulf Coast defense
system. Projects which were advanced in-
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cluded the completion of Fort Redoubt at
Pensacola, Fort Gaines and Powell on Mobile
Bay, and Fort Massachusetts on Ship Island.
By the time they were completed, however,
they were already out of date and all those
previously built were having to be updated.
The two decades 1840-1860 were crucial
times for the Corps of Engineers, presenting
many problems concerning the defense sys-
tem.



CHAPTER IV:

YEARS OF ADJUSTMENT: 1840-1861

The decade of the 1840’s saw two unrelat-
ed factors greatly influencing the operation
of the Corps of Engineers in its Gulf Coast
defense projects. One was the consistent
failure of Congress to make reasonably ade-
quate appropriations during the early years
of the decade. The other was a change in
military tactics which was rapidly outdating
the Old Vauban system of defense based on
the walled forts.

Chief Engineer Joseph G. Totten, made a
strong appeal for support in his report to Joel
R. Poinsett, Secretary of War, in 1839. He
observed that some of the largest cities and
towns in America were insecure. The frontier
especially needed attention. Totten had the
forts on the Gulf of Mexico inspected in1838.
He requested a report of their condition for-
warded to him without delay. The report
should state their present condition, neces-
sary repairs to place them in a condition of
complete efficiency, and an estimate of such
repairs.

The report was a discouraging one. The
forts had never been garrisoned, and upkeep
had not been continuous. As was to have
been expected, each fort was found to be de-
cayed and dilapidated due to the humid
climate of the area. In addition, the permanent
traverses and pintle centres adapted to new
seacoast carriages were not yet laid in any
of the Gulf Coast forts. It was deemed highly
desirable that all be placed in a complete
state of efficiency without delay. Totten
ordered that a less hurried, more minute,
inspection be made during the winter of 1839-
1840, and estimates of cost of updating the
forts be given.l

Due to the prevailing economic depres-
sion, the 1840 appropriation included almost
nothing for internal improvements, and only
$1.,042.,803.59 for fortifications to be expend-
ed throughout the United States. The total
budget for the Corps for that fiscal ycar was
$1.138.,969.22 to be divided among fortifica-
tions, harbors and rivers, roads, lighthouses,
and the military academy. The appropriation
for fortifications was not made until July
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and restriction of the Treasury made the
funds unavailable for the remainder of that
fiscal year.?

Despite the prevailing impositions, Chase
had been able to start construction of Fort
Barrancas in April 1840, and had initiated
plans for updating Forts McRee and Pickens.
He purchased 40 sets of pintle blocks for
Fort McRee and accomplished minor repairs.
Inspection of Fort Pickens revealed that the
weight of newly installed stone blocks and
traverses for Barlette guns threatened to
cause the counter scarp walls to collapse.
He proposed to strengthen the walls.3

During the course of the next two years,
foundations for mounting 2,085 new guns had
been completed throughout the coastal de-
fense system. The Chief Engineer reported
that two years before, 1840, except for cer-
tain unfinished projects, the greater part of
the coastal defenses were either in a state
of deterioration from injury or abandonment,
or were entirely dilapidated from long neglect
and that there were large areas of coast, in-
cluding some populous cities, and the most
valuable government facilities where hardly
a gun could have been mounted.¥ While
things had improved some since 1840, the
Corps of Engineers still labored under handi-
caps as reflected in Totten’s 1845 report.

He lamented that (‘ongress had not been
able to appropriate adequate funds during the
past seven years to advance the construction
of defense works as rapidly as could have
been realized otherwise. He observed that
appropriations were continuously made based
on past appropriations which were now far
too small. He did speak of the Pensacola
harbor defense facilitios with pride, however,
and observed that the defensces of that harbor
were in a condition of cfficiency. affording
S.he.lt,er for vessels of all doscl'ii)(ioﬂs. The
facilities warranted any expense which might
seem desirable for repairs and upkeep. Pen-
sacola, with Forf Barrancas
completed in 1844 and (e
the projected redoubt |
ed, was doubtless one
harbors in America,

having been
spite the fact that
ad not heoen construct-
of the hest protected



The invention of explosive shells and the
greater use made of curved fire also neces-
sitated a radical alteration of fortifications.
While this was not implemented until the
late 19th century, the problem was evident
by the 1840’s, and had caused the Vauban
type defenses to have been completely out-
dated by the Civil War as evidenced by the
failure of those forts to withstand attacks.
The future system, evident as early as 1845,
was decentralized fortifications. Instead of
concentrating artillery within forts, European
engineers were constructing concealed bat-
teries outside the walled forts. Direct fire
guns were placed in revolving ordisappearing
cupolas of subterranean bases. A sub-surface
type of fort encased in thick concrete was
also adopted. There was elaborate use of
trenches, often connected with a belt-line
railroad.

While this revolution in defense tactics
had not arrived in America by 1840, Totten
could foresee it and sought to be prepared.
He made an appeal for a body of engineer
soldiers, composed of sappers, miners, and
pontoniers.5 The aid of troops trained in
those areas would be invaluable in time of
war. Such were generally maintained by all
the great armies of Kurope, both in time of
peace and war, and had been used during the
American Revolution. They were instructed,
drilled and disciplined in time of peace so as
to qualify them for skillful execution of the
various labors of sapping, mining and bridge
building, and many other “half-mechanical”
operations.

Such had been employed by Vauban as
early as 1679. The Duke of Wellington re-
quested in 1812 that England establish a
corps of sappers and miners. It was incon-
ceivable, he said, with what disadvantages
the English Army undertook anything like
seige because of the lack of assistance in
that area. He observed that there was not a
corps of the French Army which did not have
a battalion of sappers and a company of
miners. Totten outlined the nature of the pro-
posed corps of engineer soldiers, and backed
his -argument with an array of victories in
European wars because of the support of such
and losses because of the lack of this type
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of support. The American engineers were
keeping close watch on European progress,
but were unable to secure adequate appro-
priations from Congress to keep up in some
areas, though coastal defenses continued to
receive attention.

Totten styled the defense system planned
by the Board of Engineers for coastal defen-
ses under Bernard’s direction the third de-
fense system of the United States.6 He
observed in 1850 that it had been under
construction for thirty years, and had met the
support of each succeeding administration.
Congress sometimes delayed appropriations,
but after careful examination by the congres-
sional military committee, had always acced-
ed to the requested support. There were in
1850 permanent forts and batteries protecting
most of the important points of the coast and
mounts were ready for installation of over
4,000 cannons. The coast of the United States
was in a state of comparative security. He
conceded that some ports of lesser note had
become objects of importance because of
their connection with commerce, or with
government facilities.

Mobile, he noted, was not a large city,
and it was almost out of the enemies’ reach
because of the shallowness of its bay. There
were, however, hundreds of ships lying every
winter close to the ocean awaiting their car-
goes of cotton. They had no protection except
that afforded by forts at the mouth of Mobile
Bay. Fort Morgan, already completed, and
Forts Gaines and Powell projected for con-
struction also afforded protection for the
commerce and communication between Mobile
and New Orleans.

Totten observed further that Pensacola
had little of its own to excite the cupidity of
an enemy, but its bays were the best harbor,
and that was the site of the only navy yard
in the Gulf of Mexico. That year, 1850, the
first exterior battery was started at Fort
McRee. Foundations had been excavated and
part of the concrete poured. Materials for
construction were on hand. This was evidence
that the Corps of Engineers had realized the
inadequacy of just the forts themselves.

In this climate of change, the construction



of the last four forts projected for the Mobile
District was initiated. Chase was able to
report in 1846 that Fort Redoubt was under
construction. Heavy excavations had been
made for the foundations. The excavations
were followed closely with masonry to pre-
vent cave-ins of the soft, shifting sand.”
The next year progress continued. An appro-
priation had been made for permanent quarters
to be constructed outside the fort, but a land
settlement had to be negotiated with the
Navy Department before construction could
begin.8 During the next year, 1848, negotia-
tions were completed and construction was
begun, but lack of funds slowed progress.
Failure of Congress to appropriate funds re-
sulted in the elaborate report from the Chief
Engineer in 18502 The report did not im-
press Congress sufficiently to get action.
Little money was made available for the next
several years. Not only was progress slow on
those projects under construction, but it had
become clearly evident that the increased
size of the guns on battleships necessitated
updating the guns in the entire coastal de-
fense system.l0 Despite the critical prob-
lems, there was a drastic cut in personnel.
Chase was assisted in Mobile by George
Welcher at Mobile Point from 1844-1852. and
Jeremiah Scarritt from 1847-1853. Lieutenant
P. T G. Beauregard was assigned to work
toward construction of Fort Gaines on Dau-
phin Island, 1848-1849, but by 1855 there
was only one officer in the Mobile area,
Captain Danville Leadbetter. He was re-
sponsible for Fort Morgan, Fort Gaines, and
other projects in the Mobile area.

The annual reports did not note the com-
pletion of Fort Redoubt. The 1857 report
noted that Captain John Newton was in charge
of the Pensacola Bay fortifications, and that
Fort Redoubt was almost complete. Work
remaining included completion of the parapets,
the terreplein, and gun platforms. Interior
wood work of the magazines and the gateway
were still incomplete and there remained a
great deal of grading and sodding, and the
bridges still had to be constructed. The 1858
report did not mention Fort Redoubt, but a
new superintending engineer had been as-
signed to the area. It is assumed that the
fort was now complete. John Newton had becn
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transferred to Utah and Lieutenant F. E.
Prime arrived 4 March 1858 to take his place.
His responsibilities were extended to include
Fort Morgan and Fort Gaines the same year.
By this time work was progressing at a rapid
pace toward rebuilding the gun mounts and
mounting larger guns.

Three forts remained to be constructed in
the Mobile District in the pre-Civil War era,
They were Fort Gaines, Fort Powell, and
Fort Massachusetts on Ship Island.

The Corps had spent nearly a half-million
dollars on the fort on Dauphin Island before
construction was suspended in 1821. It was
over twenty years before serious attention
was given to the project again. During fiscal
year 1843-1844 the Corps made extensive
surveys of Mobile Bay. A study of the charts
and maps of this survey reaffirmed the report
of Bernard which was first made in 1817 and
stated that a fort was needed on the eastern
end of Dauphin Island.1l Fort Morgan was
considered adequate to defend the main ship
channel, but Mobile Bay was too wide for
its guns to protect a lesser channel near
Dauphin Island and left Mississippi Sound
completely unprotected. The Board of Engi-
neers for Fortifications renewed its request
for a fort on Dauphin Island, and soon after
it revived a request for a tower for Pass au
Heron. Those two additional forts would
round out the Mobile Bay defense system,
and give protection against smaller vessels
which might otherwise invade the bay and
wreck the harbor. The Chief Engineer re-
quested $20,000 for the 1845-1846 fiscal vear
to initiate the project. The next annual report
stated that the requested sum was not ap-
propriated by Congress, but the Chief Engi-
neer reaffirmed the need for the projects. The
funds were made available in 184G, but con-
s.tructlon was delayed pending acquisition of
title to the land.

Securing a clear tit]e
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formation of the title to the grant from Con-
gress. The other passed to Samuel H. Garrow
who, in turn, subdivided it and sold, trans-
ferred, mortgaged, or otherwise disposed of
the various portions. Some portions had more
recently been sold by the Sheriff. Titles to
only two portions of one-thirty-seconds each
could be cleared. Ogden had properly regis-
tered those titles, but by the time the govern-
ment set about to secure the land Kennedy
had died and his holdings had become estate
property. Other portions were held by heirs
of the estates of George and C. W. Sanford,
which were in trusteeship. The F. C. Heard
estate held claims as well as Blyden van
Buren, Joseph Climents and F. S. Blunt.12

Jeremiah M. Scarritt was assigned to Fort
Morgan and Dauphin Island in 1847. He re-
mained until 1853, so it was his burden to
secure the title and to initiate construction
of Fort Gaines. He expressed his belief that
he would have to go to the Alabama legisla-
ture to secure a clear title to the property.l3
The process was initiated and on 25 May
1848 Scarritt was informed by A. B. Week,
District Attorney of the Southern District of
Alabama, that proceedings had been complet-
ed, and that all that remained to secure title
was for the United States to pay the assessed
value of the claims to the Chancery Court.14

It was not until 3 December 1853, however,
that the deed was finally delivered to the
Corps of Engineers.1® After six years of
litigation, the way was now clear to begin
construction of the fort. By this time Scarritt
had been transferred; Captain Danville
Leadbetter had been assigned to Fort Morgan
and Fort Gaines. He remained at that post
from 1853 through 1857. No report of work
accomplished appeared until the 1857 annual
report, and then only slight progress had
been made. The wharf had been extended 100
feet, and certain permanent buildings had
been constructed, but no work on the actual
fort was reported. The journal of the day to
day activities, however, reported that work
clearing and preparing th(; grounds began in
February 1857. Trees had overgrown the site
of the original fort construction, and they
had to be cleared away. On Friday, 27 Feb-
ruary, Captain Leadbetter arrived from Fort
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Morgan and gave instructions. Seven slaves
had left Mobile on Wednesday, had gotten
lost, and did not arrive until Friday. On
Saturday 28 February nine hands were em-
ployed repairing the wharf, ten excavating
for foundations, and two were clearing the
grounds. There were a total of twenty-one
persons employed.1® On 19 March 1857,
Captain Leadbetter visited again bringing
Lieutenant Snyder. Snyder remained as resi-
dent engineer, but for how long is not known.
His name did not appear in the journal again.

Gradually the labor force increased. The
sloop Mischief was arriving almost daily
with supplies and slaves. In June the laborers
exceeded 100. Among them were three slave
women. One was employed washing clothes
for the men, one was carrying water, and the
other was pounding brickbats. The old bricks
used inthe original fort were broken to gravel
size and used in making concrete. On 27
June, there were five white men and 102
slaves working on the project.

By August the ground work had been pretty
well accomplished and work on actual con-
struction could get underway. The labor force
now included masons, carpenters, a black-
smith, and the various other artisans required
for the project. The labor force became some-
what stabilized at around 100. They were
shifted to tasks as changing construction
required. About ten slaves were kept busy
continuously pounding the bricks of the old
construction project for some time. The
construction settled down to pretty much of a
routine. Dr. S. R. Sullivan was the surgeon
for the project. He also served Fort Morgan.

Lieutenant Frederick E. Prime was as-
signed to Dauphin Island with responsibility
for superintending the construction of a
projected fort on Ship Island off the Missis-
sippi coast and the projected tower at Pass
au Heron along with his duties at Fort Gaines.
In his 1858 annual report, he was able to
note that the glacis were wholly embanked
on three of the fronts and partially on the
other two. Two bastions had been raised to
twelve feet, and the other three to fourteen,
eight, and six feet. An estimated $100,000
would complete the project. Work ceased in
September 1858 for lack of funds.



Just how much was accomplished before
the state of Alabama took over the project in
1861 is not known. Lieutenant Prime left
Dauphin Island 18 January 1861 when Alabama
took possession of the fort. When the fort was
retaken in 1864, the Corps reported that
construction had been carried on by the
Confederacy and the project had been com-
pleted according to the original plan with
almost no modification.

The final structure of the Mobile Bay sys-
tem of fortifications was the tower at Pass
au Heron, Fort Powell. In Bernard’s report
of 1817 he projected a structure on a small
shell or sand bank at Pass au Heron.He con-
cluded that all that was needed was a Mar-
tello Tower. The channel was narrow and
practicable only for boats or such small
craft as navigated the inland pass to New
Orleans. Only a few pieces of ordnance were
necessary. The projected tower was thirty-
six yards in diameter with six guns on the
channel side of the island and six facing the
land. Thirty-six men would be sufficient to
man the fort in time of siege and only ten in
time of peace. Estimated cost in 1817 was
$16.,677.41.

When Congress decided to suspend work
on the fort on DauphinIsland in 1821, nothing
further was said about the projected tower to
protect Pass au Heron for many years. In the
meantime, the Alabama Legislature gave a
monopoly on the pass to Captain John Grant,
who constructed a toll gate and charged for
the passage of boats. The act became law 2
February 1839. The monopoly was granted on
the condition that Grant excavate a channel
of sufficient depth for the passage of steam
ships or other vessels drawing five feet of
water. The channel must be of sufficient
width for safe passage. It must be completed
within twelve months of the date of the
signing of the bill. The monopoly was granted
for seventy-five years, and would be revoked
if at any time the channel did not have the
required five foot depth for a six month
period of time.

Grant was authorized to charge fifteen
cents per ton of cargo and could sue and
seize property for non payment of tolls. He
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was further authorized to sell or convey any
portions or all of the rights and privileges
conferred upon him by the act. In no way did
the act convey fee simple title to any land.
It was only a seventy-five year monopoly to
excavate, maintain, and charge toll on the

water channel.

Totten, Chief Engineer, instructed Ogden
to reserve all lands between Dauphin Island
and Cedar Point for military purposes in
1842.17 In acknowledging his instructions,
Ogden noted that no claims to the islands
had been registered with the land office in
St. Stephens, Alabama.

An act of Congress 3 March 1857 appro-
priated $100,000 for the construction of the
long delayed projected tower to protect the
pass which henceforth was known as Grant’s
Pass. Grant appears to have tried to estab-
lish ownership of the island. He had occupied
an island by the channel since 1839. ‘‘Har-
per's Weekly’” 26 March 1864 included
Grant’s Pass in one of'its illustrations. There
were on the island what appears to have been
a rather substantial dwelling, probably a
keepers house, and a number of lesser struc-
tures including a lighthouse. The channel
itself was lined with piles and had a toll
house. There were also a number of tents
for military personnel, this being during the
Civil War, just before the Battle of Mobile
Bay. There was some question regarding
Grant’s claims. The Corps of Engineers re-
guested that the Alabama Legislature cede
jurisdiction of the island to the United
States. Percy Walker, a member of the legis-
lature was given the necessary information
and was engaged to introduce and Sponsor
the bill. He agreed to da s0.18  Walker ex-
Dfessed concern that the tower be built and
promlseq diligent efforts in securing passage
of the bill. He expressed the conviction that
the 1839 dd conveyed no land to Grant, but
rather the right to take possession of so much
record that Grant 01: am‘wnr(\‘ I\"as i N
fitle fo any of the is:l(;;( \OM‘ had secured

. stands between (Cedar

Point and Dauphin Island i
S . \” the t ¢ red-
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ported having known Tower [sland since 1815
when he became master of several packets
plying between New Orleans and Mobile. He
was constantly using the channel until 1829
but had never known of any claim to the is-
land. Jurisdiction was acquired from the state
of Alabama in 1859.19 Disputes were des-
tined to arise in the future, however, over
Grant’s Pass.

While jurisdiction was being secured, a
special board for fortifications was finalizing
plans for the defense of the pass.20 [ ieu-
tenant Frederick E. Prime succeeding Captain
Danville Leadbetter as superintending engi-
neer arrived in 1858 and was present when Ala-
bama took charge of the fort in 1861. Compared
to Forts Pickens and Morgan, the tower was a
minor structure. It was constructed so that it
could be easily demolished by explosives if
there was danger that it might fall to an
enemy. This was the fate of Fort Powell.
Colonel J M. Williams planted explosives
and set the fuse. On the night before the
surrender of Fort Gaines, he got all his own
men through the deep water to Cedar Point
and then blew the fort to pieces. At the time
of writing, that portion of the island upon
which the fort was situated was submerged.
The remnants of the foundations are under
water. A little debris found on the tiny
island that remains is the only reminder that
such a fort ever existed.

The last of the coastal forts in the pre-
Civil War defense was that on Ship Island off
the coast of Mississippi. This fort was not
among those projected by Bernard. It was the
only defense structure in the Mobile District
which Bernard did not help locate and plan.
Just when the structure was projected has
not been determined since no reports have
been found within the scope of this research
which treats the planning stage. As it was
finally projected, it was a modified Martello
Tower type structure. It is a circular fort
with the exception of the eastern front which
is straight with the wall recessed slightly
from the otherwise circular form. The fort was
built on the extreme western end of Ship
Island and was designed to protect the ship
channel into Mississippi Sound. The current
Gulfport ship channel cuts directly across
the western tip of the island, and after the
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1969 hurricane, Camille, the entire fort was
sitting in water with the exception of a small
strip of sand which extended to the south-
eastern wall. Unless the land reforms through
natural accretion as often happens after such

a storm, the historic landmark appears doom-
ed.

An appropriation of $100,000 was made to
initiate construction of the fort in 1857 .21 [t
was noted that the plans had not been com-
pleted at that time, but it was anticipated
that $50,000 could be expended during the
1857-1858 fiscal year. The construction was
directed from the Mobile office with Lieutenant
N. F. Alexander resident engineer in charge
of actual construction.

Construction began about July 1859, juris-
diction over Ship Island having been obtained
from Mississippi. Experience in construction
im sand at Fort Morgan, Fort Pickens, Fort
McRee, and Fort Gaines had climinated most
of the technological problems by now and the
Gulf Coast was no longer a frontier. Sup-
plies and facilities were more readily avail-
able. The construction appears to have gone
on according to schedule, but the fort was
incomplete in 1861 when Mississippi seceded
from the Union. On 13 January 1861, the fort
was visited by a body of armed Mississippi
militia. A second group arrived the same
afternoon and some remained on the island.
A third body took possession by force on
20 January. Prime had gone to the island and
for some unexplained reason remained until
30 January. The fort remained in Confederate
hands until 30 November 1861 when it was
reoccupied by the Union soldiers. It was
noted that no material damage had been done
during Confederate occupation. Ship Island
became a prison camp for both war prisoners
and civilian political prisoners during the
war.

The two decades preceding the Civil War
saw the completion of construction for the
eight forts which rounded out that portion of
the national coastal defense system which
fell within the Mobile District. Already they
were having to be modified to accommodate
larger guns. This occupied a great deal of
the time of the officers in charge and the
available funds. There were seldom sufficient



funds to accommodate all the projects. In 1848
the officers of the Corps requested $850,000
for the next fiscal year. The Chief Engineer
requested $665,000 and Congress appropriated
$515,000 and this despite the fact that the

recently acquired West Coast required protec-
tion.2®

Work was also required to repair and often
to rebuild the wharves, especially after the
storms to which the Gulf of Mexico is sub-
jected. Barracks also required funds and
attention. They were under construction at
Forts Redoubt, Pickens, and Morgan during
that period. An example of the activities is
contained in the annual report of 1851. The
citadel devoted to officers quarters at Fort
Morgan was under construction. Three fronts
had been carried as high as the sills of the
second story and all the floor arches of rooms
and galleries had been turned. A gale in
August had damaged the: wharf. This had been
repaired and the foundations of the wharf
secured by laying an extensive apron of
broken bricks around the piers. One of two
projected exterior batteries had been com-
pleted at Fort McRee. Four divisions of the
barracks at Fort Barrancas had been com-
pleted; another nearly completed and two
more were under construction. Fort Pickens
was in a state of good repair and had re-
quired no attention.23

Almost no activity was possible for the
next several years because of the lack of
appropriations. The situation became so
critical that Totten made a strong charge in
1855. He observed that he had pressed stren-
uously for the means to complete the defense
system during the entire seventeen years
that he had been Chief Engineer. If Congress
had voted him the means, he declared, the
important points of the Atlantic Coast would
be secured. ‘‘If, therefore,”” he said, ‘‘cir-
cumstances of peril should awaken the nation
to a sense of the backwardness of defensive
preparations at any important places, it must
be understood that the enginecring department
is in no sense responsible for the delay.”
He expressed hope that there was still time.

Totten noted that the introduction into
maritime war of guns of greatly enlarged cali-
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ber would make it necessary to rei‘onﬁ io &
considerable extent the armament o ta sea-
coast defenses. The War Departmen. estab-
lished a special board to determlne. .the
caliber guns required for each defense f:aclllty,
To install the larger guns would require con-
siderable modifications 1 the existing fac1.l-
Totten urged that Congress take thig

ities. .
jlnlto account and augument the appropriations
accordingly. He considered the situation

critical and urged immediate action.?4

Congress began to respm.ld as reflec.ted. in
the progress being made in accomplishing
the necessary modifications to acgommodate
the larger guns. Work was begun in 1857 in
the Mobile District. The Pensacola defense
modifications were under the direction of
Captain John Newton, who replac'ed Chase
upon his retirement. Captain Danville Lead-
better directed the modifications at Fort

Morgan.25

As the decade came to a close, work to
update the forts increased. By 1860 all
platforms had been completed for mounting
the larger guns at Fort Pickens. The work
was ready to receive entire casemate arma-
ment. Preparations had been made for mount-
ing new barbette armament of heavy caliber
on one curtain and two bastions, and for
lighter armament on the remaining fronts.
Prime recommended that the latter be replaced
with heavy cannon and urged that no time be
lost in accomplishing it.26

Fort McRee was ready
armament on the casemate tiers, but old
guns were retained on the barbette tier.
Prime requested $50,000 for the next fis-
cal year to replace the old and to
accomplish general repairs.27

By the date of the next fiscal year's
report, 1861, all the Gulf Coast defenses
were in the hands of the Confederates ex-
cept Fort Pickens. Major Z. B. Tower had
replaced Prime as officer in charge. He was
busy making preparations to moet an attack.
Heavy guns were provided with traverses:
guns and mortars  mounted; and  exterior
batteries constructed and armeg 28

to receive new

guns

Fort McRee and Fort Barp

el B B ancas had been
occupied by the

mswrrectionists ' in late



January 1861.29  An attempt to take Fort
Pickens was led by Captain Chase, retired,
but was unsuccessful. Fort Pickens was the
only fort within the Confederacy which re-

mained in the possession of the Union
throughout the War.

There was no further activity of the Corps
of Engineers in the Mobile District until the
Battle of Mobile Bay in 1864. Totten reported
in November 1861 that it had been necessary
to pull most of the Corps engineers from con-
struction projects and attached them to the
large armies in the field. He sought to re-
place them with men in civil life, securing
the services of ex-officers of the Corps when
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possible.30  John Newton, now Major, was
attached to the army of the Potomac. Prime
was made Chief Engineer of the Department

of Ohio. Leadbetter had joined the Confeder-
acy along with a number of other officers
who had served in the Mobile District, in-
cluding P. T. G. Beauregard who had been
officer in charge of construction of Fort
Gaines 1848-1849. Corps officers directed
the placement of guns in the land attacks
against both Fort Gaines and Fort Morgan in
1864. Immediately after the Battle of Mobile
Bay in 1864 the Corps began repairs on Fort
Morgan, directing the project from New
Orleans.



CHAPTER V:

THE MOBILE DISTRICT AND INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS

The early surveys and improvements of
harbors, rivers, and canals accomplished by
Engineers were militarily related. They were
considered necessary for the national de-
fense. An act of Congress 30 April 1824
authorized the use of Corps of Engineers for
internal improvements. That year a Board of
Engineers for Internal Improvements was ap-
pointed. Serving on this board were General
Simon Bernard, Colonel Joseph G. Totten,
and John L,. Sullivan, an experienced civil
engineer. They were to accomplish surveys,
plans, and estimates for roads and canals.l

Bernard would bring rich experience to
America in this area as he had in the area of
a national defense system. A review of the
map of France will reveal that the head-
waters of a system of rivers radiate from
southeastern France in a northerly, westerly
and southerly direction. The old regime
government of France had systematically
connected those rivers with canals. The pro-
cess was continued under Napoleon when
Bernard was one of his most outstanding
engineers. France emerged as one of the
first nations of the world with an adequate
transportation system. This system was to
remain basic until the modern rail system
was developed with Paris as the transporta-
tion hub of France. Not only had Bernard had
experience in canal construction, but also in
containing flood waters by means of earthern
dikes or levees. He is accredited with having
initiated the Mississippi River levees.

The Board was authorized to employ two
or more officers of the Corps of Engineers.
Officers so assigned in 1824 were Major
James Kearney, Major John J. Albert, and
Captain William G. McNeill. Both Kearney
and McNeill were assigned to tasks in the
Mobile District. They were subject to the
authority of the Board of Engincers for
Internal Improvements.

Internal improvements were destined to
progress slowly in the South. By 1824, it
was evident that the South would be agrarian.
The long growing season, the availability of
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large tracts of fertile soil, and staple. Crops
which could be sold for cash and which re-
da lot of work to grow and harvest made
the South ideally suited to a plantation
slavery economy. In the Mobile District, it
was largely a cotton plantation economy with
river transportation the primary meany of
getting the cotton to market. Georgia, north-
west Florida, Alabama and Mississippl were
richly endowed with rivers suitable for the
lighfdraft boats used in transporting cotton.

quire

With the passage of the first protective
tariff act in 1816, internal improvements be-
came identified with the tariff since tariff
revenue was primarily used for such improve-
ments. Southern planters were selling cotton
in Europe and were importing many of the
plantation necessities from Europe. They
were paying the bulk of the tariff duties,
therefore, but the revenue so derived was
being spent largely in the industrial North.
That, added to the fact that northern shipping
companies were transporting the cotton to
Europe and northern insurance companies
were insuring the cotton cargoes to Europe
and the merchandise purchased by the planters
from Europe, the South saw a great drainage
of its capital to the North. The southern
statesmen came out strongly against the
tariff and internal improvements. It 1s not
surprising, therefore, that the major civil
projects and larger expenditures were not in
the South in the early history of the Corps.

The South was not totally neglected, how-
ever, and some internal mmprovements at
Federal expense were initiated among the
carliest projects. The more significant ones
in the Mobile Distriet were Mobile harbor,
Pascagoula River and harbor and the Apalach-
icola River and harbor. Projects of lesser
importance were added from time to time.
Pensacola harbor received considerable at-
tention as nced for a deeper channel arose.

Tl.le act of 1824 which authorized the
Pr'egldent to usc the Corpe of Engincers to
Initiate and accomplish internal improvement
projects was the beginning of a new phase



of Corps work. Those projects have come to
be designated civil as contrasted with mili-
tary works. Under authority of this act, the
Federal Government assumed broad powers
to function within the various states. There
immediately arose the question as to the
limits of those powers. Just where did the
ederal powers end and state power begin. A
statement of the subject of both the Chief
Engineer and the Secretary of War was con-
tained in the 1824 annual report. Major
General Alexander Macomb, Chief Engineer,
stated that it was the responsibility of the
recently created Board of Engineers for
Internal Improvements to determine which
roads and canals were of ‘‘national impor-
tance’’ and to select the best routes for
those. The distinction between those which
were to be accomplished by the Federal
Government rather than by states was the
matter of national importance. As the issue
was debated, the usual interpretation was
that all intrastate facilities were state re-
sponsibilities. Macomb observed that those
which fell completely within the boundaries
of a state were that states’ responsibility
regardless of usefulness for commercial pur-
poses or however vital to the transportation
of the mail. He stated further that ‘‘the
states have important duties to perform in
facilitating, by means of roads and canals,
commercial and political intercourse
AMONG their citizens.”” He felt that the
states were more competent to act within
this sphere than the central government,
being closer to the problems.?

John C. Calhoun, Secretary of War,
1817-1825, was basically in agreement with
Macomh. He expressed faith that the states
would assume their responsibilities in the
area of internal improvements as their popu-
lations grew and capital became more
plentiful. He acknowledged, however, that
there was need for internal improvements
which because of their general nature or
magnitude should be accomplished by the
Federal Government. It was his_opinion that
not only was it not the Federal Government’s
responsibility to accomplish projects which
benefited only a state, but that it was un-
constitutional. Any facility which promoted
intercourse between parts of the same state
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was not to be assumed as a national respon-
sibility. Those roads and canals, however,
which facilitated commerce and intercourse
among the states and which enabled the
Government to disseminate promptly, through
the mail, information to every part of the
nation were considered a national responsi-
bility. Calhoun was a strong nationalist, but
he saw a strong nation only if the authority
due the states was reserved to the states.
He was an outspoken advocate, therefore,
for states’ rights.3

The same position was held by President
Andrew Jackson. Jackson was such a strong
nationalist that he was called “King Andrew”
by his opponents. Despite this strong nation-
al sentiment, and general opposition to the
states’ rights faction, he vetoed the Mays-
ville Road bill during his second year in
office, 1830. It was a time when the tariff
was bringing in so much revenue that the
treasury was developing a surplus. The
nationalists would have used the rcvenue to
finance an elaborate internal improvement
program. Jackson had expressed his opposi-
tion to the program in his first annual mes-
sage to Congress in 1829. He recommended
that the surplus revenue be distributed among
the states according to their Congressional
apportionment. Martin Van Buren, then Secre-
cary of State, advised him to put an end to
the Congressional logrolling that resulted in
construction of internal improvements at
Federal expense. He did approve the Cumber-
land Road Bill 31 May 1830, three days after
he had vetoed the Maysville Road Bill.

He gave as his reason for the veto the
fact that the Maysville Road lay within the
limits of a single state and had no connec-
tion with an established system of improve-
ments. It was, therefore, not under Federal
jurisdiction. Though he and Calhoun were
political enemies, they were in agreement on
internal improvements. Jackson’s subsequent
policy on internal improvements resulted in
his curbing Federal expenditures on roads
and canals, though it did not materially af-
fect the appropriations for improvements of
harbors and rivers. The question of Federal
vs. State authority would persist until the
CivilWar, which saw the triumph of central



authority. Thereafter, the Federal Government
would exercise supreme authority in matters
of civil improvements.

While the question of authority was being
resolved, a problem even more serious as far
as Corps operations were concerned develop-
ed. Calhoun observed in 1824 that the Corps
had been deficient personnelwise even be-
fore the civil responsibilities were given to
it. He saw no way for the Corps to meet the
demands being made upon it, or to effectively
direct the expenditures of sums being appro-
priated by Congress.

The new Secretary of War, James Barbour,
noted in 1825, that progress in construction
projects was delayed due to the lack of
officers. He insisted that their numbers must
be increased; a condition which would not be
difficult to remedy if the military academy
were given the authority to train more men.
The academy had just reported that it was
forced to turn down twenty-nine of every
thirty young men making application. Many
of those applicants were capable men of
great potential. The academy must be per-
mitted, he insisted, to enlarge its operations
and more graduates must be assigned to the
Corps of Engineers.4

Congress relented and authorized an in-
crease for both the Corps of Engineers and
the Topographical Engineers by two second
lieutenants each over and above the current
authorized strength. This was to continue
until the overall gain by each had reached
four additional second lieutenants. Those
were to be appointed from the most out-
standing graduates of the military academy.5

This personnel shortage probably accounts
for the failure of Congress to include Mobile
in the civil projects at first. The only civil
project which touched the deep South was the
Washington to New Orleans national road,
Subsequent records revealed that extensive
surveys were made, but the road was not
constructed.® Projects were funded for
which there was not adequate personnel to
direct. For that reason, one of the officers
on duty on the Gulf Coast Frontier in 1824
was transferred to North Carolina where ex-
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tensive work had been projected at Bogue
Point at Beaufort, but for which there was no
officer. As the Corps began assuming re-
sponsibility for civil projects, it was hampered
by the political climate resulting from the
issue of central vs. state authority, and, even
more seriously, by the lack of adequate
personnel.

Work in Mobile Bay was initiated in 1826,
but a channel for ocean-going vessels would
not be accomplished until after the Civil War.
The very life of Mobile as a port city was
dependent upon harbor improvements. Because
of this, the work of the Corps was of tremen-
dous importance to the future development of
the city.

Mobile was selected as a site for the first
capital of French Louisiana in 1702. The
port for the city was on the south side of
Dauphin Island. There was an excellent har-
bor sheltered from rough waters of the gulf by
Pelican Island still further south. Ships could
enter this harbor by way of a twenty-one foot
channel. There cargo was unloaded and trans-
ferred to river boats and transported to the
city. Sailboats could navigate the bay, but
beyond that, pirogues and flatboats had to be
utilized.

A great storm such as often occur on the
Gulf Coast hitDauphinIsland in March 1717,
and filled the channel with sand to a depth
of only ten feet. Henceforth ships drawing
over ten feet of water could not enter the
harbor. For the next century and a half, ships
haq to anchor in the Gulf bevond Mobile
Point and transfer their cargoes in the open
sea.Mobile Bay tends to average only nine to
twelve feet in depth. Even this depth was
obstructed by two bars. Choctaw at McDuffie
Is.land and Dog River bar, which had depths
of only four or five foot at low tide. Mobile

dwas . landlocked except for those vesscls
drawing .onl.V_ four or five feot of water. In
spite  of thig handicap Mobile
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Mobile harbor, but due to the shortage of
personnel, the funds were placed at the dis-
posal of the mayor and aldermen of the city.
A year later no report of activity had been
received from Mobile.? Though the harbor
was neglected, surveys were made by the
Topographical Engineers with a view of
connecting Mobile Bay and Pensacola Bay by
a canal.8 This would extend the inland
waterway from New Orleans to Pensacola by
way of Mississippi Sound.

The 1828 appropriation bill included funds
for deepening the channel through Pass au
Heron and for deepening the channel through
Choctaw Bar below Mobile harbor to a depth
of ten feet. Funds which had been placed on
deposit for use by the city were transferred
back to the Corps of Engineers and the officer
in charge of fortifications construction at
Mobile Point was assigned to direct the
projects.? Despite the heavy duties of
Lieutenant Ogden, he was able to negotiate
contracts and get dredges in operation on
both projects. He was responsible for too
much to keep close check on the civil proj-
ects, however, and failed to report on their
progress.

Captain Chase, superintending engineer
for the entire Gulf of Mexico Frontier, did
report in 1829 that the work at Pass au
Heron was progressing on schedule and
should be completed by March 1830. When
completed, the channel would accommodate
any vessel that could navigate Lake Pont-
chartrain. Pass au Heron was the only
obstacle along the New Orleans to Mobile
waterway by this time. Chase had just com-
pleted a survey of all channels and islands
between Mobile and New Orleans and had
chartered a course which would permit
navigation between the two ports without
having to take to open waters. He had also
marked locations for needful lighthouses
and bouys.10

The work at both Pass au Heron and
Choctaw Bar suffered reverses. The dredge
employed at Choctaw Bar operated 1 April-
10 September 1830, and then had to be with-
drawn for repairs.ll By this time the
channel had been completed 250 yards 80
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feet wide to the required 10 foot depth.
Storms and a breakdown in equipment dis-
rupted the work at Pass au Heron, so it was
not completed by the scheduled 1830 date.1?

Work on Choctaw Bar progressed slowly
with many interruptions. The contract had
been let to Charles Bingham of Mobile. He
did not have the resources to adequately exe-
cute the project, and in 1834 requested that
he be released of his contractual obligations.
William Chase, officer in charge, Ogden having
recently been transferred to the Cumberland
Road inIndiana and Illinois, had no authority
to void a contract. He relayed the request to
Gratiot, who, in turn, relayed it to Lewis
Cass, Secretary of War. Cass refused to re-
lease Bingham, insisting that Bingham could
realize a fair profit from his contract. He in-
structed Chase to institute legal procecdings
against Bingham.

Chase, on the assumption that the con-
tract would be voided, had already engaged a
Mr. Mifflin to repair government-owned equip-
ment and proceed with the dredging. Upon
the receipt of the instructions from Cass,
Chase explained that Bingham did not have
the necessary resources to repair the dredg-
ing equipment, stating that he was a poor
man. Mifflin did have the resources and was
a capable man. He suggested that Bingham
be permitted to transfer his contract to
Mifflin.13 This was done, and the Choctaw
Bar project progressed thereafter.

By the close of the 1833-1834 fiscal year,
a channel 10 feet deep had been completed.
Now vessels drawing no more water than 10
feet could navigate directly to the Mobile
harbor. There was a serious problem of ves-
sels passing during winds, however, and the
project was expanded to dredge the channel
to a width of 300 feet. Though Mifflin reported
many interruptions in his work, the project
was progressing satisfactorily during 1835.
By the close of the fiscal year, he had added
an additional 50 feet to the width of the
channel and hoped to increase it to a 200-
foot channel by 1 January 1836.14 Chase
was pleased with the work of Mifflin and
requested that he be permitted to continue
the project after the original contract had



expired. Chase promised to push the work
which had progressed so slowly since its
beginning in 1826.15

The project had not seen the last of its
difficulties, however. A storm damaged the
equipment beyond repair in November 1835,
and Mifflin was forced to give up the project.
A contractor from New Orleans expressed
willingness to undertake the work and Chase
opened negotiations with him. This meant
further delay in the project. The contract
was not signed until Qctober 1836 and was
annulled in June of 1837, due to the failure
of the contractor to perform. Another was
signed shortly thereafter with promise that
dredging would begin in December.16

During the period, 1830-1836, the Federal
Government made generous appropriations.
The annual budget for the Corps of Engineers
had increased from $520,150 in 1823 to
$3,643.,271.76 in 1836. The same Congress
which had become so generous in its appro-
priations of funds still refused to approve
increases in personnel. The clerical help was
inadequate and salaries for those employed
by the Corps of Engineers were not compar-
able tothose in otherbranches of the military,
Gratiot recommended in 1836 that additional
clerical help be provided and that the size of
the Corps be doubled so that it could ade-
quately direct the expenditure of the appro-
priations.!? Before Congress had responded
to Gratiot’s request, the economic panic
struck in 1837, and there was a retrenchment
during the period of depression following the
panic.

The contractor did continue the work on
Choctaw Bar, but accomplished little. A con-
tract was let to dredge Dog River Bar, but it
was annulled forlack of performance.l8 Des-
pite appeals from General Joseph G. Totten,
who had replaced Gratiot as Chicf Engineer,
Congress refused to make reasonable appro-
priations to carry on either military or civil
projects in 1839.19  The appropriation for
civil projects in 1840 nationwide was only
$22 541 for harbors and rivers, $32,191 for
roads, and $9,897 for lighthouses. This re-
quired a considerable retrenchment and work
on many projects was suspended.?9 Work on
civil projects in the Mobile District came to
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a virtual halt. The military projects fared
little better. Appropriations were made late
in the fiscal year and then restrictions were
placed upon them due to the state of the
treasury. This was General Totten’s second
year as ChiefEngineer, and he found the en-
tire Corps almost inactive due to a lack of
funds. Officers were urged to exercise strict
economy in the public interest. Scrupulous
attention was ordered concerning the quality
of workmanship and materials. The depression
following the 1837 panic had really settled
upon the nation. No real progress was made
on the improvement of Mobile harbor or Pass
au Heron after 1840 until after the Civil War.
An act of Congress appropriated $18,000 for
the improvement of Pass au Heron in 1828,
and the money was expended by 1832, but
with what results were not recorded. The
Alabama Legislature awarded a monopoly to
John Grant in 1839 to dredge and maintain a
channel connecting Mobile Bay and Missis-
sippi Sound. This channel served until after
the Civil War.

Work on Mobile Bay was suspended for
lack of funds in 1840 and all efforts to reac-
tivate the project suffered delays. An appro-
priation was made for a survey of the bay in
1844,21 but the report of 1845 reflected no
work on the project. In 1846, the Topographi-
cal Engineers were pulled off all civil proj-
ects and attached to the armies to assist in
the Mexican War. The limited activity on
civil projects was suspended again.

By an act of Congress 3 March 1847, the
construction of lighthouses was placed
undgr the direction of the Topographical
Epgmeers. Lighthouses had been erected
without proper regard for their positions and
the_ action of the sea upon their foundations.
Th1§ was probably the reason for placing the
engmeers in charge of future construction.
Since the lighthouses in the Mobile District
had already been constructed, that added
responﬁibilit_\' did not affoct the arca for
some time.

Negd for improvement of (hoct
Dog River Bar was noted ip the 1852 report
but. no a‘ct‘ion was taken, Shortly th;roafter:
Major William H. Chagse completed a survey

aw Bar and



of Mobile Bay, and contracts were let for the
construction of a “‘powerful’’ dredger and the
necessary scows. Another contract was let
for the removal of a large amount of obstruc-
tion material from the harbor A severe epidem-
ic of yellow fever disrupted progress on
both contracts.2?

Finally, dredging got under way again,
but little progress was made. By the close of
fiscal year 1855, 40,725 cubic yards of mud
had been removed from the Dog River Bar,
deepening the channel one foot. Machinery
had been inactive since 3 March of that year
however. No further progress was reported
before the Civil War. Thirty-five years after
the initial appropriation in 1826, all that
could be reported was a 10-foot channel
through Choctaw Bar and the removal of some
obstructions. The total usefulness of the har-
bor had been only slightly improved. Real
progress would be accomplished in the post
Civil War period when there was a time of
prosperity and a more favorable political
climate for internal improvements.

There is no record of work being accom-
plished on the Mobile, Alabama, Tombighee
River system. Those rivers were the life line
for getting produce to market for a large
portion of Alabama and a limited area in east
Mississippi. The period between 1826, the
date of the first appropriation for civil proj-
ects in the Mobile District, and the Civil
War saw steamboat traffic mature on the
rivers. The first steamer in the Mobile area
was the Alabama built in St. Stephens in
1818. The engine was not powerful enough to
carry the boat against the currents. It proved
impractical for river traffic. In 1819, the
Mobile ascended the Tombigbee to Demop-
olis. The boat had to stop often so vines
and branches could be cut so it could pass.
The next to ascend the river was the Har-
riet, which made the trip up the Alabama to
Montgomery.23 Thereafter the river traffic
continuously increased.

The coming of the river steamboat did not
eliminate the flatboats. They could bring
large cargoes downriver, but were not prac-
tical for ascending the river. A flatboat trip
upriver from Mobile to Montgomery once took
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three months.24 The only way such a vessel
could navigate the river was by poling in
shallow water or by warping the boat along
by pulling on a rope around a tree upstream.
The flatboats usually made a one-way trip.
At the end of their journey they were usually
dismantled. Sometimes their planks were
used for street curbs, but sometimes were
sent to the West Indies where there was a
demand for lumber. With the coming of the
steamboat, flatboats were utilized less and
less.

The steamboat brought increasing need
for river and harbor improvement. The boats
often were broken by snags in the rivers. The
cold waters hitting the red hot boilers result-
ed in explosions and great loss of life. To
clear the rivers of snags became a matter of
major concern for the safety of crewmen and
passengers as well as for economic reasons.

An act of 2 March 1827 appropriated
$8.,000 for improvement of the harbor at the
mouth of Pascagoula River and for removal of
obstructions from the river. Of all rivers in
the deep south, Pascagoula River was best
suited for navigation for a river of its size.
The banks tended to be straight and steep
and little given to change. The river bed was
kept swept clean and relatively constant in
depth. There was little problem of fallen trees
and sand bars. The mouth of the river present-
ed a different story. A boggy mud silt formed
a bar with only four or five feet of water
covering it. Doubt was expressed that the
efforts to improve the bar would produce
desired results, because the mud flowed
back into the channel.

The Pascagoula was an important means
of transportation, however, and its improve-
ment would make a significant economic
impact on a large portion of southeast Mis-
sissippi. When, in 1806, the Spanish officials
closed Mobile River as a means of getting
military supplies from New Orleans to the
United States port of entry at Fort Stoddard,
a military commission was sent to explore
the use of the Pascagoula for that purpose.
Just how successful the mission was is not
known since the river was in Spanish terri-
tory and its use by Americans was kept
secret.25



The United States gained control of the
Pascagoula in 1810, and it was thereafter
used .as a means of transporting produce to
the Gulf. Major Howell Tatum, Jackson’s
topographical engineer, reported in 1814 that
the Pascagoula was formed by the junction of
the Chickasawhay and Leaf Rivers 109 miles
from the Gulf. Any vessel which could cross
the bar at the mouth of the river could as-
cend to that junction. Vessels drawing no
more than five feet of water could ascend the
Chickasawhay an additional 130 miles to the
mouth of Buckatunna Creek just below Waynes-
boro, Mississippi. Leaf River could be
navigated by the same type vessel for 60
miles above the junction. Those two rivers
were destined to be improved so that traffic
was possible to Enterprise, just south of
Meridian, on the Chickasawhay, and to
Hattiesburg on the Leaf River.

The Mississippi Legislature set up a
commission in 1818 to conduct a lottery to
secure $3,000 to improve the three rivers.
There is no evidence that significant im-
provements were accomplished as a result of
this act. An estimated 1,000,000 bales of
cotton were exported, however, by way of
Pascagoula between 1819 and 1855, when the
Gulf Mobile and Ohio Railroad opened.

The Corps of Engineers was given respon-
sibility for the improvement of the harbor at
the mouth of the Pascagoula River by an
appropriation of $8,000 in 1827. The funds
were also to be used to remove obstructions
from the river. Removal of obstructions pre-
sented no real problem, but doubt was ex-
pressed from the beginning that efforts to cut
a channel through the mud bar at the mouth

of the river would produce the desired
results.26
Additional funds were appropriated the

next year, and the contractor working on the
Pass au Heron channel had also contracted
to dredge the Pascagoula bar channel, but
storms and breakdowns of machinery delayed
his work.27 The contractor had moved about
5000 cubic yards of earth from the bar by 5
August 1830, when he was forced to stop
operations because of strong easterly winds.
The dredging was transferred to Pass au
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Heron,where islands protected the equipment
from damaging waves.?8 For the next four

years little progress was made.t‘T;le tW(‘)Ik
slowly and unsatistactorily
e 11 o instituted

that Chase, the officer in charge,
legal action and abrogated the contract. The

new contractor soon had a channel 45 feet
wide and 5% feet deep cut through the bar.
He expressed fear, however, that the channel

would fill.29

The contractor’s fears proved well founded
The channel quickly filled in to a depth of
four feet, and there was doubt that it
would hold even that depth. He concluded
that a four-foot channel was the greatest
depth that could be achieved. Added to the
problem of the channel filling, strong winds
and breakdown of machinery further delayed
progress.30  The project was declared a
failure in 1837, and operations were suspend-
ed. The money which had not been expended
was returned to the treasury.31

Pascagoula bar does not appear in the
records again until it was reported in 1852
that surveys and studies were in progress
with hope that work would begin in the near
future. The final report was not given until
1855. It concluded that a 6-foot channel 100
feet wide could be opened through the East
Pascagoula River Bar.32 No action was
taken to reactivate the project before the
Civil War.

A number of other civil projects were ini-
tiated in the Mobile District before the Civil
War, but like those already discussed, re-
sults were not outstanding. A survey was
accomplished by the Topographical Engineers
in 1826, with aview of connecting Mobile Bay

and Pensacola Bay by a canal.33 Theproj-
ect was not accomplished until the post
Civil War era. Saint Marks. Florida was

surveyed in 1829, and an appropriation was
made to initiate a project for the improvement
of Apalachicola River in 1830. The $2.000
appropriation proved insufficient to sccure
the necessary machinery for the project.
Additional appropriations were made aﬂd by
1832 a channel four feet deep had been dredg-
cd. Work on the Apalachicola
considered complete

River was

msofar as success



could be realized. All obstructions had been
removed and all trees along the banks which
might fall causing additional obstructions
had been cut. The Apalachicola harbor had
been cut to a depth of 10 feet despite labor
problems. The engineers reported that rather
than filling, the channel had been swept to
12 to 14 feet by the currents.34

Obstructions were removed from the Och-
lockonee and Escambia Rivers before the
Panic of 1837 caused the civil projects to be
suspended. Only one road was listed in the
annual reports in the Mobile District. A road
45 miles long was constructed from Line
Creek to the Chattahoochee River in Alabama
during the early 1830’s. The agent in charge
negotiated a contract for the full amount of
the appropriation, not taking into account
that his own compensation must come from it.
The project was completed $1,544.50 in
arrears. A request was made that the sum be
provided in the 1836 appropriation.35

General Joseph G. Totten ordered Captain
Jeremiah M. Scarritt, officer in charge of the
Mobile area, to move from Fort Morgan to
Mobile and establish an office there.36 From
that time on, officers have lived in Mobile
and have maintained an office from which the
activities of the Mobile District have been
directed. It is assumed that the Corps con-
structed the Custom House across the street
from the Battle House Hotel in Mobile. The
building was constructed of granite imported
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from New England. The foundation was made
of pilings driven deep into the sandy soil.
Cost of the structure was $360,000.37 It was
built about 1852. Records of the construction
have not been found, however, within the
scope of this research.

An act of Congress, 16 July 1798, provid-
ed for the establishment of marine hospitals
to be located in port cities. Under the pro-
visions of that act, land was acquired by the
Corps of Engineers in Mobile in 1837, and a
marine hospital constructed on it. The hospi-
tal opened in 1843. It was situated onasix-
acre tract and was enclosed by a high brick
wall. In 1902, the name was changed from
Marine Hospital Service to Public Health and
Marine Services. In 1912 it was changed to
Public Health Service. It suspended all
marine services in 1952. The building was
still standing at the time of writing and was
in a good state of repair.38 Robert Miles is
attributed to have designed the building, but,

as 1s true of the Custom House, records of
construction have not been found.

The pre-Civil War work of the Corps of
Engineers was primarily military in the Mobile
District. The engineers were trained in the
Military Academy at West Point and were
first and foremost military men. The post-
Civil War era saw a great change in the
operation of the Corps. The civil projects
received nearly all the attention for some
decades thereafter.



CHAPTER VI:
THE GREAT ERA OF RIVER AND HARBOR IMPROVEMENTS: 1865-1317

The post-Civil War era saw a boom in
internal improvements including railroad con-
struction and river and harbor projects. At
first the bulk of the projects were in the
North and West. The South was under military
rule, and the economy was universally de-
pressed. It was ten years after the Civil War
before agricultural production reached that of
1860. Not only that, but the South was void
of national political power for several years.
The South was neglected; however, in the
development of internal improvements. These
were directed by Corps of Engineers officials
assisted by civil engineers.

Secretary of War Edwin M. Stanton, secre-
tary in Lincoln’s cabinet, reorganized the
War Department. He added three major bureaus
during the Civil War: the Judge Advocate
General’s Office, 1862; the Signal Department;
and the Provost Marshal General’s Bureau in
1863. The latter bureau was established to
administer the draft act recently passed. The
same year he merged the Corps of Topographi-
cal Engineers with the Corps of Engineers,
ending its separate existence. The vast sur-
vey and other responsibilities were now inte-
grated with the work of the Corps of Engineers,
which had considered itself more militarily
oriented. The Corps assumed major responsi-
bility in surveying and opening western
lands.

By 1868 the Corps was beginning to en-
gage in some civil projects in the South. The
Mobile District was under General M. D.
McAlester, who was assigned to construction
of fortifications, harbors, and river improve-
ment. He was stationed in New Orleans, no
office having been opened in Mobile since
the Civil War. Considerable work was in
progress in the vicinity of New Orleans and
some in Texas, but no civil projects were
reported in the Mobile District. Other projects
in the South were on the Tennessee River
and at Key West. The next year saw little
change. There was an authorization for some
survey work to be accomplished during the
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1870 fiscal year. The Mobile officg reopened
in 1870 with Major C. B. Reese 1n charge.
He died of yellow fever on the eastern.shore
of Mobile Bay 22 September 1870. It is as-
sumed that he had resorted to the higher pine-
covered land of the eastern shore to avoid
the fever epidemic, believing that this loca-
tion was free of the fever.

Major Reese was succeeded by Captain
Andrew N. Damrell until the arrival of Colo-
nel John H. Simpson on 12 December 1870.
Colonel Simpson, officer in charge, was as-
sisted by Major Walter McFarland.l Colonel
Simpson was replaced by Colonel W. F.
Raynolds in 1872 who served until 1873.

The Mobile District extended from the St.
Marks River, Florida, in the east to Pearl
River in the west when the Mobile office
opened in 1870. Its civil responsibilities
included, therefore, northwest Florida, most
of western Georgia, all of Alabama except
the Tennessee Valley, and all Mississippi
from the Pearl River watershed eastward.
This included most of that state.

Captain Damrell became District Engineer
in 1873 and was destined to be one of the
District’s most distinguished leaders. He
resigned as District Engineer in 1895 due to
ill health, but served on the lighthouse
board for several yvears before his final re-
tirement from the Corps. He made Mobile his
retirement home and descendants still reside
in the area.

Damrell was a native of Massachusetts
and was appointed a cadet from that state 1
July 1860. He graduated in June 1864, was
commissioned a  Second Licutenant upon
graduation and was assigned to Franklin,
Tennessce. In 1865 he was transferred to
duty in New Jerscy where he directed the
construction of the fort at Sandy Hook. He
arrived in Mobile in 1869, where he remained
for the rest of his life. Damrell. more than
any other person, was responsible for Mobile



Harbor and the Mobile Bay channel. It was
during his career that river transportation
reached its most active era. The era was ini-
tiated before the Civil War, but extended well
into the twentieth century.

Among the floating palaces that plied the
Alabama rivers were The City of Mobile,
Fashion, Sunny South, Southern Bell, Mag-
nolia, Hattie B. Moore, and the Eliza
Battle. Some of those were before the Civil
War, but were typical of the floating palaces.
The Hattie B. Moore was built in Mobile in
1884. Rittenhouse Moore was principal owner
and the boat was named for his daughter,
Hattie. It was fondly called ‘‘Red Headed
Hattie’’ by the créw because of its bright red
smoke stacks. It was also referred to as
““Fast and Fancy Hattie with the Red Smoke
Stacks.’’ It was condemned in 1900 and an-
chored opposite the Mobile City wharf. The
hurricane of 1906 destroyed it.R

The City of Mobile was built in 1898. It
was a 209-ton steamer capable of carrying
over 300 tons plus passengers. There were
73 berths and 25 staterooms. The boat car-
ried 139 life preservers and two lifeboats.
The log book under dates 25 September - 1
October 1912 stated that the City of Mobile
deposited freight from Mobile at over 100
landings up the Mobile, Tombighee and War-
rior Rivers.3

In addition to the above mentioned, there
were scores of other boats plying the rivers
regularly. They deposited or picked up cargo
at landings all along the river banks, usually
at larger plantations or urban communities.
Upon approaching the landings, the steam
whistle would let out a shrill blast to notify
the surrounding area of the boat’s approach.
There was usually a good turnout at each
landing.

The Apalachicola River system was as
busy as the Alabama rivers. That system in-
cludes the Chattahoochee, Flint, and Chipola
Rivers. An estimated 200 boats navigated the
Chattahoochee. There were nearly 200 land-
ings on the Chattahoochee, 67 on the much
shorter Apalachicola, 26 on the Flint and 7
on the Chipola. The Apalachee, Calhoun,
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Chattahoochee, Chipola and W.S. Holt were
among the more famous boats.

In addition to the commercial boats on the
rivers, the Corps of Engineers accumulated
and operated many boats. They included
floating dredges, snaghoats, towboats, barges
and derrick-boats. The rivers in their unim-
proved state were not navigable for most of
the commercial or work boats. [t was a pri-
mary concern of the Corps of Engineers to
create channels as free of danger as possible.
This included removing snags, logs, loose
rocks, and sand bars and other obstructions.
It was necessary to construct jetties and wing
dams to protect channels or to force water
through channels to keep them swept clean.
In many instances channels had to be dredged
deeper.

The great loss of life and property made
the cost of improvements appear small by
comparison and commerce was greatly enhanc-
ed as a resultofthe openingof the channels.
The Eliza Battle burned about one-half mile
above Kemp’s landing on the Tombigbee 1
March 1858. This was a floating palace
operating out of Mobile and was owned by
the well known Battle family. It carried many
passengers and a cargo of cotton and other
items. The river was flooded, and the captain
was greatly concerned about being able to
detect the channel in the darkness and keep
the boat from becoming grounded. It was fire,
however, which destroyed the boat. Fire
broke out on the deck, and rapidly swept
across the boat. Passengers were forced to
abandon the boat. Some pushed bales of
cotton into the river and used them as rafts.
Others simply jumped into the icy river; and
when the casualties were totaled the next
morning, it was learned that 36 lives had
been lost from drowning, exposure and from
the fire.

The Orline St. John sank in the Alabama
River 4 March 1850. It burned to the waterline
and then went down. This 349-ton side wheel-
er carried a crew and 50 passengers in addi-
tion to its cargo. The cargo and 41 lives
were lost. The Captain Sam exploded and
sank some 12 to 15 miles below Montgomery
in 1895 and 13 lives were lost. Other wrecks



in the Alabama River near Montgomery were
the Autauga, 1865, the J. C. Blackford, 1871,
and the Henry King, Jr. 1865.4 There were
many others in the Alabama River.

The channel on the Chattahoochee from
Columbus, Georgia to the Gulf of Mexico, a
distance of 360 miles, was called the longest
graveyard in Georgia. The river became in-
creasingly hazardous as one ascended it.
The terrain became more stony and loose
rocks in the river channel were a continuous
problem. The problem in all the rivers was
compounded by the presence of the wrecked
vessels. Boats often struck submerged
wrecks and sank. The Corps of Engineers
was responsible for removing the hazards of
whatever nature insofar as possible.

The Corps of Engineers was reorganized
in 1888. Secretary of War, W. C. Endicott,
issued general order No. 93, authorizing the
establishing of divisions within the Corps,
each headed by a Division Engineer. Chief
of Engineers Brigadier General T. L.. Casey,
was authorized to assign as many officers,
not below the rank of Lieutenant Colonel, as
might be needed as Divisional Engineers. By
terms of the order, those Divisional Engineers
were to exercise care and oversight over the
engineering projects within their divisions.
The Mobile District fell in the newly estab-
lished Southeast Division. The Mobile Dis-
trict was divided in 1888 and the Montgomery
District was created from the eastern por-
tion.5 The Escambia River, Florida, became
the dividing line between the districts. Cap-
tain Damrell remained in charge of the Mobile
District and Captain R. L. Hoxie was appoint-
ed District Engineer for the Montgomery
District. This remained the organizational
structure until the two districts were rejoined
to become the Mobile District again in 1933.

The first civil projects initiated after the
Civil War were river surveys. They will be
discussed later. The most important single
civil project was the Mobile Harbor and ship
channel, and Captain Damrell devoted serious
attention to it. The last significant appro-
priation for the improvement of Mobile Harbor
before the Civil War was made in 1852. That
brought the expenditures on Mobile Harbor to
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$207,997.60 and resulted in a channel 10 fe?et
deep, 200 feet wide. An additional appropria-
tion was made by Act of Congress 3 March
1857 totaling $20,000. No further appropria-
tions were made until $50,000 was appro-
priated 11 July 1870 to initiate another
improvement project for the harbor.

The 10-foot channel at Choctaw Pass had
shoaled to seven and one-half feet by 1860,
though the Dog River Bar channel had remain-
ed constant. From 1860 to 1870 no work was
accomplished on the channel by the Mobile
District. The Alabama Harbor Board was ac-
tive however. It was engaged in removing
Confederate obstructions from the rivers
flowing into Mobile Bay. The board also re-
moved a number of wrecked vessels from the
channels. It had further employed the services
of Confederate General Braxton Bragg to
formulate a plan to improve the harbor.

Bragg’s plan called for the construction of
a dike and jetties practically closing the
Tensaw and Spanish Rivers, and forcing the
water to pass through the harbor at an increas-
ed velocity, scouring the river banks and
bottom. The dikes were constructed, and
functioned as Bragg had predicted, but the
system only created additional problems at
Choctaw Pass. All the silt and debris of the
entire water system was forced through the
harbor and when the flow slowed as it reach-
ed the bay, the bar at Choctaw Pass simply
built up that much more rapidly. The problem
had always been with Choctaw and Dog River
Bars, not the harbor itself, and Braggs proj-
ect only aggravated the situation.

Captain Damrell took issue with Bragg's
solution to the problem. There woere those who
defended Bragg’s work and the situation devel-
oped into an issue. The work of anillustrious
Civil War general was questioned by a young
recently imported Yankee. The Alabamﬁ Har-
bor_E}oard was disposed to defend Bragg's
poS.ItIOII when Damrell recommended that the
project be abandoned and that dikes already
constructed be destroyed. The dispute culmi-
nated in the appointment. 1y the State of
Alabama and the Corps of E“nﬂim\ ‘
board of engincer officoers .
parties.

ers, of a
represcuting both



The Corps of Engineers was represented
by Colonel J. H. Simpson, Lieutenant Colonel
Z. B. Tower, and Lieutenant Colonel H. G.
Wright. Captain Damrell acted as recorder for
the board. The State of Alabama was repre-
sented by General Bragg and Percy Walker.
Walker was secretary. The board was called
the ‘“Board for the Improvement of the River,
Harbor, and Mobile Bay.”’ It entered discus-
sion and correspondence, and eventually
produced plans which were acceptable to
both the Corps of Engineers and the State
Harbor Board. The Alabama [Legislature abol-
ished the Harbor Board in 1873, giving the
Corps of Engineers a free hand.6

Bragg’s dikes and jetties were demolished
and Damrell let contracts for dredging to
Captain John Grant and S. N. Kimball and
Company of Chicago, Illinois, each working
on different segments of the project. They
were paid 39.5 cents per cubic yard for sand
removed. The project called for a channel 13
feet deep and 300 feet wide. There were
appropriations annually through 1875, total-
ing $401,000.

Mobile was a port of entry for foreign im-
ports and collected $1,097,164 in tariff
revenue in 1873. That year 213 vessels arriv-
ed with 88,514 tons of cargo. There were 195
vessels clearing port with 88,206 tons of ex-
ports. Value of exports was nearly $13,000,000
with 83,860,636 being exported in domestic
ships and $9,114,479 in foreign ships. Cap-
tain Damrell observed that the appropriations
for improvements were profitable expendi-
tures.

Captain Damrell negotiated new contracts
in 1874 for dredging the channel. John Grant
was awarded the contract for the Dog River
bar at 23 cents per cubic yard. J. E. Slighter
was low bidder for Choctawbar at 45 cents per
cubic yard. Dredging progressed with some
interruptions due to flood waters. A torpedo
boat, probably a Civil War casualty, was re-
moved from Choctaw Pass, but another wreck
still endangered traffic. The project was
completed under those contracts. In 1877, a
channel 13 feet deep extended all the way to
deep water. It was 300 feet wide at Choctaw
Pass and 200 feet at Dog River bar. As of
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September of'that year,no change had occurred
in the depth of the channel. This channel
still left much to be desired, however. Ships
crossed the outer bar which had a depth of
21 feet, and then had to anchor 27 miles from
Mobile harbor and receive the bulk of their
cargoes at increased expense and probability
of damage to freight. Damrell felt that the im-
portance of the Port of Mobile justified in-
creasing the depth of the channel to accommo-
date larger vessels. He requested an appro-
priation to accomplish a survey to this end.?

His request was granted and a new project
was initiated which resulted in a channel 17
feet deep and 200 feet wide. Bids were
advertised and opened 20 May 1880.8 All were
considered too high and no contract was let.
He called for bids again and a contract was
let to George C. Forbes of Baltimore, Mary-
land, at 12.3 cents per cubic yard. This was
only half the lowest price of the previous
bids. Contracts were let annually thereafter
until 1886. Contractors in order of service
were G. L. Long, R. More, and Tobias Burke,
all of Mobile. Prices ranged from a high of
12,3to a low of 9 cents per cubic yard. Tech-
nological advances in equipment resulted in
drastic reduction of cost for dredging. It had
dropped from a high of 45 cents per cubic
yard to a low of 9 cents in 1886. By 1911
contractors bid as low as 5.38 cents per
cubic yard, though several factors determined
how low they could go, such as nature of
soil removed and how far it had to be moved.

The 17-foot channel was accomplished by
the project initiated in 1880 and completed in
1886. Another project was initiated to accom-
plish a 23-foot channel by an act of Congress
11 August 1888. The channel was dredged to
280 feet at the top of the cut and extended
from the Gulf of Mexico to Chickasaw Creek.
This channel was completed in 1896. The
bottom of the channel was only about 50 feet
wide. To improve its usefulness, a project
was initiated in 1899 to accomplish a channel
23 feet deep and 200 feet wide with appro-
priate slopes. This project was completed in
1901. A channel now existed with a minimum
low water depth of 20.5 feet. Ships could navi-
gate the bay to Mobile Harbor with a 21-foot
maximum draw entering and departing at high



tide.? The improved channel was reflected
in the amount of cargo transported. Imports
and exports, foreign and domestic, for 1901
was 1,616,446 tons valued at $28,482,331.

The Mobile Bar project was initiated in
1902. It provided for the dredging of a channel
300 feet wide and 30 feet deep across the
bar at the entrance of Mobile Bay. Work con-
tinued on that project until its final comple-
tion in 1914. This channel would accommodate
any vessel that could navigate the Mobile
Bay Ship channel until post-World War I
projects would increase that channel.10 The
work was accomplished by a government-owned
dredge boat and day labor. Further effort to
improve the bar was the removal of the sunken
ship Indian Chief that had sunk about 1872.
During fiscal year 1916, 35 tons of railroad
iron was removed from the wreck.

In 1906 one of the most destructive hurri-
canes of Gulf Coast history to that date hit
Mobile. The channel shoaled to as little as
17 feet in some places. Appropriations of
1907 provided for dredging the channel to its
previous depth and for the removal of numerous
trees, logs, timbers, and other dangerous ob-
structions, most of which were a result of
the storm.

The last pre-World War I project was initi-
ated in 1910. A channel 27 feet deep at mean
low water and 200 feet wide was accomplish-
ed; a channel 33 miles distance from deep
water to Chickasaw Creek above Mobile
Harbor. This channel, along with the 30-foot
channel through Mobile Bar, now opened the
port of Mobile to vessels drawing as much as
28 feet by arriving and departing at high tide.
The work was accomplished by a government-
owned hydraulic pipeline dredge. A govern-
ment-owned snagboat was kept on the job
most of the year 1916, clearing the channel
of obstructions.!l Vessels utilizing Mobile
Harbor in 1915 drew from 13 to 28 feet of
water. The latest improvement opened the
port to additional ships, but cargo clearing
Mobile that year was down. It dropped from
2,392,442 short tons valued at $58,085,903
in 1914 to 1,579,804 tons valued at $46,440,
771. The decline was due to World War I
which had erupted in Europe late in 1914. Two
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lines, the ‘‘Atlantic, Mexican and Gulf,”’ and
the ‘‘Sudden and Christenson’’ had discon-
tinued calling on Mobile completely. Cargoer
clearing port were manufactured st?el o o
iron, cotton and cotton products, grain, lum-
ber and timber, naval stores, pork, coal,
stoves, crossties, and crude molasses. By
the opening of World WarI, Mobile had greatly
increased in its importance as a port city.
Freight and insurance rates had been lowered
considerably due to the improved facilities
now available to commerce.

The Apalachicola Harbor was also improv-
ed. A group of concerned citizens petitioned
the Corps in 1872 to initiate a project to
improve  the Chattahoochee-Apalachicola
River system and the Apalachicola Harbor.
The petition was signed by Samuel Benezet,
Mayor of Apalachicola, the city councilmen,
the president of the local Chamber of Com-
merce and the president of the Atlantic and
New Orleans Steam Navigation Company. [t
was further signed by 136 local citizens. Pre-
Civil War traffic was reviewed to strengthen
justification for such a project. During the
period 1 September 1859 1 August 1860 cargo
valued at $14,000,000 cleared the port. Im-
ports included salt, molasses, and sundry
packet freight. Exports were largely cotton,
which was shipped to Liverpool, Gibraltar,
LLeHarve, and St. Petersburg, Russia. That
year the port experienced its most disastrous
fire. A cargo of 2171 bales of cotton, valued
at $258,610 burned at anchorage prior to
shipment to Antwerp.l2 The petition was
followed by appropriations, and a harbor im-
provement project was accomplished in suc-
ceeding years.

The Apalachicola Harbor and bar were im-
proved, but it was destined not to develop
into a major port. Vast reaches of swamps
and marshes made it almost inaccessible by
road and rail. The same was true of Carrabelle
and Port St. Joe, Florida. Port St. Joe had
the finest natural harbor of northwest Florida,
and onc of the best on the Qulf of Mexico.
but its remote location preventod any signifi-
cant development. With a natural depth of 30
to 36 feet and a 20-foot depth over the bar,
Port St. Joc was considered as a possible

site for the naval base. The marshy nature of
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the interior caused naval authorities to choose
Pensacola instead. Those harbors were im-
proved sufficiently to meet commercial needs.

The two Florida ports which were improved
significantly were the Panama City and Pen-
sacola harbors. Panama City was afforded a
22-foot. channel by way of East Bay. The
project was authorized in 1910 and completed
in 1914. Shoaling necessitated additional
dredging, and the dredge Charleston was
transferred to Panama City and dredged the
channel in 1916, utilizing hired labor.

The cargo clearing port in 1917 consisted
almost totally of timber. The steamer Mary,
formerly of the Flint River, did make weekly
calls on St. Andrew Bay and Apalachicola
River landings. It carried packet freight and
passengers. The launch Swan and the steamer
John W. Callahan, Jr. also served the area.

Pensacola Harbor improvements revolved
around the requirements of the naval basec.
Acts of Congress in 1878, 1894, and 1899
authorized improvements which resulted in a
channel 30 feet deep over the bar by 1916.
Several wrecks had to be removed from the
channel and harbor area. The project was
completed in November 1916 by the dredge
Caucus. Pensacola was more active than
other west Florida ports. Cargoes included
coal, cotton, grain, fertilizer, lumber, timber,
mahogany logs (imported), naval stores,
tobacco, steel billets, chalk, and miscel-
laneous packet freight. Launches which made
regular runs in the area included the Ruth,
Idell, Viola, Grand Rapids, and the Alma.
The schooner Evelyn and steamer Natomah
also made weekly calls on the port and other
points along Santa Rosa Sound.

The major projects along the Mississippi
Gulf Coast were Pascagoula, Biloxi and
Gulfport. In terms of economic progress, the
Pascagoula project was doubtless the most
significant. Ithas enabled thatport to become
one of the worlds great ship-building centers.
A multi-billion dollar industrial complex was
destined to be constructed at Pascagoula,
the largest being the shipyards. To accom-
modate the industries, a channel 40 feet deep
and 350 feet wide was ultimately provided. A
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turning basin 2,000 feet long and 950 feet
wide was also dredged. A number of other
channels and turn basins have been provided
to meet the industrial needs ofthe community.
Over $6,500,000 had been spent on the proj-
ect at the time of writing. Biloxi has been
provided al2-foot channel 100 feet wide. That
has met the needs of that harbor to date.

The Gulfport Harbor and Ship Island Pass
was a project of some magnitude. Originally

no channel existed between the anchorage at

Ship Island and Gulfport. Water ranged from
2.5 to 19 feet deep over the site where the
channel was projected. The basin and channel
at Gulfport are not at the mouth of any rivers.
To achieve the channel projected before 1917
required dredging the anchorage basin and a
channel 7 miles long as well as the Ship
Island Bar. By the close of the fiscal year
1916, a channel 12.5 feet deep had been a-
chieved and a 22.6-foot channel had been
accomplished across the Ship Island Bar.
While this was no deep harbor, cargo in cx-
cess of $7,000,000 was exported from Gulf-
port in 1913, with some decrease in succeed-
ing years. The 1915 exports were 84.7 per
cent lumber and timber, but did include naval
stores, cotton, phosphate rock, iron pyrites,
and general merchandise.

River improvement projects progressed
alongside the harbor improvements. They
were initiated in 1870 when Major Reese ap-
pointed a civilian, H. C. Fullebrown!3, to
survey the Coosa River in Georgia and Ala-
bama, and Thomas Pearsall to survey the
Apalachicola assisted by C. F. Trill. From
those beginnings, every stream between St.
Marks, Florida, and Pearl River that carried
any cargo was improved. Among the most im-
portant projects in the Mobile District had
been those to improve the Black Warrior,
Warrior, and Tombighee Rivers in Alabama.
Those rivers have been vital to trade through
the port of Mobile.

The name Black Warrior designated the
river above Tuscaloosa. From Tuscaloosa to
its junction with the Tombigbee, it is noted
as the Warrior. Federal improvements extend
to Mulberry and Locust Forks, a distance of
388 miles from Mobile as the area was meas-



ured in 1915. Some distance has been cut
more recently by the Sunflower Bend cut-off.
The original purpose of the improvement was
to open transportation, largely downstream,
from the rich coal mines, to accommodate the
steel mills of the Birmingham area, and the
vast number of floating palaces and other
river boats navigating the system.

This river system in its unimproved state
was navigable as far upstream as Demopolis,
Alabama, about eight months of the year, and
as far as Tuscaloosa about four months.
There was no navigation above Tuscaloosa
except at extreme high water, and then only
by rafts. Before improvements, cargo con-
sisted largely of rafted logs, lumber, cotton
and other farm products and packet freight.
All ordinary stages of navigation were ren-
dered difficult by rock shoals, sand bars,
snags and overhanging trees. Tuscaloosa
was, for all practical purposes, the head of
any really useful navigation.

The Mobile District initiated three sepa-
rate projects to improve the system. These
were later combined into one project. The
object of the project was to obtain a channel
six feet deep at low water from Mobile to
Sanders Ferry at Mulberry Fork andto Nich-
ols Shoals at Locust Ford on the Black
Warrior River. To accomplish this channel 17
dams and 18 locks were constructed. At Dam
17, with an original lift of 63 feet, that lift
was equally divided between two locks,
17 and 18.

The report of a Board of Engineer officers
recommending a project for slack-water navi-
gation was approved by Secretary of War
William C. Endicott in 1887. The river and
harbor act of 13 June 1902 merged the projects
on the Black Warrior, the Warrior, and the
Tombigbee Rivers. This project did not in-
clude the Tombighbee above Demopolis,
however. The Tombighee from Demopolis to
Aberdeen, Mississippi, was improved as a
separate project.

The first lock completed was lock 10 near
Tuscaloosa, Alabama. [t was 52 feet widc
and 285 feet long, which was accepted as a
standard dimension for the others. The depth

at mean low water over the low miter sill
was six and one-half feet. The lift was 9.86
feet. It was completed in 1895. Locks 2, 3,
16 and 17, were put into operation in 1915,
completing the project. The first real reflec-
tion of the facility in rates was the reduction
of pig iron from Birmingham from $2.75 per
ton to $1.75. The Alabama and New Orleans
Transportation Company employed six self-
propelling barges of about 1,000 tons cargo
capacity in transporting coal from the Ala-
bama mines to New Orleans. One of the larg-
est coal mining companies in Alabama was
constructing a fleet of barges to transport
its coal in 1915.

When the Black Warrior, the Warrior, and
the Tombighee were combined into one proj-
ect, the locks were numbered from the
lowest at St. Stephens, Alabama, to Lock 17
at Kellerman. This necessitated renumbering
those locks constructed under the original
projects.

The purpose for the construction of the
system of locks and dams was navigation
only. Flood control was introduced later.
The dams were only high enough to achieve
the desired six-foot channel. As a result,
boats would simply ride over the locks dur-
ing high water. Some of the locks were
manually operated, and it required con-
siderable time to open and close them, but
they were the forerunners of facilities to be
accomplished later which have made this
river system one of the most completely and
best controlled in the nation.

Closely related to the above discussed
project was the Tombighee River 1mprovement

to Aberdeen, Mississippi. This river served
no industrial cities, and was used by pack-
ets, flat boats and barges carrving farm
produce, forest products. and packet cargo.
Steamboat navigation was originally possi-
ble as far as Aberdeen. 199 miles above
Demopolis, during high water, The 1
«channel was 70 fect wide and one foot deep
from Demopolis to Columbus, Mississippi.

From Columbus to Aberdecn it was only 50
4eet wide and one foot de ‘

ow-water

ep.

Work on this project w

e as initiated in 1871.
The original work was

designed to clear
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snags and overhanging trees only as far as
Columbus. The project was modified and ex-
panded to go on to Aberdeen in 1879, and
eventually to Walker’s Bridge, 169 miles
from Columbus. From Columbus northward,
effort was made to secure only a high-water
channel by the removal of obstructions.
After 1911, the work was restricted to the
river below Aberdeen; since it was not profit-
able to maintain a channel further up-
stream. The nature of the improvement was
temporary and the channel had to be rework-
ed annually. The snagboats Vienna and
Tombigbee were employed on the project
and were manned by hired labor. They re-
moved trees, sunken logs and other debris
that might obstruct traffic.

The Alabama-Coosa River system was
improved to Rome, Georgia. The upper
portion of the Coosa was not navigated as
much as the lower Coosa and the Alabama,
and was one of the first to be abandoned as
far as Corps projects were concerned. With
modern barges and tugboats, there is a good
chance that the river will again be improved
to Rome.

The Apalachicola River and its tribu-
taries, the Chattahoochee, Flint, and
Chipola, were improved to accommodate the
many boats utilizing them. As noted already,
Captain Damrell surveyed the Apalachicola
in 1871. Walter Griswold was contracted by
the Corps of Engineers to survey the
Chattahoochee from Columbus, Georgia, to
its junction with the Apalachicola in 1873.
M. J. Mack carried the survey on down the
Apalachicola, updating Damrell’s work.

The rivers had many shoals, sand bars
and rock bars which needed improving and
there were many loose rocks in the channels.
By far the most serious obstruction was a row
of piles placed across the Apalachicola by
the Confederates about 37 miles above Apa-
lachicolato prevent Union ships from ascend-
ing the river.14 Logs and other debris had
drifted against the piles creating a dam. The
flow of the river was diverted from its normal
course and flowed through Moccasin Slough.
Moccasin Slough flowed into the Styx River
which, in turn, entered the Apalachicola a
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few miles below the Confederate obstruction.
The Apalachicola channel had become so
completely clogged that it was simpler to im-
prove Moccasin Slough and Styx River.

Boats leaving the river entering the slough
had to make an extremely sharp turn. Once
in the slough, there were overhanging trees,
snags and shoals. It was the most difficult
portion of the entire river to navigate, re-
quiring many hours of hazardous work before
re-entering the Apalachicola. The slough was
improved and was utilized as the channel
until on in the twentieth century.

The Chattahoochee was improved to Co-
lumbus, Georgia; Chipola to Marianna, Flori-
da; and the Flint to Bainbridge, Georgia. The
steamboat Clara Dunning. was purchased by
the Mobile District in 1875 and outfitted as a
snagboat to work the Apalachicola River
system. It worked Mocassin Slough during
July and August and was then transferred to
the Chattahoochee. During 1876 it worked
the Chattahoochee to Columbus and the
Flint to Bainbridge.l® Those rivers were
made reasonably navigable, but no significant
projects were atcomplished on the river sys-
tem until after World War II. The channels
were kept open by a program of maintenance
through the use of snagboats and dredges.

The other rivers ofthe Mobile District were
improved in similiar fashion from the unim-
portant Choctawhatchee River just west of
the Apalachicola to Pearl River in the ex-
treme western area of the district. The Choc-
tawhatchee was improved to Buzzard Bar,
about 15 miles below Geneva, Alabama. A 3-
foot channel was achieved from Buzzard Bar
to the Gulf. Plans to improve that bar and to
remove wrecks, snags and sand bars on to
the city were discussed, but appear not to
have developed.16

The above type projects were repeated
basically in all the rivers, many which ap-
pear so insignificant today were used to
float large amounts of cargo to market. The
improvements were achieved by removing
fallen trees from the channel and overhang-
ing trees from the banks, removing snags,
logs, stumps and loose rocks from the channel,
and by dredging and building jetties.



Extensive work of this type was accomplish-
ed on the Pascagoula River system, includ-
ing the Leaf and Chickasawhay. More attention
was given, however, to improving the harbor
at Pascagoula and opening the outer bar.

Those improvements were accomplished
by use of dredge boats, snaghoats, towboats
and barges. Those were constantly being re-
paired, improved, and updated in keeping
with technological progress as America
entered the industrial age. In 1912 the snag-
boat. R. C. McCalla worked the Warrior
River from Tuscaloosa to Demopolis, remov-
ing snags and other obstructions and doing
some bank work. The bank work largely
consisted of removing overhanging trees or
trees which were destined to fall in the
river. The dredge Charles Humphreys work-
ed the same section of the river improving
the channel. The towboat, Nugent, was em-
ployed in delivering stone and other materials
to the locks and dams. New equipment was
being purchased and old equipment was
being repaired. A new derrickboat, Tallahatta,
was completed and was ready for service. A
new motor launch, the Mulberry, was purchas-
ed and delivered. The towboat, Sylph, and
ten work barges were thoroughly overhauled.
While the Tombighbee-Warrior River system
was being improved more thoroughly than any
other in the Mobile District, the above use
of dredges and snagboats indicates the great
activity in river improvement. The dredge,
Pascagoula, was employed in lower Pas-
cagoula River and in improving the bar at
the mouth of the river. The non-propelled
snaghoat, Escatawpa, worked the upper Pas-
cagoula and the Leaf and Chickasawhay
rivers. This type of snagboat was slow and
awkward since it had to be towed into each
new position, but was rather effective in the
shallow waters where it was employed. It
worked Leaf River from the mouth of Bowie
Creek just above Hattiesburg, Mississippi,
to its junction with the Chickasawhay where
they form the Pascagoula. A 3.5 foot channel
was maintained at high water. There was
considerable traffic from Hattiesburg even
with that depth. During the calendar year,
1911, commerce on Leaf River was 167,120
short tons consisting largely of logs and
timber. Value of the cargo was $691,000.
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This represented a decline from earlieryears;
when many hides, turpentine, and other
products were shipped from Hattiesburg.

The self-propelled snagboat Tombigbee,
was working Mobile river. It was a larger
snaghoat, which was placed into service in
1909. It worked above Three-Mile Creek
while the snaghoat Demopolis, removed
sunken objects from the river below Three-
Mile Creek and from the channel in Mobile
Bay. The dredgeboats Wahalak, Pascagoula,
and Charleston. were all working the channe]
in Mobile Bay and the outer bar. The United
States dredge Charleston had been borrowed
from the Charleston, South Carolina, District
and the Pascagoula was transferred from
Pascagoula. The dredge Barnard was work-
ing the Gulfport Harbor and Ship Island Pass.
The snagboats Pearl and Black Warrior were
improving Pearl River.

Those boats were owned by the Mobile
District and were operated by hired labor.
The Mobile District was depending more on
its own resources and less on contracts by
the opening of the twentieth century. It was
accumulating a vast amount of equipment and
staffing a corps of well-trained employees to
accomplish the work. Snagboat operators, for
instance, were becoming expert in detecting
sunken objects in river channels even when
in 10 to 20 feet of water. To the untrained
eye the rolling waters of the river would say
nothing, but to the snagboat crew the ripples
indicated objects far below the surface.

Channel maintenance had become routine
fin.d continuous. Other types of projects were
nitiated due to special circumstances. This
was especially true of the removal of sunken
V.essels. They were removed frequently. but
time and place could not be anticipated. A
golod example was the removal of the steamer
Vienna. The boat was reported sunk to the
Mobile District office in October 1912. It
w.ent down at the Ten Mile Shoal in the Tom-
bl‘gbge R.iver about 18 miles below Columbus,
MlSSlSSlppi. This was a wooden packet 155
{O.Gt long and 26 feet wide. It drew three teet
of water. Net weight was 17¢ tons. Removal
was authorized by the Chiey ol Engineers in

November, and $1.,500 w; .
: * Jas ¢ e
the project. \ppropriated for



The work was accomplished by the Mobile
District owned snaghoat also named Vienna.
The wreck was broken up by use of dynamite
and the larger portions of the debris were
placed ashore. The channel hazard was re-
moved at an expenditure of only $939.32. No
property was recovered from the wreck as was
sometimes true.l? The machinery was often
recovered and installed in other boats. Cer-
tain types of cargo, especially steel, were
also salvaged. This type operation was
repeated many times in the Mobile District.

Another project, initiated between 1865
and 1917, was the removal of water hyacinths
from canals, bayous, lakes and other bodies
of water. The water hyacinth is a floating
plant which infests waters of the Gulf Coast.
It increases rapidly, and is killed back to
water level by frost in the winter. Thick mats
of those plants form what appears to be rich
green floating islands in slow moving or still
fresh water. Some lakes were completely
covered and were ruined as far as fishing and
navigation were concerned. Boats were some-
times caught in a sea of the plants which
floated around them during the night or when
unattended. Channels were often completely
obstructed. The plant made its appearance in
Louisiana about 1884, having been brought
from the Orient as an ornamental flower. It
appeared in Florida waters about 1890 and
spread across the Gulf until it reached from
Florida to Texas.

The first appropriation for hyacinth con-
trol was made in 1899. It called for the re-
moval of the plants, the building of boats to
accomplish the task and the construction of
log booms to prevent spreading from one
waterway to another. The project was not too
successful. An act of 1902 authorized the
use of ‘‘mechanical, chemical, or other
means whatsoever’’ to clear the waterways.
Those acts applied only to Louisiana and
Florida. It was expanded to include Texas in
1905, but was modified to exclude use of any
chemical process which might be injurious to
cattle. The appropriation was extended to
include Mississippi in 1912 and Alabama in
1916. Water hyacinths were not the problem
in the Mobile District that they were for the
New Orleans and Jacksonville Districts, but
did require annual attention.
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Another responsibility acquired by the
Corps of Engineers during this period follow-
ing the Civil War was the approval of bridge
construction. Section 9 of the river and har-
bor act of 1899 required that plans for dams,
dikes, or causeways be approved by the Chief
of Engineers and the Secretary of War before
construction commenced. Section 10 of the
same act included construction of bridges
or any other private structure or work which
might obstruct or treate hazardous condi-
tions on any navigable waterway. For the
remainder of the period before World War I,
the Mobile District had to survey plans for
all highway and railroad bridges and specify
conditions under which they could be con-
structed, such as draw openings or height.
Those projects approved on the District
level were sent through the Division to the
Chief of Engineers and then to the Secretary
of War. He in turn presented them to Con-
gress for legislative approval. This was
never a major responsibility for the Mobiie
District, most of the work being routine. The
Secretary of War did not always approve
those projects submitted, however. Nearly
160 bridges were submitted nationwide in
1917 and he disapproved 18 of them.

It was during the period 1865-1917 that
the organizational structure and boundaries
of the Mobile District became fairly con-
stant. The records are not clear, but
evidence indicates that the offices of the
District were on the second floor of a build-
ing at the southeast corner of Commerce at
Dauphin Street when the District was
revived in 1870. In 1890 it moved to the
northwest corner of Dauphin Street at Royal.
Again, the office was upstairs. The next
site was 150 St. Francis Street. The office
had moved to rooms 30-36, Young Men’s
Christian Association Building, by 1905. In
1918 it was at 352 Government Street in the
Lowenstein House.

Civil projects were interrupted briefly in
1917 because of the war emergency. They
were to be revived after the war and in the
American climate of isolationism, the Corps
would be primarily concerned with civil proj-
ects between World War I and World War II.



CHAPTER VII:

MILITARY PROJECTS FROM THE CIVIL WAR TO WORLD WAR |

During the Civil War the Mobile District
was within the Confederacy. All work of the
Corps of Engineers was suspended except as
accomplished by engineer officiers attached
to the Union Armies. Engineer officiers were
present during the Battle of Mobile Bay in
1864. General M. D.. McAlester was the offi-
cer in charge in the Alabama, Mississippi,
Louisiana area. He brought a Lieutenant
Burnham and a Lieutenant Allan, Corps offi-
cers, to Mobile Point to participate in the
siege of Fort Gaines and Fort Morgan. Fort
Gaines surrendered on 8 August 1864 and
the next day all materiel seized was trans-
ferred to Pilot Town, passing within two
miles of Fort Morgan. Lieutenants Burnham
and Allan then directed the placement of
guns and men, utilizing trenches left intact
by the Confederates.

Work was initiated at once to repair Fort
Gaines, which was found in excellent condi-
tion. It had been completed by the Confed-
erates fully to the plans and specifications
of the Corps of Engineers. It had been garri-
soned by 818 officers and men; four 10-inch
Columbiads; two 7 inch Brooks rifles; twelve
or fifteen smooth-bores, some 24 inches and
others 32 inches bore; and five or six flank
casemate Howitzers. All the above was sur-
rendered along with an abundant supply of
ammunition and rations for twomonths.l Fort
Gaines had proven weak and ineffective
against both land and naval attacks, and
surrendered when placed in a crossfire be-
tween land forces on the west and Farragut’s
fleet on the east. Fort Morgan was not in
such a good state of repair. It had been
caught in a crossfire between Rear Admiral
D. G. Farragut’s fleet in the Bay and Major
General Gordon Granger’s land forces. Shell-
ing had continued at about thirty minute
intervals during the daylight hours of 11, 12,
13 August 1864. The Chickasaw and the
Winnebago from Farragut’s fleet were shelling
with 11-inch guns and 100 pounder Parrotts.
The Manhattan was shelling with 15-inch
guns. The vessels were at a range of 1,800
to 2,000 yards from Fort Morgan. On 14 August
the land guns were ready to begin shelling
and firing was commenced at 6 o’clock p.m.
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The next day shelling began in earnest.
Additional guns were ready to enter the
shelling 16 August. During the day McAlester
returned from New Orleans with Captain J.W.
Palrey, who was placed in charge of engi-
neering operations. McAlester had thorough
knowledge of Fort Morgan and knew that it
was not bomb-proof in certain areas. Shell-
ing was directed on the basis of that knowl-
edge.

The fort was shelled all night 16 August.
Shelling continued until a storm on19 August
rendered work almost impossible in the latter
part of the night. Little work was accomplish-
ed on 20 August because of stormy weather,
but by 21 August two parallel trenches had
been completed under the direction of Palrey.
He was then ready to begin the Vauban type
of zigzag trench to the fort. In the meantime
the fleet had moved into close range and
was increasing its shelling. About 9 o’clock
p.m. 22 August, fire broke out in the fort and
continued to burn all night. Between the fire
within and the shelling without,the white flag
of surrender was raised about 7 o’clock p.m.
23 August. By this time the fort was a
shambles.?

Notime was lostin rebuilding Fort Morgan
Mobile remained in Confederate hands, and
was destined to do so until the battles of
Spanish Fort and Blakeley. The two battles
ended 9 April 1865 and Mobile was occupied
by Union troops. Fort Morgan was held by
Union forces for some seven months before
the fall of Mobile. It was important, therefore,
to rebuild and rearm the fort at once.

C. M. Fogg, superintendent of the con-
struction and repair, left New Orleans on the
steamer Warrior 5 October 1864 and arrived at
Fort Morgan 9 October. He brought with him
seven carpenters, three masons, and nine
laborers. The Warrior had picked up lumber
and kitchen utensils for the Fort. Captain
D. W. Hall, assistant cngineer, arrived 8
October with additional manpower on the
steamer St. Mary. He brought cement and a
box of hatchets.3

For the next several months

: X ) steamers
arrived frequently from New Orle

ans bringing



men and supplies. During December 1864 and
January 1865 several steamers arrived each
month. Old bricks were being cleaned, masons
were busy laying bricks and other repairs
were being accomplished by carpenters and
laborers.

Word was received 19 April that the war
was over. One hundred guns were fired at
Fort Morgan in honor of the Union victory.
Just two days later a gun salute of a different
nature was staged. Though President Abraham
Lincoln had been shot 14 April and died early
the next morning, news did not reach Fort
Morgan until 21 April. The flag was set at
half mast and guns were fired on the hour
throughout the daylight hours. All work ex-
cept that which was considered absolutely
necessary was suspended for the day.

The end of hostilities had no significant
effect upon efforts to restore the fort although
the urgency no longer existed. Masonry work
was completely suspended for lack of materials
in August. Laborers were engaged in pound-
ing old bricks to use in making concrete in
the absence of gravel. The work progressively
slowed down until it became almost static.
The actual structure was restored during the
next three years, but it was becoming in-
creasingly evident that radical modification,
not restoration, was what was needed. The
old Vauban type of walled structure had lost
its usefulness as a defensive installation.

By 1868 the Corps of Engineers had re-
turned to its normal organizational structure.
No longer were engineers required to accom-
pany armies, so they could return topeace-
time projects. Things were notto be the same
as pre-war Corps functions, however. The
Civil War had brought about great changes in
the economy as well as in the method of war-
fare. Out of the war modern America had
emerged. The war produced the first great
industrialists and foundations had been laid
for the fortunes which were to be accumulated
in the ensuing decades. The nation had be-
come preoccupied with profit making and
the energies of the country were drained off
into areas of great industrial activities. The
post war period saw the rise of such out-
standing figures as John D. Rockefeller and
his Standard Oil Company; Andrew Carnegie
and United States Steel; J. P. Morgan in the
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world of finance. The military projects suf-
fered almost total neglect for nearly three
decades, and it took the Spanish-American
War to shock the American public into action.

A small appropriation was made in 1883 to
protect Fort Morgan from erosion damage. A
heavy gale in February had deepened the
shoreline along the old sea wall and it
threatened to collaspe along its entire
length. A brush and rock apron was laid in
front of the wall.4 This expenditure was
made to protect the site rather than Fort
Morgan. The Fort was considered as having
little military value without radical modifica-
tions, but the site was invaluable. Mobile
Point, the site of Fort Morgan, was just east
of the main ship channel in Mobile Bay. This
channel was in easy reach of guns mounted
on the point making the site the most impor-

tant in defending Mobile and, indirectly, in
protecting the navy yard at Pensacola and

the port of New Orleans from attacks by land
forces.

As the Corps of Engineers became more
insistent in requests for appropriations for
defense construction, Congress developed
arguments against such expenditures. The
Chief Engineer charged as ‘‘reckless’ the
assertion that the underlying motive of the
recommendation for the construction of forts
and batteries was te overawe the cities in
the vicinity of the projects and to use the
need for such defenses as a pretext to en-
large the standing army to destroy the liber-
ties of the citizens. It was pointed out that
the forts as they were envisioned at that time
had almost no defenses on the land side, so
that militia from the cities could easily hold
them until the Regular Army could be dis-
patched to any given site and take over the
defense.

Such forts would require comparatively
few soldiers in peace time, and would, there-
fore, require an increase of only a small
fraction of the current force. In time of war
the United States military system required
that the garrisons of those forts be composed
almost entirely of citizen soldiers. Not only
that, but the forts would be placed as far away
from the cities as the defensive requirements
of the area would permit. The Corps also
noted that the sea coast forts did not sur-



round the cities such as the fortifications
surrounding Paris. Alarmists were pointing
to Paris as a warning against creating a
situation which would lend itself to a mili-
tary takeover. Corps plans called for the
construction of sea coast batteries removed
from the cities and designed to protect
narrow channels leading to the cities such
as the channel in Mobile Bay. It was obvious
that such structures could have no effect in
overawing the cities, increasing the standing
army, or impairing the liberties of the citi-
zens.5 It took an international crisis and
the Spanish-Americanwar to awaken Congress
to the necessity for action.

During the 1890’s Cuba was in a state of
rebellion against the rule of Spain. As the
revolt gained in intensity, it became increas-
ingly evident that the United States might
become involved. If this happened, the Gulf
of Mexico and Caribbean would be the site of
much of the military activity. The Gulf
Coast defenses suddenly took on great signif-
icance. The coasts of the United States were,
for all practical purposes, undefended. Forti-
fications which did exist were obsolete and
the ordnance mounted in the old structures
was entirely incapable of deterring ships
protected by armor plate and armed with
powerful breech-loading rifles as had been
uniformly adopted by all major naval powers.
In 1886 the United States had no designs for
modern guns in the blueprint stage and had
no facility for manufacturing them. The first
step in this recovery was the appointment by
the President in 1886 of a Board on Fortifi-
cations and Other Defenses. This board was
destined to investigate and make recommen-
dations which Congress would heed.®

The first fortification act designed to
carry out the recommendations of the Board
for Fortifications, or Endicott Board, as the
group was called, was approved 22 September
1888. This act created the Board of Ordnance
and Fortification and made appropriations
for commencing the manufacture of modern

seacoast ordnance, but did not include funds
for the construction of any batteries. The

first appropriation for construction of gun and
mortar batteries was contained in an act of
18 August 1890. Each year thereafter appro-
priations for varying amounts were made for
manufacturing of ordnance, construction of
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batteries and torpedo defenses.

Plans were carefully detailed for each
locality and submitted to the Secretary of
War for approval before work was actually
begun. By 1900 the number of localities for
which permanent seacoast defenses had been
adopted had been expanded from the original
twenty-seven to thirty.?

Pensacola Bay, under Major Frederick A.
Mahon, Montgomery District Engineer, had
the most elaborate defense system along the
Gulf Coast. No attempt was made, however,
to rebuild old Fort McRee which had fallen
victim to tides and storms. Two outlying
batteries were constructed instead. They
were Battery Slimmer with two 8-inch guns
and Battery Center with four 3-inch guns.
These were situated to protect the ship
channel into the navy yard and Pensacola
Harbor. The channel was in the process of
being deepened to accommodate the new larg-
er ships of the navy.

No batteries were constructed in the
vicinity of Forts Barrancas and Redoubt,
though the forts were to be occupied by
troops in both World War I and World War II.
Santa Rosa Island was the site most heavily
protected. During the 1890’s eight batteries
were built. This constituted the total built
on that island except for Battery Langdon
first built in 1917 and rebuilt in 1942.

A railroad was constructed from a recently
built 100-foot wharf to serve the batteries.
It was extended to the south beach from which
clean sand was secured for the concrete used
in constructing the batteries. Many minor
repairs and modifications were also accom-
plished to make the Pensacola Bay defense
system modern so as to meet the require-
ments of the time. Artillery troops were sta-
tioned in the area during the Spanish-
American War and for some vears thereafter.

In 1912 the Artillery District of Pensa-
cola was assigned to one battle command
di.vided into three fire commands and one
mine command. The battle commanders were
stationed at Fort Pickens in or near the old
fort. The first fire command was located at
Fort Pickens and consisted of Battery Worth.
The second was also located at Fort\PiCkC"S
and consisted of Battories Pensacola, Cullum



and Cooper. The third was at Fort McRee and
consisted of Batteries Slimmer and Center.
The mine command was located atFort Pick-
ens and consisted of Batteries Van Swearin-
gen, Payne and Truman.8

During much of the period between the
Spanish-American War and World War I, Lieu-
tenant, later Captain, J. E. Turtle was resi-
dent engineer at Pensacola with offices at
Fort Barrancas. He spent most of his time
in routine maintenance. Two major problems
confronted him; one updating the lighting
facilities, especially searchlights. The other
was protecting the Fort Pickens area from
erosion. Currents constantly eroded the west
end of Santa Rosa Island until the fortifica-
tion foundations were endangered. A seawall
was built to protect Fort Pickens in 1910,
and the process was reversed. Rather than
eroding, now the western end of the island
tended to build up so that during the next
sixty years the shoreline was extended
nearly a mile.

Plans for the defense of Mobile Bay were
slower in materializing. The plans were a
part of a defense system recommended by the
Endicott Board. The system was outlined in
the Board’s report dated 16 January 1886,
indicating the localities where defenses were
urgently needed, the character and general
extent of defenses and estimated costs. A
list of twenty-seven principal ports where
defenses were most urgently needed was ar-
ranged in order of their importance with
Mobile listed as number fourteen. The Mobile
District was under the direction of Major
William T. Rossell, assisted by Lieutenant
James Cavanaugh.

Plans called for construction of five bat-
teries of various sizes at Fort Morgan. They
were ultimately constructed and named. The
first, Battery Bowyer, was named for Colonel
John Bowyer, who was stationed at Mobile
Point in 1813, and commanded the fort there
which bore his name.? By 1899 the work
was complete and turned over to the artillery

garrison.

The next work was Battery Duportail, nam-
ed for Major General L. L. Duportail, who was
Chief Engineer from 1777 to 1783. This bat-
tery was armed with two 12-inch breech-
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loading rifles mounted on disappearing
carriages. For these guns, a battery of
massive concrete construction was placed
all the way across old Fort Morgan. It divided
the fort almost in half, but was placed slight-
ly to the back. Upon completion of the
battery, the entire back of the old fort was
filled with sand which was designed to cush-
ion the shock of the firing of the guns and
afford additional protection for them.

A battery designed for two 4.7-inch Arm-
strong rapid fire guns mounted on pedestals
was provided for in an appropriation 9 March
1898. This battery, later named Battery
Thomas, was of simple construction.

Battery Dearborn, named for Major General
Henry Dearborn of the War of 1812 fame, was
armed with eight 12-inch breech-loading
steel mortars. Construction was initiated in
1899. It, like Battery Duportail, was a mas-
sive structure and situated some distance
from the other batteries on the cast. The
guns were placed so as to traverse a broad
segment of the Gulf to the south.

The last of the system was Battery Schenk,
which was armed with three 3-inch guns. The
records concerning this battery are not clear,
but it is listed in an inventory discussed by
a board of officers meeting at Fort Morgan in
July 1917 to review the state of prepared-
ness in the southeast.10 The battery was
named after Brigadier General Robert C.
Schenk, who served with distinction during
the Civil War. The 1917 inventory also noted
an experimental emplacement for a 10-inch
gun on a disappearing carriage, although no
name was ascribed to it.

Since there was so much construction un-
der way due to American involvement in war,
many new buildings were built to facilitate
the work during 1898. One barrack for laborers,
150 feet by 18 feet, was constructed. Other
construction included a tool and store room
50 feet by 20 feet, and an extension to the
cement house 80 feet by 46 feet. The exist-
ing wharf proved too small and inadequate
to accommodate 12-inch guns and carriages
so a new creosote pile wharf 625 feet long,
reaching to the edge of the deep water chan-
nel, was constructed. Materials were pur-
chased on the open market and the work was
done under oral agreement.



Due to war time conditions, the military
requirements were given priority. Badly need-
ed machinery, lumber and other materials
were purchased on the open market and in-
stallation of the guns was expedited. Ar-
rangements were made for the purchase of
gravel, stone, cement, steel work, and
framing lumber for concrete. To supply the
immediate needs, 2,991 barrels of cement
purchased for the improvement of the Tom-
bigbee River, Alabama, was transferred from
McGrews Shoals, where it was in storage, to
Mobile Point.11

During the fiscal year 1897-1898, with
funds allotted by endorsement of the Chief of
Engineers dated 15 June 1897, three case-
mates of Fort Morgan were cleaned and re-
paired for the storage of torpedo material.
One casemate for the smaller and more deli-
cate apparatus was sealed throughout and
fitted with cases and shelves. The casemates
were cleaned, whitewashed, and fitted with
skids for the storage of torpedo cases and
anchors. Torpedo materials were supplied by
the Engineer Depot at Willets Point, New
York, and buoyant mines were transferred
from Charleston, South Carolina.

The Chief of Engineers set aside $1,000
from the appropriation act 9 March 1898 for
the torpedo defense of Mobile. With those
funds and the assistance of a detachment of
engineer soldiers, consisting of one sergeant
and six privates, the entrance to Mobile Bay
was mined as far as available materials
permitted. Dynamite was purchased, cables
and junction boxes put into position and the
mines loaded and planted in place. A search-
light with a 30-inch projector, complete with
a generating plant, was received from the
Engineer Depot at Willets Point, New York.

For firing mines a base line was selected,
and stations were prepared at cach end and
connected with the torpedo casements by
telephone. One station consisted of a small
house sunk in the sand completely concealed
except for an opening toward the mine field.
From those two stations any vessel crossing
the line of mines could be detected and the
information called to the casemate. Three
electricians were employed to care for and
operate the mines. One of them was kept on
duty at the mining casemate at all times.
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Fort Gaines did not receive much consid-
eration during the 1890’s. The Endicott
Board was slow in formulating plans for that
site, and when completed, they were not as
elaborate asthose for Mobile Point. Complet-
ed plans approved by the Chief of Engineers
in 1901 called for two batteries in old Fort
Gaines armed with two 6-inch guns. Those
were mounted in front of and over the case-
mates of the northeast and southeast sides
of the fort. The casemates were sealed off
and were filled completely with sand. There
were two magazines constructed of concrete.
Those batteries were constructed but appear
to never have been equipped according to
plans. Also completed was a small battery
to the north of the fort designed for one 15-
inch Parrott.

There were two projected emplacements
approved by the Chief of Engineers in 1901
which were never constructed. One was
located west of Fort Gaines situated some-
what inland from the shoreline 300 yards
from the eastern tip of Dauphin Island. It
was designed for one 15-inch rapid firing
Parrott. The other was immediately south of
that location and was designed for one 6-inch
rapid firing gun.

Necessary support buildings were included
in the plans such as barracks, officers’ quart-
ers, non-commissioned officers’ quarters,
mess halls, a bakery, and a hospital. Only
two of six buildings were constructed for
officers’ quarters, One of two barracks, one
mess hall and one non-commissioned officers’
quarters were constructed.1?

By 1902, the United States had begun to
forget the Spanish-American War, and there
appeared no other serious threat to the
nation’s security, consequently there was a
decline in interest in military preparedness.
Following the Spanish -American War the
United States repeated the errors of the post-
Civil War era. When war was declared in
1917, the nation was utterly lacking in
,readiness for a great military and industrial
effort. Understanding the complete lack of
American preparedness and imability to re-
tali'flte, Germany launched unrestric‘ted sub-
marine warfare in 1917, believing that the
allied powers could be defeated before the

United States could come to their aid in any



significant strength. Unpreparedness cost
the Americans a fearful price. The inability
of the United States to throw a powerful army
into the conflict without delay prolonged the
war and increased the danger of a German
victory. The United States learned little from
the Spanish-American War. The same lack of
preparedness was present in the 1939-1940
crisis.

There were some projects under the gene-
ral direction of the Mobile District or proj-
ects of great interest to the Corps which
were not of a military nature connected with
the forts. In 1879 a request was submitted to
Secretary of War, Alexander Ramsey, for
permission to use the Fort Morgan Reserva-
tion for a telephone station. The request was
made by Charles A.Holt, who proposed to run
a line up the eastern shore, hence to Mobile.
Justifications cited for such a project includ-
ed communications available in time of war,
convenience for the War Department and use
available to the lighthouse, the Signal Corps,
and the Corps of Engineers.

Conditions under which the Chief of
Engineers endorsed the project were stated
in a communication 8 January 1880. Holt
must agree to vacate the public lands, includ-
ing the telephone lines, at any time the
public interest demanded it. He must erect
no buildings on or near the reservation
without first obtaining permission in writing
from the Secretary of War. It was further
stipulated that any department of the govern-
ment, by its officers, should have use of the
telephone for public purposes without charge
or expense to the United States, its officers,
or agents. Holt concurred, and Captain Dam-
rell, Mobile District Engineer, relayed the
information to the Secretary of War.

The project developed slowly, however,
and the company to furnish the telephone
services was not incorporated until 19 May
1888, in the Probate Court of Mobile County.
Designated the Mobile and Gulf Telephone
Company, the firm listed Charles A. Holt and
Warren A. Anderson as officials. William C.
Endicott, Secretary of War, gave permission
for the company to occupy two rooms at Fort
Morgan as an office and sleeping room.13
Holt then rejected the conditions of the Sec-
retary of War and proposed to establish the
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station outside the reservation. There was
no further reference to the project in the
official records, as it ceased to concern the
Corps of Engineers.14

A project of much more serious considera-
tion was a quarantine station which was then
maintained at Fort Morgan. In 1879 there
were two quarantine stations in the Gulf of
Mexico. One was located at Dry Tortugas off
the tip of Florida, and the other at the east
end at Chandeleur Island just east and
slightly north of the mouth of the Mississippi
River. Both stations were remote from normal
trade lanes used by vessels maintaining
trade with Mobile. Curiously, Havana, Vera
Cruz and a number of other ports were not
required to send their ships by the quarantine
stations, but were permitted to enter Mobile
Harbor directly.

A quarantine station was established at
Fort Morgan at the request of Dr. T.S. Scales,
Health Officer, Port of Mobile. Negotiations
were opened by correspondence sent to the
Secretary of War through the National Board
of Health 12 August 1879. Scales urged that
the Secretary of War authorize the erection of
hospital buildings on the Fort Morgan reser-
vation in accordance with plans and specifi-
cations approved by the National Board of
Health. The Secretary of War authorized the
Mobile Board of Health to proceed.l1® The
entire project was based on an Act of Con-
gress 3 March 1879 which authorized the
organization of a National Board of Health.
The act was expanded 2 June 1879 to autho-
rize cooperation with state and city boards
of health.

For the next decade a station was main-
tained at Fort Morgan in the early summer
and all infected seamen were detained there.
The City of Mobile proclaimed a quarantine
against all ports known or suspected of being
infected with yellow fever. Every vessel
entering the port was required to anchor at a
designated point in lower Mobile Bay, where
it was boarded by a quarantine physician. If
it was not from a quarantined port, it was
then inspected and given a clean bill of
health if no infection was discovered, and
permitted to proceed to Mobile. If the ship
was from a quarantined port, it was required
to remain at anchor for a fixed number of



days and if no infection developed during
that time, it was permitted to enter the port.

Many ships were sent to Ship Island, later
to Chandeleur Island, to quarantine stations
there because of infections. Mobile was saved
from yellow fever infections several times by
this practice. In 1890the quarantine hospital,
authorized in 1879, still had not been built,
but two buildings on the Fort Morgan Reser-
vation had been used by the quarantine phy-
sicians, and sick seamen were sometimes
detained there. During the year 1890 plans
for the establishment of a real quarantine
hospital progressed.

The project met opposition from two
sources. The citizens of Baldwin County
objected because of fear that epidemics
might result from the detention of infected
seamen at Mobile Point. They presented a
petition to the Secretary of War voicing their
opposition. The other source of opposition
came from officials of the Birmingham,
Mobile and Navy Cove Railroad Company.
The company was organized under an act of
the Alabama Legislature 28 February 1887.

The company requested permission to con-
struct docks, warehouses, and tracks for a
terminal on or near the Fort Morgan Reserva-
tion. The purpose of the company was to
construct a railroad which would reach deep
water. The project was promoted on the as-
sumption that a deep channel accommodating
ocean-going vessels would never be dredged
to Mobile Harbor.

By an act of Congress 20 July 1888 the
company was granted the privilege of using
a /fifty-foot strip along the northern high
water line. It was stipulated that a future
Congress could cancel the privilege or the
Secretary of War could annul this concession
at any time the public welfare might dictate.

In 1890, the Quarantine Board of Mobile
requested permission to construct a 1600-
foot pier into Mobile Bay toaccommodate a
proposed hospital and a quarantine plant
which would include a means to thoroughly
disinfect ships headed to Mobile. This
Board was established by the Commercial
Club of Mobile with Gayland B. Clark, Presi-
dent. It was dedicated to provide protection
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of the citizens of Mobile from epidemics and
also for fostering the promotion of trade.
The current quarantine practice delayed ships
and slowed trade. A new modern quarantine
station would expedite matters and cut down

delays.

Thaddeus McNulty, President of the Bir-
mingham, Mobile and Navy Cove Harbor
Railroad, objected to the proposed hospital
and pier.16 McNulty based his objections on
the grounds that the proposed pier and hos-
pital would defeat the purpose of the railroad
company to build a good deep harbor around
which a city would develop. He envisioned a
prosperous business community at Mobile
Point which would become the major port of
the Gulf of Mexico. McNulty further argued
that to permit the construction of the pier
was in violation of the spirit by which the
government *had granted the railroad right-of-
way.

R. H. Clark and H. A. Herbert insisted
that the Quarantine Board already owned the
property where the proposed hospital was to
be constructed. McNulty learned that this
was not so. The Quarantine Board had just
opened condemnation proceedings to secure
title to the land in question, adjoining the
Fort Morgan Military Reservation which had
been set aside by the Secretary of War at the
request of the Chief of Engineers 10 Septem-
ber 1842. Since the land in question was
outside the Reservation, it appeared that it
should be settled by the Quarantine Board
and the railroad company without the Federal
Government becoming involved.

In the course of the dispute the use of
facilities which had been made available to
the Mobile Board of Health in 1879 was re-
voked. Mobile now had no adequate means of
quarantine protection, and during the next
few months both yellow fever and small pox
had infected Mobilians, having come to the
city from vessels out of Cuba.

In defensc of its project, officials of the
railroad company submitted a prospectus to
the Corps of Engineers. It was noted that
ships took on only one-fourth of their load
at Mobile and then traveleg twenty-eight



miles to a point near Fort Morgan to complete
the load at sea. The increased cost was some
$500 over what it would cost if loading could
be accomplished at wharfs at Mobile Point.
An estimated one-third of the cost and two

thirds of the time would be saved if a rail-
road to deep water could be constructed. The
company further noted that cotton exports from
Mobile had dropped from 810,000 bales in
1860 to 45,000 in 1890. Reason for the
decline was the improvement of the Missis-
sippi River by the construction of the Eads’
Jetties at the mouth of the river. Mobile, it
was argued, should carry at least twenty-five
per cent of all United States cotton exports.

In addition to cotton the oyster beds near
Fort Morgan yielded 200,000 barrels of oys-
ters annually without cultivation. Fish banks
of the Gulf yielded pompano, red snapper,
and mackerel. Tropical fruits should come to
Mobile rather than New Orleans. Iron ore
could be imported from Cuba to be processed
with use of Alabama coal. Company officials
saw Mobile Point peninsula as ideally situat-
ed to become a great trade center and resort
city. It was noted that already large numbers
visited the beaches by way of boats from
Mobile.17
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The railroad company could not get its
project underway, and in 1897, ten years
after the company was organized, W. P.
Craighill, Chief of Engineers, recommended
that the privilege to use the military reserva-
tion property be annulled. He pointed out
that Mobile had been placed fourteenth in the
nation in terms of defense importance. By
this time the plans for modernizing the
defenses of Mobile Point were being imple-
mented and the space granted the railroad
company was needed to carry out defense
operations. Secretary of War Daniel S.
Lamont, concurred. The railroad was not
constructed, and the great dreams of a city
on the peninsula never materialized.

A quarantine station was never constructed
or operated on aslarge a scale as the Quaran-
tine Board had hoped and projected. Upon the
request of H. A. Herbert, District Engineer,
and concurred in by the Chief Engineer, the
former facilities were again made available
to the Quarantine Board, and previous proce-
dures were continued. To avoid further dis-
putes concerning the property, however, an
additional tract of 171.5 acres was added to
the military reservation in 1906.18



CHAPTER VIII:
THE INTRACOASTAL WATERWAY

The Mobile District of the Corps of Engi-
neers was extremely active in civil projects
between World War I and World War II, but the
work was much less spectacular. No great
fortifications were built and national defense
projects were almost non-existent. The Mobile
District was primarily engaged in river and
harbor improvements. This was usually in
the form of widening and deepening harbors
and waterways, accomplished by floating
dredges. The District engineers were referred
to derisively by some as the “mud pumpers.”
The work of the Mobile District from the turn
of the century to the opening of World War II
has been called the “mud-pumping era.”1

The area comprising the present Mobile
District was still divided between the Mobile
and Montgomery Districts. District Engineers
were transferred frequently; seven serving
the Montgomery District between 1918 and its
merger with the Mobile District in 1933. The
civil boundaries of the Mobile District were
established at the time of this merger. It then
extended to the wvicinity of Tallahassee,
Florida, and included most of the western
portion of Georgia; a limited area in south-
eastern Tennessee; all of Alabama except
the Tennessee River Valley, and most of
Mississippi. The boundaries conform basi-
cally to river systems. The military district
boundaries were destined to change con-
‘siderably during and after World War II.

While this was an era of less dramatic
projects, certain significant accomplish-
ments should be noted. This period saw the
completion of the Mobile District section of
the Intracoastal Waterway. The multi-
purpose dams of the Mobile District were
constructed after World War II, but projects
were initiated before the war which fore-
shadowed the later accomplishments.

A less dramatic accomplishment of the
District during the depression years was
the employment of many engineers and sub-
professionals. The Corps offered employment
at a time when there was little demand for
engineers in private industry and other areas.
Many were attracted to the Mobile District
and became career employees. Many persons
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‘'The project was

employed during the depression years were
scheduled for retirement during the 1970’s.
They have proven invaluable to the Corps
during its most active and demanding
period, the World War II period and the space
age.

The completion of the Intracoastal Water-
way was the greatest project during the era
between the great wars. The project affords
a protected coastal water route along the
Atlantic and Gulf of Mexico coasts of the
United States. It has made it possible for

commercial tows and other light-draft
vessels to move safely along the coasts

from Massachusetts to the Mexican border,
except for a few gaps which remain to be
improved. The project has been accom-
plished piecemeal and over a long period
of time. That segment which falls within the
Mobile District extends from Carrabelle,
Florida, to Lake Borgne in Louisiana. The
length of the improved route is 344 miles.
improved to provide a
channel 9 feet deep and 100 feet wide,
but it was enlarged during World War II
to 12 feet deep and 125 feet wide, except
from Mobile to New Orleans, where it was
widened to 150 feet.

The first appropriation for the waterway
in the Mobile District was made in 1828.2
Though projects discussed below have been
introduced in earlier chapters on civil proj-
ects, they are reviewed here. The concept
of a continuous waterway constructed as a
single project was never funded. Each seg-
ment has been justified and funded as need
to connect certain points became pressing.

The Gulf of Mexico is subject to severe
and sudden storms, creating real danger for
small craft which venture into open waters.
The early settlers used the many bays and
sounds along the coast for protection. Water
transportation was especially important
since other modes of transportation were
slow to develop because of the marshy
nature of most of the coastal country.
L{:\kes Borgne and Pontchartrain and
Mississippi Sound afforded protection from
New Orleans to Mobile except for Pass au



Heron at Mobile Bay. Ships which could
navigate in the inland route to Pass au
Heron were forced to go into the open Gulf
at Dauphin Island increasing danger and,
therefore, insurance rates.

Congress appropriated $28.000 in 1828
for the improvement of Pass au Heron, but
several years of effort were finally declared
a failure and the project was abandoned. In
1839 Captain John Grant was given a monop-
oly on the pass. He improved the channel
and began charging a toll. This did enable
ships to avoid the increased risk of the open
waters.

The Topographical Engineers made sur-
veys in 1826 3 with the view of connecting
Mobile Bay and Pensacola Bay by canal,
but the project was not funded. Captain Wil-
liam Chase surveyed all the channels and
islands between Mobile and New Orleans in
1830. He charted the best route for naviga-
tion between the two points and marked
sites for needful lighthouses and buoys.
Another survey was made between Mobile
Bay and Pensacola Bay in 1833, and still
another in 1852. The latter expanded the sur-
vey across the Florida Peninsula with the
hope of connecting the Gulf of Mexico and
the Atlantic. Sectional strife precluded any
such major project for the next few years
and then the Civil War resulted in further
delays.

Citizens of Savannah, Georgia, had hopes
of securing a portion of the Mississippi River
commerce for that port city.4 The mayor and
the Savannah Chamber of Commerce urged in
1873 that the project for an intracoastal
waterway connecting New Orleans and Savan-
nah be reviewed. Captain A. N. Damrell,
District Engineer, Mobile District,® reacted
to the surveys in a report dated 19 September
1873. Damrell suggested that a route through
Mobile District was feasible from an engi-
neering point. From the New Orleans District
boundary in the west to Apalachicola in the
east there were numerous bays and sounds
which could be connected by canals.

He predicted, however, that such aproj-
ect would be a financial failure. As long as
the ports of New Orleans and Mobile remain-
ed open, he could see no need for an intra-
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coastal waterway through the Mobile District
unless it had a terminus at a good harbor on
the Atlantic coast. Damrell’s report appeared
in the 1876 Annual Report of the Chief of
Engineers along with one by Captain C. M.
Howell, District Engineer, New Orleans Dis-
trict. Howell saw no advantage in opening a
route which would terminate at Savannah. It
was preposterous, he said, to think that
Savannah could draw any portion of the com-
merce of the Mississippi River, either import
or export, over such a waterway. As long as
the Port of New Orleans remained open, he
saw no commercial value in a waterway which
crossed the Florida Peninsula.

If, on the other hand, in time of war a
hostile fleet blocked the Gulf of Mexico
ports, an inland water route would be invalu-
able. He could justify the project, then, on
military, but not on commercial grounds.®

The next appropriation of the Mobile Dis-
trict was authorized in 1910, when two seg-
ments were approved. The River and Harbor
Act of 25 June 1910 authorized a five-foot
channel at mean low tide 65 feet wide from
the Apalachicola River to St. Andrew Bay. It
further authorized a 6-foot channel with no
reference to width from Choctawhatchee Bay
to Pensacola Bay. From this beginning the
waterway was accomplished all the way
across the Mobile District.

When the channel from Apalachicola River
to St. Andrew Bay was initiated by a survey
accomplished in 1909 and authorized in 1910,
little change had taken place since Lieutenant
W. G. Williams surveyed the area in 1833.7
After considerable discussion it was decided
that Apalachicola River would be connected
with Panama City on St. Andrew Bay. Port
St. Joe, a good natural harbor, was another
possibility, but marshes reached far into the
interior above Port St. Joe, and it would be
more difficult to establish rail connections
with that port. Panama City had relative high
ground toward the interior, making it more ac-
cessible. It was determined that that port was
a more practical terminus for the project.8

The swampy terrain through which the
survey party worked was infested with
bears, panthers, alligators and poisonous
reptiles. Rubber boots, snake bite kits, and



side arms were an essential part of each
man’s equipment.9

Work on the channel began in 1911 and
was completed to the required dimensions
in 1915. Cost of the project was $505,000.
Though this channel was only five teet deep
and 65 feet wide, it was later enlarged to
nine feet in depth and 100 feet wide.

During the Civil War, Grant’s Pass fell
into disrepair and vessels navigating Mis-
sissippi Sound were forced to take the
longer, more dangerous open water route at
increased insurance rates. A project was
authorized in 1913 to improve the pass,
accomplishing a 10-foot by 100-foot channel.
The work was completed in 1914. The chan-
nel was 1ncreased to a 300-foot width in
1930.10

One after another of the segments were
approved until the entire project was com-
pleted. The section from Mobile Bay to
Pensacola Bay was completed in 1936. That
from Choctawhatchee Bay to West Bay,
Florida, was finished in 1938. Most of the
work was routine and was accomplished by
use of floating dredges. The latter mention-
ed channel did present some unique prob-
lems. The channel started at the 10-foot
contour in West Bay, where the ground
elevation gradually increased to zero at a
point about seven miles west, where the new
channel left West Bay Creek. There was a
rapid increase from that point until an ele-
vation of approximately 40 feet above mean
low tide was reached about 15 miles west
of the West Bay starting point. It continued
at that elevation for about four miles and
then gradually decreased to zero at Tucker
Bayou. The 10-foot depth was reached about
three miles out in Choctawhatchee Bay.
This means that for approximately four miles
the banks of the channel would be about 50
feet from the 40-foot elevation to the bottom
of the 10-foot channel. The soil was almost
pure sand. The cut was made with hydraulic
pipeline dredges working under contract be-
tween the Corps and Sternberg Dredging
Company of St. Louis and the Shell Pro-
ducers Company of Tampa, Florida. Stern-
berg’s dredge Duplex worked westward
from West Bay and Shell Producer’'s dredges,
Punta Gorda and Tennessee worked east-
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ward from Choctawhatchee Bay. As they
moved into the higher elevations, thé sand
did not slope off uniformally. It frequently
stood in an almost vertical position and then
suddenly caved in. The ladder and forward
part of the hull of the dredges stood in dan-
ger of being covered by the sand, resulting
in loss of much time.

A simple solution to the problem was
found. When the dredges had advanced into
the land cut, a dam of earth was constructed
across the channel. All the water discharged
by the dredges together with seepage and
water from natural drains created a reservoir
which raised the dredges to an elevation
where the danger from caving sand was of
no serious threat to the machinery. This al-
so made shore connections much easier and
prevented much of the bank erosion from
discharged water rushing back into the chan-
nel. When needed, additional water was
pumped into the pools from the channel be-
hind the dams.11

The original cut was made by Shell Pro-
ducers Company’s small dredge followedby
a larger dredge, providing a greater depth.
The water level was then lowered and a
second cut made by each dredge. Finally
the dams were removed and the water was
permitted to find its natural level. Then both

contractors made their final clean-up cut.l?

Another problem developed as a result of
the elevation and the sandy nature of the
soil. Several natural drains had been cross-
ed, and they now discharged into the newly
cut channel. The flowline elevations of
those drains were much higher than the
water level of the channel and rapid erosion
of the canal banks began at once. The chan-
nel was opened in April 1938, and it was
evident at once that some system of protec-
tion had to be devised to prevent the exces-
sive shoaling at the mouth of the drains.
Levees were built between the structures to
protect the banks. After considerable
difficulty, the erosion ceased. and it appear-

ed that the erosion control protective system
was effective.

‘ In 1944, however, it was noted that the
inlet pipe had worn through in numerous
places and at mile 263 the south bank fail-
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ed and materials from the dam partially
blocked the canal. Repairs had been almost
completed on 10 September 1944, but
between 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 a.m. the next
day, about seven and one-half inches of
rain fell in the area. The soil was already
saturated from previous showers, and could
absorb little of this rain. As a result of the
excessive run-off, three of the control
structures were destroyed and the levee
broke in two places. The channel was com-
pletely blocked to traffic. The Texas O0il
Company tug Houma was trapped in the
shoal. Sand washed in around the tug and
on 11 September the boat was 30 feet from
the nearest water. The tug was equipped
with a two-way radio telephone and soon
made its plight known. The dredges Wahalak
and Pascagoula and the draglines No. 1 and
No. 2 were dispatched to clear the channel,
this being especially urgent because of the
war-time demands for the movement of
petroleum. On 24 September the channel was
restored. The tug Houma had been trapped in
an upright position, so there was no damage
to boat or crew. A more adequate erosion
control system was designed and completed
in 1946, thus removing danger of any future
damage even during excessive rainfall.13

By the opening of World War II the water-
way was complete along the 344-mile Mobile
District section. The channel was increased
to 12 by 125 feet to accommodate increased
demand of war-time traffic. Though the
terminus was at Carrabelle, Florida, a re-
mote, relatively insignificant port, the
Intracoastal Waterway was extremely impor-
tant. Because of a petroleum shortage in the
East, pipelines were laid by the Government
from Carrabelle to Jacksonville, Florida,
and Chattanooga, Tennessee. Because of
the operation of German submarines in the
Gulf of Mexico, it was determined to trans-
port gasoline and other petroleum products
by barge and pipelines to prevent the dan-
gers of the open sea lanes experienced by
the oil tankers.!4 Barges delivered the
petroleum to Carrabelle and it was piped to
the other distribution centers.

The increased dimensions were begun in
December 1942 and were completed in 1943
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at a cost of $2,957,975. It was accomplish-
ed by private dredging companies under con-
tract and by Corps dredges. This expendi-
ture brought the cost of the 344-mile water-
way to $5,880,467.

The commercial use of the facility
greatly exceeded the forecasts used in the
survey reports to justify the project. The
Mobile District section connected with the
New Orleans District at Lake Borgne in
Louisiana and constituted a segment of
a waterway which now extended from Carra-

belle, Florida, to Brownsville, Texas.
The last link of this system approved
was the Mobile Bay to Pensacola Bay

segment. It was justified on the basis that
the facility would carry 197,000 tons of
traffic annually. During the war the peak
annual traffic exceeded 4,000,000 tons.l5
Cargo has included petroleum products, iron
and steel, coal, sulphur, and in more recent
years, much pulpwood. Many other items in
lesser quantities have also been transported
by way of the facility.

In addition to transportation of cargo, the
waterway 1is an ideal route for pleasure
craft, affording protection from the turbulent
waters of the open Gulf throughout the
greater portion of its length. It also tra-
verses one of the most scenic sections of
the country, including many bays, bayous
and lagoons which abound in numerous
species of game fish. Added to those facts
is the year round mild climate which makes
it one of the favorite routes for fishermen
and yachtsmen.

While the Intracoastal Waterway was
receiving primary attention, the Mobile
District was busy improving and maintaining
river and harbour channels. Beginning with
the St. Marks River, Florida, the rivers and
harbours across the district to Pearl River
in the west were kept open through dredging
and snagging. The Alabama and Coosa
Rivers in Alabama and Georgia were improv-
ed by a system of locks and dams and open-
ed to navigation to Rome, Georgia. By the
opening of World War II, the improvements
were simply being secured with no projected
future improvements. By 1930, railroads,



trucks and bridges had just about ended
river transportation except for barges on the
more important rivers. In 1939, there were
only two small privately owned terminal
facilities in Rome, and none in Gadsden,
Alabama. Use of the channel of the Coosa
River did not justify further expenditures
for the time being.16

The Black Warrior, Warrior and Tombigbee
Rivers were very much in use and projects
were initiated to update those facilities. One
project was the Sunflower Bend cut-off. A
cut of 1.4 miles would cut several miles
distance from the previous route. It was
further projected to raise dam 17 an addition-
al 12 feet by constructing crest gates on the
dam. A new lock and dam was projected to
replace locks and dams numbers 10, 11 and
12. The new facility was to be constructed
in the vicinity of Tuscaloosa. This was the
beginning of a program which included a
system of modern locks and dams for the
entire system, but one which would be
accomplished after World War I[.17 This
project foreshadowed the construction of the
great multiple-purpose dams after the war.
The entire concept of dam construction
was revolutionized during the 1930’s.
Electric power and flood control became as
important a consideration as navigation.
With the passage of the Flood Control Act,
28 August 1937, amended in 1939 aund in
194118 rivers were surveyed and projected
in their entirety. These two considerations,
hydro-electric power and flood control, were
destined to give a tremendous boost to the
Corps’ civil projects in the future, with
recreational facilities an important second-
ary consideration.
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The late 1930’s saw the emergence of an
organizational structure not unlike that of
the Corps currently. In 1939 the Mobile
District consisted of a River Division,
a Harbor Division and an Engineering Divi-
sion. There were administrative support
units for personnel, finance, cost, procure-
ment, reproduction and real estate. The
Engineering Division was the most complex
with Engineering, Reports, Design, Drafting,
Survey and Discharge Sections. The Dis-
charge Section was later changed to Flood
Control. The Mobile District was within the
Southeastern Division of the Corps.

The top ranking civilian engineer was a
Principal Engirieer at $5,200 per year.
Associate Engineers received $3,200 per
year. Engineering at the journeyman level
was performed at $2,600 and $2,000 levels.
While this appears low pay by later compar-
ison, there was no widespread complaint at
the time. The depression was subsiding and
things looked brighter.19

The professional skills required of Corps
engineers on the eve of World War II were
those pertaining mainly to design of
hydraulic structures. There was a lesser
demand for mechanical and electrical engi-
neers. A revolution was taking place in the
concepts of dam construction, however, and
many studies were underway on navigation,
flood control and hydropower development
projects. No one could anticipate the tre-
mendous demands which were about to be
thrust upon the Mobile District with the com-
ing of the war. The era of ‘‘mud pumping”’
gave way dramatically and suddenly to an
era of military projects, only to be over-

shadowed, in turn, by the demands of the
areospace age.20



CHAPTER IX:

THE GREAT WAR: 1939-1945

Following World War 1 the American
people thought the United States could
avoid future involvement in wars with major
powers. Congress and the Presidents re-
flected this sentiment for fifteen years
following 1921. As a result only a mini-
mum of defensive military strength was
maintained. The United States was active
in international diplomacy in seeking to pro-
mote international peace and limitations of
armaments. National policies did not change
significantly until the eve of World War II.

Under the leadership of Chief of Staff
General George C. Marshall and Secretary
of War, Henry L. Stimson, the Army embark-
ed on a large expansion program in the
summer of 1940. This program was designed
to protect the Western Hemisphere against
any hostile forces from the Old World. After
the fall of France in June 1940, the Amer-
ican people gave full support to the prepar-
edness program though still strongly
opposed to entering the War. They were now
convinced that the United States was in
real danger, both from Germany and Japan.
Between May and October 1940, Congress
appropriated over $8 billionl for the Army’s
succeeding year. This was more than the
support given to all military services during
the preceding twenty years. The munitions
program called for procurement of equipment
by October 1941 sufficient to maintain a
1,000,000 man force. This force was to in-
clude a greatly enlarged and modernized
Army Air Corps.

On 27 August 1940, Congress approved
the induction of the National Guard and the
calling up of the Organized Reserves. This
was followed by the historic peace-time
Selective Service and Training Act of 14
September 1940. Units of the Nationgl Guard
and Reserve Officers entered §erv1ces as
rapidly as the Army could provide housing
for them. During the last six months of 1949,
the active Army more than doubled in
strength and by mid-1941 the planned
strength of 1,500,000 officers gnd men had
been achieved. A new organization, General

65

Headquarters, assumed command of the
training program in July 1940. The Mobile

District was deeply involved in the program
by mid-1940.

New airfields, depots and training
facilities were needed for the fast-growing
Army Air Force. Because of climatic condi-
tions® which permitted year-round training
and other favorable flying conditions, most
of the training bases were located in the
southern United States, with many being
established within the boundaries of the
Mobile District. Construction of those fa-
cilities was undertaken by the Army Quarter-
master Corps.

Because of the magnitude of the respon-
sibilities of the Quartermaster Corps,
airfield construction was transferred to the

Army Corps of Engineers in November 1940.
In December 1941 responsibility for all
military construction for the Army was trans-
ferred to the Corps.?

This new area of responsibility had an
immediate effect on every aspect of the
Mobile District. Previous responsibilities
did not require many skills now necessary
for the District to meet its new tasks.
Among the new skills needed were archi-
tects, structural specialists, pavement spe-
cialists, heating and ventilating engineers,
sanitation engineers, specification writers,
and petroleum specialists. It was necessary
to recruit those from private industry or
from other governmental organizations. Many
recruits for those responsibilities were
those holding Army Reserve commissions
who were simply called up for active duty
and placed in positions of their specialty.3

Considerable reorganization was neces-
sary. A new engineering unit, the Airfields
(later military) Sub-Division was created.
Other aspects of the District were re-
oriented to meet a task of tremendous magni-
tude, foreign to District experience, to be
accomplished in a brief time. All civil
responsibilities were discontinued or sub-
ordinated to military requirements. Accom-



plishments were amazing, both in scope and
in time required. Between December 1940
and 31 December 1943, the District com-
pleted military construction which had cost
$833,963,000.

In addition to this new responsibility,
the District was given expanded coastal
defense duties. Because the New Orleans
District had developed only limited military
construction capability, the Mobile District
was given coastal defense projects from the
mouth of the Mississippi River eastward to
include the Gulf Coast to the St. Marks
River. All military construction of the
Vicksburg District and that in Tennessee
was also assigned to the Mobile Office.4

In this age of air power, the traditional
coastal defense system of forts and batteries
had little place, but the Gulf of Mexico
brought the European war close to American
shores. The Port of New Orleans was second
in the nation, and of tremendous importance
in the defense program. There was a ship-
yard in New Orleans, one in Memphis,
Tennessee, and too many defense plants and
installations directly supporting the war
effort to mention located along the Mis-
sissippi River system. New Orleans was also
a port of debarkation. It became evident
early in the War that the Gulf of Mexico at
the mouth of the river was a prime area for
enemy submarine operations. Several ships
were destroyed just as they emerged from
the river channel into open waters.

A tight blanket of security was spread
across the river delta area and the Mobile
District constructed temporary gun mounts
and observation towers in 1942 to combat
the submarine menace. There were also
shipyards at Pascagoula, Mississippi, two
in Mobile and one in Panama City, Florida.
The Pensacola Navy Yard and Naval
Aviation Training Center made that city a
prime target. Temporary gun mounts were
constructed to protect each of those loca-
tions.

There was only one exception to the
temporary gun mounts constructed in this
system of defense, Battery Langdon on
Santa Rosa Island, Florida. This massive
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casemated battery was constructed to give
protection against an invasion from the
Gulf. The gun mounts permitted onlyalim-
ited sweep of protection. There was con-
siderable doubt about the practicality of the
project from the beginning. Just as the
project was completed, word was received
to construct all such batteries with a 360
degree gun sweep. Singapore batteries had
just fallen, having been attacked from the
landside and Battery Landon had no land-
side gun support, but, fortunately, it was
never needed for actual defense.

The Port of Mobile was extremely im-
portant for reasons other than the shipyards.
Brookley Field was constructed on Mobile
Bay and a large percentage of the national
requirements of alumina used in the manu-
facture of aluminum, certain abrasives,
ceramics, electrical insulation, refractories
and other items was manufactured by Alcoa
in Mobile. Mobile was, in addition, a brisk
trade center served by rail, air and water
transportation facilities. The city engaged
in vast foreign and domestic trade. The
newly constructed State Docks greatly
facilitated the trade. It was easy, therefore,
for the local population to assume that
Mobile was a prime target for enemy activity,
and to believe any rumor concerning such.

Since tight security regulations were
maintained and strict censorship of news
relative to military activities was imposed,
it was impossible to separate fact and un-
founded rumor. It was known that submarines
operated in the Gulf of Mexico, however, and
rumors that Germans frequently came ashore
to make purchases were readily believed.
When it was rumored that a submarine had
been captured off Mobile Bay with fresh
bread from the local Smith’'s Bakery and that
a copy of the current Mobile Register were

found on board, it was generally accepted
as fact.

It became public knowledge that a very
large French tanker, the Scheherazade,
was destroyed just bevond the Sand Island
Light off Mobile Bay early in 1942. Also in
the spring or summer of 1942 three lifeboats
were towed into Pensacola Harbor loaded
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with the crew of a U. g. freighter which had
been sunk at some undisclosed area in the
Gulf of Mexico. The crewmen were badly
sunburned and appeared to have been on the
water for several days.5

A war-time atmosphere had settled upon
the Mobile District early in 1942. There were
apprehensions about prospective invasions
or air attacks, and the Safety Beacon carried
articles on how to drive during a black-out
and how to conduct oneself during an air
raid. There was also a great upsurge of
patriotism and participation in bond drives.
There were longer work days and work weeks
as the District geared itself to meet the
demands of total war.

Colonel Ludson D. Worsham (1941-1942)
was District Engineer when Pearl Harbor
was attacked 7 December 1941, and led the
District through the transition to a total
war operation. Before the attack all dis-
trict officers had worn civilian clothes, but
on 8 December 1941 they reported for work
in uniform. It was during Worsham’s tenure
that the Corps offices, formerly scattered
among several buildings, were brought to-
gether at the new temporary construction
type office complex on Airport Boulevard.6
This was destined to be the home of the
Mobile District for over thirty years before a
permanent, modern office building was approv-
ed for construction in downtown Mobile, but
still not built at the time of this writing.

It was also during the tenure of Colonel
Worsham that Brookley Field, Southeast Air
Deport, Air Material Command, was expand-
ed. Brookley Field was initiated by Colonel
Willis E. Teale, District Engineer, 1940-1941;
and Colonel Worsham’s predecessor. The
project was placed under the direction of
Major George J. Zimmerman early in 1942
as field engineer. Brookley Field .proved
to have been the most important project of
the war as far as economic impact on the
Mobile community was concerned, and was
destined to continue until the latter years

of the 1960’s.

succeeded by

Colonel Worsham Wwas
who

Colonel Doswell Gullatt (1942-1943),
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directed the District during the tremendous
increase in the military workload. He was a
native of Sinsboro, Louisiana, a graduate
of Marion Military Institute, Marion, Alabama,
and a 1918 graduate of West Point. The
wealth of military engineering experience
during his long career with the Corps of
Engineers qualified him for much needed
services overseas and he was transferred in
1943. He was later officially cited for his
services in the operation of an Allied supply
port at Antwerp, Belgium, then designated
the 13th post.?

Colonel Gullatt was succeededby Lieuten-
ant Colonel Herbertl. Collins, the only civi-
lian ever to have been appointed to the posi-
tion of District Engineer. His tenure (1943-
1945) was unique in two ways. First, it was
directed by a civilian; and second, it was a
period of peak accomplishment and expendi-
tures.

Collins came to the position well quali-
fied. He was described in 1942 as having
held every designation available to a civil-
ian engineer in the Mobile District. He had
progressed from the designation of Recorder
to Principal Engineer, the highest designa-
tion available to a civilian in the District.
He had also held positions other than those
specifically identified with the engineering
profession. He had ‘‘a knowledge of the
work that is very seldom found in any one
official.’’8

He was commissioned a Lieutenant
Colonel shortly after World War II opened
and was assigned District Engineer in June
of 1943. After the close of the European
conflict when regular Army officials were
again available, Collins was succeeded
by Colonel Mark M. Boatner, Jr., but was
designated chief executive assistant. He
was later restored to his former status as
principal  civilian assistant.? Colonel
Boatner, decorated many times for his out-
standing services in the Italian campaign
and elsewhere, guided the District through
the period of adjustment to a peace-time
operation.

Colonel Boatner was well suited to lead
the District during this period of transition



from a military atmosphere to civilian orient-
ed programs. He had a dynamic and colorful
personality, but approached his task in a
most non-militaristic fashion. He was far
less concerned with military regulations than
had been traditionally true of District Engi-
neers. With the nation out of the conflict
and determined to return to a peace-time
society, he was a refreshing leader.10’

The construction projects of those war
years were largely of a temporary construc-
tion type designed to be used only for a
limited time. This was true of Army and

Army Air Corps camps, prisoner of war
camps, some hospitals, ordnance works,
and numerous other projects, including

temporary housing to accommodate workers
in areas of concentration of projects. In
1950, the Engineering Division listed only
twenty permanent military installations in
the District despite the fact that nearly 300
construction projects had been accomplish-
ed.l11l  Because of the temporary nature of
the construction and the assumption that
the military build-up would last only for
the duration of the War, World War II projects
were destined to have far less lasting im-
pact on the Mobile District than those of the
Korean Crisis which opened in 1950.

Not only were the World War II respon-
sibilities the greatest ever imposed upon
the District, but they had to be accomplished
under adverse circumstances. There was a
great shortage of manpower and materials.
Persons possessing skills could improve
their salaries by moving from one job to
another. Since much of the work was accom-
plished on a cost-plus-fixed-fee basis,
there was a tendency for contractors to pay
whatever salaries were necessary to secure
the skills needed. Contractors were also
under great pressure to meet deadlines and
they had to secure skilled laborers. Order
and stability were finally established by
freezing people on their jobs, by vagrancy
laws which required all able-bodied men to
be gainfully employed, and by employing
women in many areas which were formerly
filled by men.

Women became welders in shipyards and
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were employed as truck and bus drivers,
and in many other areas formerly reserved
for or tradionally filled by men. Despite the
tremendous drainage on manpower by the
large number of men and women in uniform,
production capacity continued to increase
throughout the war and productive ability
was still on the increase at the end of the
war.

The shortage of materials was a more
serious problem, but somehow the necessary
resources were acquired to accomplish the
tasks. Transportation facilities were over-
taxed and the demands of war created a
shortage of petroleum products, rubber,
and other items of civilian consumption.
Rationing, restriction of unnecessary travel,
abolition of sports events and many types
of public recreation, and giving strict prior-
ity to military needs in every area of nation-
al life enabled the nation to meet the
demands of the occasion.

Construction projects included complex
training camps such as Camp Shelby, Miss-
issippi, which developed a capacity for
90,000 troops. There were many others of
considerable magnitude. With the time ele-
ment of utmost importance, the Mobile
District, of necessity, resorted to cost-
plus-fixed-fee contracts to accomplish some
of its responsibilities.

Most of the construction was of a routine
nature from an engineering point of view:
that is, the same type of barracks were
built all over the nation. There were few
problems of design and technology, and once
completed, the projects were turned over to
the Using Agency and the Corps assumed no
further responsibility unless expansion or
modification was required. The great prob-
lems came from the necessity for speed
and the difficulty in securing materials and
labor.

The Mobile District did engage in two
unique operations not generally known to
the public. One was the construction
of bacteriological warfare rescarch facili-
ties on Cat Island off the Mississippi coast
and the other was the firing of the first
missile to have been fired in America.
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The Cat Island project was classified
and those responsible for construction were
given no information concerning the use to
be made of the facility. They simply follow-
ed the blueprints and constructed cages and
corrals to accomodate a variety of animals,
and research laboratories. That project,
like so many others of the District, proved
to have been temporary. How much it was
utilized is not known, but it was abandoned
at the close of the war.

The missile firing was a single event
operation. One of Germany’s first missiles
employed in warfare was the Vengance
Weapon one or V-1, popularly called the
buzz-bomb. It was 25 feet, 4 inches long
and was capable of carrying one ton of
explosives. It could go 150 miles at a
speed of 360 miles an hour. A magnetic com-
pass and clock mechanism controlled the
flight of the V-1. After a preset distance
had been covered, the clock locked the
missile’s elevators and diverted it into the
ground. Defense fighter planes shot down
the V-1's rather easily because of their
rather slow speed. A V-1 and its launching
tube was captured in Paris in 1944, and was
transported to Santa Rosa Island for testing.
During the next few weeks, engineers of the
Mobile District were assigned the task of
making blueprints so that copies of the
missile could be made for experimental pur-
poses and assisted in the firing of models.
The Special Weapons Division of the Army
directed the operation assisted by Eglin
Field. Blueprints were made of all parts and
flown to Washington where they were manu-
factured. Missiles were assembled, launch-
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ing tubes were made, and some 15 missiles
were tested.

The launching tube, between 250 and
300feet, had a slit on the top and the missile
rode a carriage propelled by hydrogen per-
oxide provided by the Aberdeen Ordance
Plant. The first attempted firing failed. The
missile tell from the tube, and there was
fear of an explosion. All told, about one-
third of those attempted were successfully
fired. Some exploded on the firing range, but
there were no injuries.12

The Germans began use of the more
terrifying rocket-propelled V-2 in September
1944. 1t was produced under the direction of
Wernher Von Braun, who came to the United
States after the war as technical advisor for
the U. S. Army. His career was destined to
be pursued in the Mobile District.

Japan surrendered to the United States
aboard the USS Missouri in Tokyo Bay on 2
September 1945, and World War II had ended.
The Mobile District entered a new type of
responsibility, that of demobilization.

Air bases, Army camps, Ordnance plants,
Prisoner of War camps, United Service
Organization facilities (USO), hospitals,
depots, warehouses, and numerous other
facilities so recently completed under trying
conditions were phased out. The Mobile
District was engaged in preparing separa-
tion centers, National Guard and Organized
Reserve facilities and other military respon-
sibilities. The real area of responsibility
was civil projects which were tremendously
expanded at the end of the war.



CHAPTER X:

THE KOREAN CRISIS AND AFTER

The United States did not return to iso-
lationism following the close of World Warll.
The oceans no longer afforded real protec-
tion. The United States could not ignore the
necessity of a balance of power in Europe
and Asia, and the role it must play in main-
taining this balance. Great hopes were
placed in the United Nations organization
formed in San Francisco in 1945 to establish
and maintain a program of collective securi-
ty for the world.

The fifty nations which signed the United
Nations Charter agreed to employ ‘‘collec-
tive’” measures for the prevention and re-
moval of threats to peace. This included
armed force if peaceful measures failed. The
United States assumed responsibility for
maintaining sufficient military power to
permit an effective contribution to any
U. N. force that might be necessary. Beyond
this it was impossible to foresee the require-
ments for national security in the immediate
postwar period in a drastically changed
world. The shape and size of the military
establishment could not be determined. Two
problems faced the military establishment,
both of which would greatly affect the Mobile
District. The immediate task was that of
demobilization and the second, deciding the
size and composition of the postwar military
establishment.

The Army, Navy and Air Force developed
specific programs for demobilization based
upon an individual basis, each man receiving
point credit for length of service, combat
participation, overseas service, and parent-
hood. Available transportation and time re-
quired to process discharges were taken into
consideration and the program provided for
an orderly demobilization.

The Congress, public, and the troops,
themselves, created great pressure for faster
demobilization. The program for an orderly
return to civilian life was upset and with-
drawal of troops from abroad was greatly
speeded up. When the Army cut down the

return of troops in early 1946 in order to
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meet its overseas responsibilities, military
personnel demonstrated in the Philippines,
China, England, France, Germany, Hawaii
and even in the States. The crescendo of
protest diminished only after the Army cut
its remaining strength abroad by more than
one-half. This meant that the Mobile Dis-
trict was thrown into a rapid program of
phasing out and disposing of facilities. This
responsibility fell largely to the Real Estate
Division. Political pressures prevented a
realistic approach to military requirements.

As the military responsibilities diminish-
ed, the District adjusted rapidly to a vastly
expanded civil projects program. The cold
war which was initiated by the Communist
bloc nations after World War II could be
executed without any major additional
responsibilities from the Corps of Engineers.
The situation changed suddenly and dramat-
ically when North Korea, a Communist bloc
nation, crossed the 38th parallel before
dawn, Sunday 25 June 1950. The great power
blocs, the Communists and the free world
nations, were pitted against each other in a
new type of warfare--the policing action or
limited warfare concept.

The Mobile District had become adjusted
to the civil projects and was unprepared for
the sudden military demands. As had been
true at the opening of World War Il and again
at the end of the war, there was another
sudden shifting of emphasis. At the opening
of the Korean conflict, the Mobile District
was engaged in the construction of the Alla-
toona Dam, the Jim Woodruff Lock and Dam,
the Demopolis Lock and Dam, the Buford
Dam and the Birmingham V.A. Hospital.
Plans for extensive improvements of the
Black Warrior-Tombighee and the Alabama-
Coosa river systems were underway. The
plans were also progressing for the construc-
tion of the much discussed and now approved
Tennessee-Tombighee Waterway.1

The District staff on 30 June 1950 con-
sisted of four officers, only one of whom was
assigned to military work. There were 1,020
civilian employees and 91 of those were on
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military payroll. Military contracts amount-
ing to slightly over $4,000,000 were in pro-
gress when the conflict erupted.2 This in-
cluded a contract for 100 non-commissioned
officers’ family units at Keesler Air Force
Base, 80 family units at Fort Benning, and a
number of less important projects.

Military engineering work in the pre-
Korean conflict period consisted largely of
specifications for National Guard armories,
alterations and rehabilitation of existing
facilities for use by the National Guard and
organized Reserve Corps. Considerable
work was being accomplished on rehabilita-
tion and new construction for national ceme-
teries, instrument landing systems and
ground approach systems at several Air
Force bases. The military projects contribu-
ted little to the requirements of the sudden
crisis.

At this time, the Mobile District was
responsible for military projects in Alabama,
Mississippi, Tennessee, northwest Florida,
and Fort Benning, Georgia. The projected
budget requirements for the Mobile District
for fiscal year 1951 was between $5,000,000
and $6,000,000 including procurement of
military supplies.

Advance notices of military construction
following the opening of the Korean Crisis
rapidly increased the District workload to
approximately $100,000,000. Projects con-
sidered urgent included rehabilitation work at
Camp Rucker, Fort Benning, Fort McClellan,
the Holston Ordnance Works and Wolf Creek
Ordnance Plant. Also important were the
construction of an electronics laboratory and
additional troop housing at Keesler Air
Force Base, construction of additional
facilities for the Armament Test Center at
Eglin Air Force Base, and an acceleration
of the rocket research and development
facilities at Redstone Arsenal. The bu}k of
the budgeted funds were for civil prOJech
and personnel was assigned to thoseproj-
ects by the time this increasgd workload
had been received. The District was not
prepared for the task thrust upon it. The
shock of added responsibilities was noth%ng
compared to those assumed at the opening
of World War II, however, and the shift in
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emphasis was taken in stride.

The large civil works program in the
District had resulted in the retention of
much manpower previously assigned to the
military who, therefore, had had previous
military construction experience. Those
could be easily reassigned to military con-
struction. The large civil works program had
kept the overall District capability strong,
and ready to accomplish any construction
mission of reasonable magnitude.

The work of the Mobile District in meget-
ing the crisis fell largely within three areas
of activity. Those were real estate, rehabi-
litation of existing facilities, and construg-
tion of new facilities.3 Those areas will
be discussed in the order noted.

Prior to the opening of the Korean con-
flict, the Real Estate Division was engaged
primarily in the acquisition of property for
the vast post-war river, harpbor, and flood
control projects. There was also a brisk
program of leasing space for organized re-
serve units and for recruiting stations. The
vast majority of the real estate requirements
were for civil projects and at the opening of
the 1950 fiscal year it was anticipated that
there would be only moderate efforts in
military acquisitions—-only enough to keep
pace with a few minor military construction
projects.

The Korean crisis was not immediately
reflected in an upsurge of real estate activ-
ities. Disposal of all Government-owned
land and improvements was stopped for the
time being, and the outleasing of all facili-
ties of possible military usefulness was
curtailed. Qutleases already accomplished
at Redstone Arsenal, Huntsville.Alabama;
Milan Arsenal, Milan, Tennessee; and Hol-
ston Arsenal, Kingsport, Tennessee; were
revoked to make way for rehabilitation of
standby facilities. The Korean situation also
resulted in the initiation of a real estate
planning program for proposed new construc-
tion.

Real Estate initiated reacquisition pro-
ceedings for several airfields which had
been formerly used by the Air Force, but
released. Now they were needed in the



training program. Since they were largely
municipally owned, acquisition was fairly
simple and rent was nominal. Such fields
were acquired at Starkville, Greenville and
Indianola, all in Mississippi, and at Demopo -
lis, Alabama.

The Real Estate Division experienced
no serious delays, but some difficulty was
encountered in regaining occupancy of
ordnance facilities which had been leased
to private industry. Long court proceedings
were required in one case involving a bank-
rupt case and another where default in rent-
al payments had occurred. Commanding offi-
cers of the installations affected were
advised by the Division Engineer of the
proper steps to be taken in future cases
where leases were to be revoked and little
trouble was encountered thereafter.

As a result of the increase in military re-
quirements, approximately 50% of the per-
sonnel engaged in civil works within the
Real Estate Division were shifted to military
projects. This still did not meet the require-
ments of the Mobile District, and qualified
appraisers were employed under contract to
supplement those under employment of the
District. Since the civil projects had been so
active prior to the Korean crisis, very little
augmentation of personnel was necessary
elsewhere and reassignment of employees
enabled the District to meet the new objec-
tives in most areas of responsibilities.

The rehabilitation of existing facilities
created many more problems for the Mobile
District. This was due primarily to the need
for immediate occupancy by troops. A total
of 73,990 troop spaces were provided through
the emergency program initiated in the late
summer 1950. A program initiated at Camp
(later Fort) Rucker 24 August 1950 provided
26,418 spaces. Troops began arriving 15
September 1950, and continued through 2
December 1950. This completed rehabilita-
tion of Fort Rucker except for the Tank Hill
area. This section was made ready for troops
through a program initiated 20 December
1950 and was ready for occupancy on 15
January 1951. This program added 7,232
additional troop spaces.

Camp Rucker presented many pressing

2

problems, most of which were due to the
nature of the work. There was need for haste
to provide housing for individuals being
ordered to duty. There was little time for
adequate inspection, preparation of detailed
plans and specifications and for letting con-
tracts. The problem was further compounded
by the hidden nature of much of the deteriora-
tion of buildings left unused for several
years. Problems were aggravated by the
arrival of troops ahead of the scheduled date
and before accommodations could be pre-
pared.

The District Engineer instructed a party
to visit Camp Rucker, Fort Benning, Camp
McClellan, and Maxwell Air Force Base on
25 July 1950 to confer with Using Services
aboutrumors of reactivation of the facilities.
The South Atlantic Division Engineer advis-
ed the Mobile District Engineer, Colonel
Walter K. Wilson, Jr., by telephone on 8
August to initiate urgent full-scale restora-
tion programs at Camp Rucker. No authority
had been received from the Chief of Engineers
at that time.

A second field party, therefore, departed
for Camp Rucker that day to develop engi-
neering data. Brochures of a large number of
contractors were reviewed and some forty
qualified, experienced firms which were in a
position to take on additional work on short
notice were contacted in person or by tele-
phone regarding their interest in rehabilita-
tion work at Camp Rucker. The Division
Engineer advised the Mobile District that
the camp would definitely be reactivated on
10 August and that an estimated $1,500,000
worth of contracts would be required. Field
engineering work was completed 11 August
and the next day Headquarters, Third Army,
advised the District Engineer by telephone
that Camp Rucker was approved for reactivia-
tion and that work should be accomplished
at maximum speed. Target date for occupancy
was placed at 25 September. A resident
engineer office was established at the Camp
on 12 August and Colonel Wilson, District
Enginecr, decided that plans and specifica-
tions would be completed by 16 August, that
contractors would be invited to meet at the

Camp on 17 August and that offers would be
received on 21 August.



Representatives from the Mobile District
and Headquarters, Third Army met on 16
Augusttodetermine actual work to be accom-

plished, and funds were made available the
next day.

Bids were received 21 August and con-
tracts were let on the 22nd. Contractors en-
countered an unexpected problem when the
construction was initiated. Many of the
buildings at Camp Rucker had been con-
structed without eaves. Rainwater had run
off the roofs directly onto the siding and
worked its way into the wall framing at the
window and door openings. The gypsum
sheathing became saturated and remained
that way, and the studs, siding, sole plate,
and headers, being in direct contact with the
wet sheathing, had decayed. This condition
delayed completion of the rehabilitation and
increased the cost. Buildings with overhang-
ing eaves required little repair.

The real problem and confusion at Camp
Rucker was the arrival of troops in advance
of scheduled time, thus before their quarters
were ready. The Using Service further insist-
ed that each unit be housed in the quarters
orginally assigned to them. This forced the
contractor to pull crews off other areas in
order to complete areas to be occupied by
incoming troops. The contractor’s plan of
operation was disrupted and workmen were
overcrowded in limited space. Inefficiency
and poor quality workmanship resulted, some
of which had to be corrected later. All effort
to get the predetermined time of arrival re-
spected failed, and the problem was never
completely solved. The problem had retarded
overall progress and had increased cost to
the contractor. The project was accomplished
with amazing speed, however, and the facility
was in use in record time.

Rehabilitiation programs were a.lso ac-
complished at Fort Benning, Georgia; Fort
McClellan, Alabama; the Wolf Creek Ord-
nance Plant and Holston Ordnanc_e Works,
Tennessee; Camp Stewart, Georgia; Camp
Gordon, Georgia; Fort Jackson,.S'ogth Caro-
lina; and a number of other facilities, each
presenting its own unique problems plus the
one common problem -~ ha§te. New construc-
tion projects also had their problems.
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New construction projects included bar-
racks and an electronics laboratory with 98
classrooms with a capacity of 30 to 50 air-
men each at Keesler Air Force Base, Missis-
sippi. Interim facilities at Eglin Air Force
Base,Florida, which included 26,000 square
feet of office and laboratory space, 32,000
square feet of hanger and office space, and
operational space for the Bee Line System,
were built. Two completely new assembly
lines at Holston Ordnance Works with addi-
tions to two others were constructed. There
was an acceleration in the development of
rocket research facilities at Redstone Ar-
senal. Work accomplished at Keesler Air
Force Base is a good example of the Mobile
District’s accomplishments under difficult
conditions.

Most of the problems at Keesler were
caused by the need for haste, A directive
was received 25 September 1950 for the con-
struction of facilities costing in excess of
$6,000,000, which included quarters, an
academic building (electronics laboratory
and classrooms) and the relocation of a
motor pool. The completion date was set at
31 December 1950. The electronics labora-
tory was one of the first of its kind to be
constructed in the nation and the architectural
and engineering services had not been
accomplished.

A firm with a large staff of architects and
engineers was awarded a lump-sum contract
to perform those services. In the interest of
time a cost-plus-fixed-fee (CPFF) contract
for this construction was let through special
authority from the Chief of Engineers. The
Mobile District, the Commanding General at
Keesler, and the office of the contracting
firms worked in close cooperation and main-
tained good liaison, and were able to resolve
many of the difficulties. The District repre-
sentatives visited the engineering firm sever-
al times a week to review plans and forward
information directly to the resident engineer
at Keesler. Materials were purchased as soon
as their need was known and construction
was initiated and progressed, keeping pace
with production plans.

The liaison noted above was expanded as
the project progressed. When preliminary



plans were completed, the office of Chief of
Engineers, Division office, and the Depart-
ment of the Air Force sent representatives to
the Mobile District Office to meet with the
Mobile District and the Commanding General
of Keesler to discuss and approve the plans.
Many conflicts were thereby resolved and
problems eliminated which would have re-
sulted in costly delays. The office of the
Chief of Engineers also worked closely with
the Mobile District in negotiating a CPFF
contract with Ewin Engineering Corporation,
a Mobile, Alabama, based firm. This was the
first CPFF contract negotiated in the nation
during the Korean emergency. The authority
to negotiate such contracts had been sus-
pended after World War II and special author-
ity had to be secured. The Office of the
Chief of Engineers gave the authority and
sent a strong team to assist in finding an-
swers to difficult questions concerning proce-
dure and hastened agreements.

One problem experienced in construction
of the laboratory was the delays occasioned
by strikes because union labor objected to
the operations of an open shop contractor.
Another was the necessity of having to
accomplish construction in the midst of the
concentration of large numbers of troops in
a restricted area. There was a particular
problem of storing and moving materials.
The problem was resolved somewhat by
scheduling the movement of materials when
the airmen were changing classes.

The CPFF contract and the fact that the
contracting firm, Ewin Engineering Corpo-
ration, was located in Mobile, greatly facili-
tated the construction of the electronics
laboratory. This academic building was some-
thing of an innovation. It was a two-story,
windowless, masonry building, completely
air-conditioned and had acoustical treatment
on the ceilings. The 98 classrooms were
complete with chalkboards and multi-
frequency and voltage electrical outlets for
electronic equipment. Since this building
had no precedent, it had to be designed from
the foundation up.

The academic building was started under
letter order, and the design accomplished

74

by the architect-engineer firm Converse &
Johnston. Procurement of materials and
construction  proceeded  simultaneously.
Construction actually began three days after
the letter order, and progressed as rapidly
as several factors permitted, such as
design, criteria, foundation determinations,
and recruitment of qualified personnel. Many
items of equipment had to be modified or
laboratory-tested to meet rigid requirements
for this special laboratory. In spite of all
those factors, inherent in this type of rush
job, construction progressed rapidly and
orderly.

Excessive cost was avoided by persis-
tent and close supervision by the princi-
pals in the construction firm’s home office
and by the field forces of the resident
engineer. The building, costing $2,439,908,
was completed in only 270 days. Two build-
ings completed at a later date were construct-
ed for about $100,000 less each, but they
were built under more favorable conditions,
had the experience of the first project from
which to draw, and were not subjected to
the same rush job pressures.

The second and third academic buildings
were awarded to the J. A. Jones Construc-
tion Company of Charlotte, North Carolina,
under lump-sum contracts. This contractor
had the advantage of design in hand, equip-
ment modifications for the first building were
applicable to those, and suppliers of ma-
terials had determined realistic costs. Also
labor in the area had acquired a degree of
skill in fhis type of construction. The
contractor had the advantage of a completed
building for his examination. By the time
the first academic building was completed,
solutions to most problems had been found.
Other new construction projects had their
unique problems, but those were met through
cooperation of the Using Service, the Office
of the Chief of Engineers, the Division
Engineer, and that of the Mobile District.

The funding of the emergency projects
presented problems because of the time
element. There was not sufficient time to
prepare for formal advertising. The nature

of the rchabilitation projects, especially



TR

e

& AR

e ——

i ; % v o
& @i % R e N

ACADEMIC BUILDING (ELECTRONICS LABORATORY)
COMPLETED AT KEESLER AIR FORCE BASE IN 1952



the large number of variable items, made
formally advertised contracts impracticable.
The Corps negotiated lump-sum agreements.
The Using Agency had required beneficial
occupancy at the earliest possible date. By
use of the telephone contacting of con-
tractors, on the spot inspections, and emer-
gency funding, the Mobile District was able
to have actual construction work under way
at Camp Rucker in less than two weeks.

The cost-plus-fixed-fee contracts lent
themselves to inefficiency in both procure-
ment and in construction unless honest and
efficient contractors were found. Careful
supervision by the Mobile District, espe-
cially through the staff of the resident engi-
neers, and the central office of the con-
tracting firms kept unneccessary expendi-
tures to a minimum. Experience from World
War II contracting contributed to efficiency
in the Korean crisis and by mid-1951 most
of the work had become fairly routine. The
Mobile District accomplished about $25,000,
000 in military work during the fiscal year
1951, and carried over about $70,000,000
which was under directives existing at the
end of the year. Advance notices had
already been received calling for over
$200,000,000 in additional military projects
for fiscal year 1952. Much of this. was for
new work on Air Force Base expansion.

As the Mobile District approached the
1952 fiscal year, advance notices were re-
ceived for possible programs which would
have increased the total workload to over
$500,000,000. Higher authorities decided
that too much of the total Corps workload
was being channeled into one District. Geo-
graphical responsibilities for the military
projects of the various districts were ordered
changed. The Mobile District workload was
considerably reduced. Military supply activi-
ties were transferred to the New Orleans
District in March 1951. Many procurement
personnel were released from that responsi—
bility and transferred to construction prp;ectg.
Fort Benning, the last military pI‘O]eCt.Hl
Georgia to have been assigned to the Mobile
District, was transferred to the Savanna.h
District 1 April 1951. All military responsi-
bilities in the state of Tennessee were trans-
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ferred to the Nashville District in May 1951.

At the opening of the 1952 fiscal year,
new work contracts were in force at Craig,
Eglin, Henderson, Keesler, and Tyndall Air
Force Bases; Anniston Ordnance Depot,
Memphis General Depot, Redstone Arsenal
and at the Muscle Shoals Chlorine Caustic
Plant and the Phosphate Development Works.
By that time, the most urgent construction,
both new and rehabilitation, was under con-
tract.- All construction contracts subsequent
to 1 July 1951, with only a few exceptions,
were made after traditional formal advertis-
ing.

The Korean conflict ended in July 1953.
By that time the Mobile District had become
adjusted to conditions imposed by the crisis,
and was accomplishing its vast civil and
military responsibilities smoothly. The close
of the conflict did not result in a rapid de-
mobilization as that which followed World
War [I. Air Force bases continued to be ex-
panded and military capability was approach-
ed more realistically. The United States
placed much greater emphasis upon its rela-
tion to the North Atlantic Treaty Organiza-
tion (NATO). The outbreak of war in Korea
resulted in fear of another general war, and
the free world bloc nations determined to
increase their military capabilities. After the
war, NATO could call on fifty divisions and
strong air and naval contingents. The United
States had become geared to military pre-
paredness and a war-time economy. This was
reflected in the future workload of the
District.

The Mobile District found it necessary to
adjust to emergency conditions on short
notice in 1950. This was done and projects
were completed in record time, meeting the
urgency ot the situation. Methoas o1 contract-
ing were modified in the interest of time, and
contracts were negotiated and accomplished
in far less time than is required under for-
mally advertised contracts.

The Korean crisis demonstrated again
that the Corps of Engineers were able to
meet the demands of the occasion. The
strength of the nation in meeting war-time



demands is found in the giant organizations
capable of making a transition from civil to
war production on short notice. Such organi-
zations include General Motors, Ford Motors,
Western Electric, United States Steel and
many other industrial corporations. Along
withthose is the Corps of Engineers. Having
extensive civil responsibilities and capabil-
ities in ‘normal times, it is able on short
notice to make the transition to meet emer-
gency demands in time of peace, as Hurri-
cane Camille in 1969, or in time of war.

All new work projects during the Korean
conflict were of a permanent nature. They
represented the nation’s adjustment to the
new concept of preparedness and military
capability. Air Force and Army facilities re-
established during the Korean conflict have
been maintained. This has assured the Corps
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of Engineers continuous involvement and
workload. New facilities must be added and
old ones replaced to meet the demands of
changing technology and ravaging of the
elements.

In1961, all military construction in Ten-
nessee wasrestored to the Mobile District,
extending its military responsibilities to
virtually as they had existed during World
War JI. Military construction will continue to
be a major District responsibility until there
is a dramatic change in the domestic and
international political climates. This in-
cludes expansion and modification of the
large number of installations within the Mobile
District. Contracts have been negotiated and
responsibilities continually accomplished
every since the nation has settled down to
a war-time economy following the Korean
conflict.



CHAPTER XI:

THE GUIDED MISSILE PROGRAM

The Mobile District became involved in
the guided missile program first at Redstone
Arsenal, Huntsville, Alabama. Redstone Ar-
senal is located just south of Huntsville on
a reservation containing about 39,000 acres.
It is one of eight permanent Ordnance Corps
arsenals, but is the only one to be devoted
almost exclusively to the missile program.
It is engaged in research, testing, and devel-
opment of guided missiles, rocket weapons,
and propellants.

The arsenal was established in 1941 ad-
joining the Huntsville Arsenal. During World
War II the two arsenals produced chemical
shells. Huntsville Arsenal manufactured and
loaded the shells and Redstone assembled
explosives for them and produced rounds. In
1948 the two were consolidated into a single
installation known as Redstone Arsenal. By
that time operations had been curtailed as

the Nation reverted to peacetime programs.

The Mobile District had accomplished con-
struction of the two facilities at a cost of
about $90,000,000.

The Ordnance Rocket Center was placed
at Redstone in July, 1948, and in mid 1950
the guided missile research and development
facilities and personnel were moved from
Fort Bliss, Texas to that installation.
Wernher Von Braun, considered the foremost
rocket engineer in the world, headed a re-
search team which brought more than 100
German scientists and their families, among
many other persons, to the Arsenal.

Early in 1956 the Army Ballistic Missile
Agency was established at Redstone. The
United States Army Ordnance Missile Com-
mand was created in 1958 to consolidate and
simplify Army missile work and the head-
quarters was placed at Redstone. The Ord-
nance Guided Missile School and a number
of other agencies engaged in various phases
of the guided missile program were also
located at the arsenal.

The establishment of the guided miss‘ile
center at Redstone necessitated an extensive
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building program. It had just begun when the
Korean invasion occurred, and was speeded
up during that conflict and continued until
the lull following the successful moon flights.

The Russians launched the first earth
satellite, Sputnik I, 4 October, 1957. Russia
was progressing more rapidly in space travel
than the United States, and placed the first
man in orbit in 1961. About a month later
U. S. Astronaut Alan B. Shepard, Jr. made a
15 minute space flight. It was almost a year
before the United States put men in orbit.

Following Sputnik I, the United States
accelerated its space program, and because
of its geographical location, the Mobile Dis-
trict received much of the workload in pro-
viding the research and development facilities.
Between 1950 and the launching of Sputnik
[ in 1957, the Mobile District constructed
facilities costing $42,000,000 at Redstone,
and had an additional $21,000,000 under con-
tract. The great interest in space travel, and
the embarrassment of the United States at
the superiority of Russia in the conquest of
space, resulted in a great thrust forward.

America’s response to Sputnik I was the
establishment of the National Aeronautics
and Space Administration (NASA) in October
1958 to coordinate and facilitate missile
progress. Most of the rocket-related activi-
ties of the United States in 1957 were cen-
tered around the Intercontinental Ballistic
Missiles (ICBM’s) and the Intermediate Range
Ballistic Missiles (IRBM’s). Three military
services and their respective industrial con-
tractors were carrying on the activities. The
Air Force was developing the Atlas and Titan
ICBM’s and the 1hor IKBM; the Army the
Jupiter IRBM; and the Navy the Polaris IRBM.

When Sputnik I orbited the earth, the
United States had only one operational
missile of any size, the Army’s 200-mile
tactical Redstone missile. Before the public
could recover from the shock of Sputnik 1,
Russialaunched Sputnik IT, 5 November 1957,
weighing over 1,100 pounds, six times the



weight of Sputnik I. Public concern for Amer-
ica’s national image and military prepared-
ness soared. Russia was obviously more
advanced in space technology than the
United States.

President Dwight D. Eisenhower made a
major speech 7 November to allay public
fears. He declared U. S. defenses sound and
declared that the United States had made a
“‘breakthrough’ by perfecting a nose cone
capable of surviving re-entry into the earth’s
atmosphere. He further announced the creation
of the President’s Scientific Advisory Com-
mittee. This committee played an important
role in the establishment of NASA.!

In succeeding months distinctions were
developed between the militarily significant
ballistic missiles and the more scientifically
significant earth satellites. The outcome of
the debates in executive circles and in Con-
gress was the creation of NASA to conduct
the civilian space activities, and the Depart-
ment of Defense (DOD) was assigned all
military or ballistic missile activities. The
NASA headquarters were established at
Washington, D. C.

The Von Braun team at Redstone develop-
ed the Saturn super booster rocket and most
of its program revolved around the Saturn.
The Army, however, had no need for this
super booster and consideration was given
to transferring it to the Air Force. Investiga-
tion revealed that even the Air Force had no
immediate need for it. NASA’s program, on
the other hand, would need such and its own
Nova launch vehicle was still far in the future.
NASA assumed responsibility for the Nation’s
super booster, the Saturn, 21 October 1959.
The Army Ballistic Missile Agencys Devel-
opment Operations Division, was transferred
to NASA.

A new NASA organization was establish-
ed at Redstone Arsenal and the Saturn pro-
gram came with it. This new organization
was housed in the George C. Marshall Space
Flight Center, and it became the largest
single agency of NASA. This transfer gave
the Mobile District its greatest new respon-
sibility. Not only did it result in increased
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activity at Redstone, but it resulted in t}}e
Mississippi Test Facility being located in
the Mobile District.

By 1960 the United States had launched
an all-out effort to lead the world in space
exploration. NASA established three centers
through which to accomplish its tasks. The
Marshall Space Flight Center as noted was
at Huntsville. The Manned Spacecraft Center
was established at Houston, Texas, for
astronaut training and flight control. The
Kennedy Space Center, Florida, was devel-
oped for vehicle launch.

The Michoud Assembly Facility at New
Orleans was established as a support activity
for the Marshall Center. The booster rockets
were assembled there. There was need for a
test site nearby, accessible by water, for
static firing of large rocket stages. It was
announced by NASA 25 October 1961 that a
site had been selected 40 highway miles
northeast of Michoud, largely located in
Mississippi, but extending briefly into St.
Tammany Parish, Louisiana. This Missis-
sippl Test Facility was destined to require
a major portion of the Mobile District’s
workload for the next few years.

The site occupied a 217-square-mile
tract along East Pearl River between Bay
St. Louis and Picayune, Mississippi. The
test facility consisted of two separate
zones. An inner zone, about five miles
square, was established where test stands
and supporting facilities were constructed.
This zone was purchased and owned in fee
by the Government. A surrounding buffer
zone was established where live stock
raising, timbering, and agriculture could
be carried on, but from which all structures
were removed and in which no persons were
permitted to live.

Sverdrup and Parcel of St. Louis,
Missouri, was chosen by NASA to provide
site criteria and initial planning, and the
Corps of Engincers was assigned real estate,
engineering, and construction responsi-
bilities. The Mobile District acquired the
task by virtue of the site’s location within
its boundaries. Field survey work was



il.’litiat.ZEd in December, 1961; land acquisi-
tion 1n January, 1962: and the first con-

struction contract was awarded in Qctober
1962.

The first phase of the survey was a
topographical map covering the entire fee
area. This project was completed in
February 1962. The second phase was a
property survey of the area with proper
boundary markings. It was completed in
August 1962. By that time Real Estate was
busy acquiring title to the property. Surveys
of the buffer zone progressed, and Real
Estate was able to proceed without delay.

Real Estate had to acquire titles to the
area before construction could proceed. Fee
simple title was acquired to the inner zone.
This land was owued by 162 individual
owners with the largest being International
Paper Company with slightly over 11,000
acres. The remainder of the owners were
largely situated in the southwestern corner
of the construction area in the Gainesville
community. Acquisition was begun with the
opening of the Real Estate Project Office in
Bay St. Louis on 15 January 1962. In the
succeeding months, 90 tracts containing
1,517 acres were acquired either through
negotiated settlements or court trial. Two
were still unsettled four years later.? This
fee simple construction area contained
13,500 acres and was nearly five miles
square.

In the buffer zone fee simple title was ac-
quired to 2,615 tracts containing 7,568
acres. Perpetual restrictive easements were
imposed over 611 tracts containing 117,874
acres. (Condemnation proceedings were
necessary in 773 cases. Those proved to
have been more difficult and required years
of negotiations and court trials to settle.

It was necessary for Real Estate to move
two cemeteries and to clear the entire test
site area of all structures. While there was
no danger to persons living in the buffer
zone, the noise and vibrations during test
firings would result in complaints, so the
solution was to clear the area. In order to
do this, one of the oldest communities in
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Mississippi, Gainesville, was completely

destroyed.

Gainesville was located on East Pearl
River and was one of the more important
towns in Mississippi before the days of
railroads and paved highways. It was the
trading center and only point of contact
with the outside world for a large section
of southern Mississippi due to its excellent
harbor on Pearl River. It was a county seat
for a while and was a sawmill and turpen-
tine center. When the railroad came through
in the late nineteenth century, by-passing
Gainesville, the town began to decline,
Wher the Mississippi Test Site was planned,
Gainesville was the center of the fee simple
zone. Deadline for all persons and property
to have been removed was set for 10 January
1963.2  During the final weeks, residents
were busy moving out. They emptied their
houses, collected their pets and livestock,
took up their fences, uprooted their gardens
and, in some instances, put their houses on
wheeled platforms, and moved out.

During the final days, tourists, news-
paper and television crews and the curious
kept roads busy. All property not removed
by the deadline date became Government
property. Property owners found it necessary
to stay with their property to the last to
prevent pilferage by the curious and the
greedy. On 10 January 1963, the community
was dead and a way of life had passed for
its residents.

Ironically, after the community was dead,
the railway arrived. The Southern Railway
constructed a branch line from Nicholson,
Mississippi, to the Gainesville area which
was soon transporting some 60,000 tons
of freight monthly.4 A sleepy southern
community had been transformed into a mo-
dern space age scientific complex.

Other communities completely wiped
out were Log Town, Napoleon, Santa Rosa,
Westonia, Flat Top and Bayou la Croix. In
addition, many rural families lost their
homes. The Corps of Engineers faced one
of its most heart-rending tasks, that of di-
vesting the local people of their homes and



property. Home sites, some of which had
been in the same family for over a century,
were lost to progress. The task fell to
Orrelle B. Moore, who headed the real estate
team of the Mobile District Real Estate
Division.® Real Estate offices were es-
tablished at Bay St. Louis and appraisers
were sent out to arrive at the value of
property in question. Once the property was
appraised, negotiators sat down with the
owners to try to get them to accept the
Government’s price. Those negotiators were
all Mississippi men and represented the
property owners’ interests as well as that
of the Government. If agreement could not
bereached, condemnation was instituted and
the land was taken anyway. The Govern-
ment’s cash offer was deposited in the
owner’s name, who then went to court to
try to secure more. Some 70 per cent of the
owners representing 96 per cent of the land
in the fee simple zone sold their property
without contest.

The discontented, led by Dr. J. F.
Ferguson, a gentleman farmer in the area,
organized a committee of dissident property
owners. He sold his 300-acre farm early in
the acquisition process, however, and was
succeeded as chairman of the committee by
Asa McQueen, a country store owner.6 This
committee corresponded with Congressmen
and otherwise sought higher prices for
property.

A total of 19,485,000 was set aside for
land acquisition and allied relocations.
Because of the court cases about $500,000
had to be added to that amount. Trials re-
sulted in judgments which averaged more
than 50 per cent over the appraised value
of the property in contest. Most people, how-
ever, if not content to lose their homes,
were reasonably satisfied with prices paid
for their property. The Corps of Engineers
sought to deal equitably with the people and
took into consideration sentimental and
esthetic values.

NASA, after having taken possession of
the property, spared a 75-year-old wisteria
vine at Gainesville. It was thought to be
one of the largest, if not the largest, in the
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world. The main vine trunk was a foot thick
and had spread over the ground and 60 or
70 feet to the top of an adjacent cedar tree.
The furthermost extremities were over 100
feet from the base. A protective steel wire
fence was erected around the vine and a
plaque was placed on the fence stating
that the vine was preserved in memory of
old Gainesville. Captain William C. Fortune,
project manager for the Saturn booster test
project, stated further that. “‘We will disturb
the natural beauty of this magnificent
country as little as possible.”? It is an
area noted for its large moss-draped live
oaks and cypress trees.

The gardens of Parade Rest, the retire-
ment home of Colonel and Mrs. John A.
Wheeler, were also spared. Parade Rest was
purchased by Wheeler in 1946 and a home of
considerable proportions was constructed.
Mrs. Wheeler began developing gardens
which finally included over 45 acres and
over 5,000 plants including dogwood, wis-
teria, azaleas and camellias. The home was
demolished, but the gardens were preserved.
Situated on East Pearl River, at Napoleon,
the Wheeler gardens were among the most
beautiful in the state. They were opened to
visitors.8

One of the most laborious tasks of the
Mobile District was the removal of 410
graves from the two cemeteries at Gaines-
ville, In 1962 the Corps started gathering
data and establishing contact with all known
relatives. Some of the graves dated back to
the early 1800’s. A total of 101 graves
were removed from the White Baptist Ceme-
tery to the Palestine Cemetery in Picayune
during 1963. The first to have been removed,
however, were removed by the Nicholson
family of New Orleans to a cemetery there.
An additional 141 unclaimed and unknown
graves were transferred to the Old Spring
Branch Missionary Church cemetery at Napo-
leon. Those graves had been lost and were
rediscovered only by very careful examina-
tion of the ground. A number of such graves
were also rediscovered in the Black Baptist
Church cemetery from which 178 graves
were removed. Nothing whatever was found
in 175 of the graves moved. Only a razor



or comb was found in some of the others, it
having been a practice to bury those items
with the owners. Despite the absence of
remains, the soil was carefully collected
from the center of the graves, placed in
plastic bags and reburied in boxes at
regulation depth. Religious services were
conducted at the re-interment and relatives
attended if they desired.

The work was completed during February
and March 1964 with Howard Odom of
Marianna, Florida, accomplishing the task.
The removals were made at Government ex-
pense at a cost over $100,000.

Another problem faced by Real Estate
was the purchase of churches and schools.
A special problem associated with the
purchase of church property was that of
cemetery maintenance. Those cemeteries in
the buffer zone were not removed since they
could still be visited, but church congrega-
tions had maintained them. With the congre-
gations dispersed, new solutions had to be
found. This problem resulted in court action
in some cases, but largely among members
of the congregations rather than with the
Corps officials.

Several schools also had to be relocated.
This created problems, but they were less
emotional than the church problems. Re-
location involved total disruption of all such
institutions since persons associated with
them were so widely dispersed. Most re-
locations progressed relatively smoothly,
however.

By the last quarter of 1965, Real Estate
Division had just about completed its tasks.
In September 1965, the Real Estateoffice at
Bay St. Louis was reduced to only five
employees: O. B. Moore, project manager,
William Matkin, chief of acquisitions, and
three secretaries. One of the most dramatic
functions of the Mobile District was drawing
to a close and already this land was being
transformed into a facility which would play
a major role in placing the first man on the
moon. A total area of 217 square miles had
been acquired for use of the m.issile. t.es_ting
program. Other Mobile District divisions
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were rapidly constructing those facilities.

The selection for the site of the test
facility was based upon its accessibility
by water. The large booster rockets had to
be transported from the assembly site at
Michoud to the test site. This still ne-
cessitated dredging a harbor and canals to
the firing stands. In mid-1963 the dredge
Bean No. 4 arrived from Harvey, Louisiana,
and started circling the 180-acre harbor
area at Gainesville.9

The harbor was situated about a mile
south of Gainesville in a swampy area
seldom crossed by man. A cutting crew
worked ahead of the dredge, removing the
trees. The dredge followed, eating up the
stumps and spewing them into a fill area
along the banks of the harbor. The dredge
worked 24 hours a day seven days a week.
Once the 50-foot water path was dredged
around the harbor area, the Bean was follow-
ed by an even larger suction dredge. In a
few months one of the most inaccessible
and primitive swamps in the South disappear-
ed under 14 feet of water. The railroad
connected with the docks and the transfor-
mation of the swamp into a transportation
facility was complete.

The Saturn boosters proceeded up East
Pearl River, entered the harbor by way of a
canal, crossed the harbor, were lifted into
other canals by means of a lock and moved
on to the firing stands some of which were
about seven miles further inland.

Engineering and design for roads, ware-
houses, utilities, and other more normal
type construction were contracted to archi-
tect-engineering firms in Mississippi and
neighboring states. Special projects such as
the central heating plant, the high pressure
industrial water facility, and the electronics
instrumentation and materials laboratory
required the services of design firms with
particular  experience and capabilities.

The Design Branch of the Engineering
Division initiated its work when the first
approved criteria for the test complex were
received in December 1962. The required



engineering and design capability was found
within the Mobile District, the Savannah
District, and by utilization of several private
architect-engineer firms. A small group of
personnel was assigned to Nike-Zeus and
NASA projects prior to the Mississippi Test
Facility responsibility. They were familiar
with NASA work and were acquainted with
many of the personalities who were directing
the missile testing program. They were,
therefore, an ideal nucleus around which to
expand for the test facility undertaking.

Construction progressed on a number of
facilities within the complex almost from
the beginning. There were four test positions
in three test stands, one being a dual
position facility; test control centers; and
data acquisition facilities.

Supporting facilities included an engi-
neering and administrative complex, an
industrial complex, a dock and space vehicle
storage area, communications facilities, a
railroad, and roads and parking areas.

The facility became operational in April
1966. Its initial mission was to test the
Apollo-Saturn V second stage booster and
to test flight-models of the first and second
stage boosters. The first stage was assem-
bled by Boeing Company at Michoud and
floated 45 waterway miles to the test site.
It had a thrust of 7,500,000 pounds. The
second stage was manufactured by North
American Aviation, Inc., Seal Beach, Cali-
fornia. It had a thrust of 1,000,000 pounds
and was also delivered to the site by water.

The Mississippi Test Site remained the
test facility for NASA until it was phased
out in 1970. An isolated, remote area had
been transformed into one of the most com-

plex, sophisticated scientific facilities in
the world, performed its task, and was
phased out.

During the later years of the 1950’s and
early 1960’s, the Mobile District participat-
ed, through its engineering, design and
construction functions, in the development
of the Redstone and Jupiter ballistic mis-
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siles. It was also vitally associated with
the Saturn boosters which landed man on the
moon. The Marshall Space Center also gave
the Mobile District responsibilities far from
home. Because of experience in the missile
program, it was assigned central design
agent responsibilities for the Nike-Zeus
anti-ballistic missile research and develop-
ment program. In this capacity, the District
supervised design of missile and radar test
facilities at Ascension Island, Pt. Mugu,
California, and at the Pacific Kwajalein
Atoll. In addition, a 6000-km diesel power
plant constructed at White Sands Missile
Range was designed by the District office.
These responsibilities were accomplished
between 1960 and 1965.

The District also developed criteria for
all facilities and supervised the design of

the technical facilities associated with
project PRESS (Pacific Missile Range
Electromagnetic Signature Study), which

was constructed in the Kawjalein Atoll. The
Honolulu District was responsible for the
construction. The Mobile District worked
closely with the Honolulu District on the
project, and Mobile personnel made frequent
visits to Hawaii and to the construction
sites. The District, then, was active in the
Nike-Zeus and the Nike-X antimissile mis-
sile programs as well as the ballistic
missile projects, and functioned almost at
the other side of the globe.

NASA and Army responsibilities have
made Redstone an important missile center.
The Mobile District, as its support organization
in the area, has been deeply involved,
therefore, in the missile program.

When the Mobile District became in-
volved, Colonel Robert W. Love, 1958-1961,
was District Engineer. He initiated the
Mississippi Test Site Facility, but was re-
placed by Colonel D. A. Raymond just about
the time the project really got under way.
Colonel Raymond, 1961-1964, saw the
District through the most active period of
the project. He also directed the Nike-Zeus
project and by the time he was transferred,
most of the missile responsibilities had been

reduced to routine tasks. Raymond was
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assigneq to t'he Pentagon, where he assumed
re§p0n81b111t1es in the assignment and career
guidance of Corps of Engineers officers.

Colonel Robert C. Marshall, 1964-1967
sugceeded Raymond. He had served in the’
office of the Chief of Engineers as Assist-
ant Director of Civil Works for the Corps
of Engineers non-military projects east of
the Mississippi River. He was a native of
Washington, D.C. and a West Point graduate.
He assumed leadership of the Mobile Dis-
trict when it had a backlog of almost $200

million 1in construction and engineering
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projects; almost 1800 employees and a $14
million annual payroll.

During his tenure, there were several
landings on the moon and much data accumu-
lated. It remained for his successor, Colonel
Robert W. Snetzer, 1967-1970, to see the
full fruition of the Mobile District’s missile
support work in the landing of man on the
moon. The Mobile District responsibilities
were expanded still further in1970 to include
Canaveral District functions, but by that
time the missile program had past its zenith
for the time being.



CHAPTER XII:

AEROSPACE AGE CIVIL PROJECTS

At the close of World War II, the only
river system in the Mobile District to have
been improved with permanent facilities,
that 1s, with locks and dams, was the
Warrior-Tombighee Rivers. The Coosa had
been improved from Riverdale, Alabama, to
Rome, Georgia, by construction of five
locks and dams, but that project became
inactive during the 1930’s and had not been
reactivated. Other permanent projects had
been authorized by Congress, but because
of the demands of war economy had not
been accomplished.

The harbors of the District were gener-
ally adequate for the use being made of
them. QGulfport Harbor had a depth of 26
feet and Biloxi had one of 10 feet. Pasca-
goula, the site of the shipyards, had a
channel 22 feet deep. Mobile Harbor and
ship channel was 32 feet deep and Pensa-
cola was 30. Panama City and Port St. Joe
each had harbors with 27-foot channels, and
Carrabelle Harbor had been dredged to 25
feet. Those channels had contributed greatly
to the economy of the area.

There had been a great increase in
waterborne  transportation. The Federal
Government had spent $14,500,000 on
Mobile Harbor and ship chaunnel in over a
century of improvements. As an almost direct
result of the ship channel, an estimated
$100,000,000 worth of industrial construction
was accomplished during World War II. The
State of Alabama had spent $12,000,000 in
the erection of the Alabama State Docks
during the 1930’s. Those facilities were
constructed under the direction of General
William [.. Sibert, retired, of the Corps of
Engineers.l The total impact on the bene-
fits of the area could hardly be estimated.
Commercial value of lands adjoining water-
ways was greatly enhanced. Transportation
savings, national defense, and recreational
value are all significant considerations of
the impact of Corps projects. As important
as the pre-World War II projects had been,
they were to be overshadowed by the great
multi-purpose dams and the 308 Report ap-
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proach to river improvements initiated after
the end of the war in 1945.

Even at the height of the war effort,
there were some civil projects, but they were
primarily those which contributed to the war
effort. Those projects had to do largely with
widening and deepening channels such as
the Intracoastal Waterway already noted.
Considerable time and effort had been ex-
pended during World War II on plans for a
dam at Allatoona on the Etowah River in
Georgia. This was a multiple-purpose dam,
but the primary consideration was to supply
additional electricity at a time when the war
effort was making great demands on available
supplies. Inability to obtain critical materials
resulted in the project being abandoned until
after the war.

In 1945, the Mobile District entered
a new phase of its history. The nature
of the projects necessitated a much more
sophisticated approach to civil work.
This was the age of construction of
the multiple-purpose dams designed to
provide electricity, navigation channels,
flood control and recreational facilities.
Rather than surveys designed to determine
requirements to provide channels of a given
depth and width, now they took into consid-
eration the entire river basin. Utilization of
the entire system to maximum advantage be-
came the goal. While there were civil proj-
ects other than river development, the great
multiple-purpose dams and the reservoirs
created by them were the most spectacular.

This new approach to river development
was grounded in the 308 Report approach to
river improvement, but was also influenced
by the New Deal era projects, which were in-
itiated primarily to create cemployment dur-
ing the depression.

The 308 Reports were initiated by an act
of Congress, 1927. The title was taken from
House Document 308, 69th Congress. This
document provided for survey and study of the
total watcrshed of a given river or stream.



It was envisioned that future improvements
would take into account the total area and
the impact of a given project on it. Several
308 Reports have been completed, but most
of the major projects of the Mobile District
have been authorized and funded individual-
ly rather than as a part of a system.

The New Deal projects really set the
tone for future Corps river improvements.
The Hoover Dam was initiated before
Roosevelt’s New Deal, but was completed
in 1936 when his New Deal program was at
its peak. The Bonneville Dam and the Grand
Coulee Dam, completed in 1937 and 1942 re-
spectively, also belong to this era. The
most thoroughgoing of all Roosevelt’s New
Deal projects, however, was the Tennessee
Valley Authority created in May 1933.
Those programs were a departure from tradi-
tional American approaches to problems and
were to influence future projects.

Congress responded to the new concepts
of the Grand Coulee Dam and T.V.A. pro-
jects by passage of the Flood Control Act
on 28 August 1937. This Act was amended
in 1939 and again in 1941.2 The flood con-
trol concept was further extended by an act
of 1944 which broadened authority to include
reservoirs or local protection works such as
levees, dikes, or channel improvements, or a
combination of the above.3 The conceptwas
extended still further by the Emergency Flood
Control Act of 30 June 1948.

Under authorization of the above acts and
following the precedent of the Tennessee
Valley Authority and other New Deal era
projects, the Corps of Engineers entered an
era of vastly expanded functions. Rather
than projects designed to meet specific
localized problems, the Corps initiated pro-
grams for long-range coordinated develop-
ment of water resources of entire river basins.
Comprehensive studies have been undertaken
which include consideration of navigation,
flood control, generation of hydroelectric
power, water conservation, domestic and in-
dustrial water supply, water quality manage-
ment and improvement, the protection of fish
and wildlife, recreation, and other potential
uses of water.4
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To accomplish the comprehensive studies
of the river basins, a new branch was added

to the Engineering Division. This was
called Basin Planning.5 This new branch
was formed in July 1963 and ac-

complished comprehensive reports on the
Pearl River and the Pascagoula, Leaf and
Chickasawhay River basins. These were a
part of the Water Resources Council study
and the Basin Planning Branch was formed
to accomplish only limited studies. The
branch was reduced to a section in March
1970 and transferred to the Environmental and
Resource Branch.

The Mobile District maintained the neces-
sary staff to accomplish the design of its
civil projects except for some relocated facil-
ities, such as bridges or other structures
which were inthe reservoir areas. The design
of these civil projects, now massive in size
and complicated of design, required a far
more versatile organization than had existed
in the pre-World War Il organization. Many
technological advances had been made as-
sociated with hydraulic structures, the con-
trol of concrete mixes and placement of mass
concrete, rolled earth fill, structural steel
gates and penstocks, and operating machinery.
The end result was some of the nation's
best engineered dams and most beautiful
lakes,®

The most impressive river improvement
programs are those of the Apalachicola,
Chattahoochee and Flint River system. This
system has been more thoroughly improved
than any other within the District. Improve-
ments provide for navigation, flood control,
hydropower and recreation. A channel 9 by
100 feet is provided from Apalachicola, Flo-
rida, to the junction of the Chattahoochee and
Flint rivers, hence to Columbus, Georgia, on
the Chattahoochee River and to Bainbridge,
Georgia, on the Flint. Channels of lesser
depth are provided to Albany, Georgia, hence
to Montezuma, Georgia on the Flint River.
The projects have been accomplished as in-
dividual works, each based upon its own
justifications. They range in size and cost
from the magnificent Walter F. George Lock
and Dam at Fort Gaines, Georgia, costing $85,
604,754 to the George W. Andrews Lock and



Dam at Columbia, Alabama, costing$12,962,
088. Other projects on the system are thedJim
Woodruff Lock and Dam and Reservoir at
Chattahoochee, Florida; the West Point Dam
and Reservoir at West Point, Georgia (farmed
out to the Savannah District); the Spewrell
Bluff Dam and Reservoir, and the Lazer
Creek Dam and Reservoir, both on the head
water of the Flint River. Not all these proj-
ects had been started or completed at the
time of writing.?

One of the lakes within this system, the
Buford Reservoir (Lake Sidney Lanier) has
been the most visited of all Corps projects
in the Nation. Annual attendance has reached
almost 11,000,000. This is over twice the
attendance at any other reservoir except that
of LLake Texoma on the Red River in Okla-
homa and Texas. L.ake Sidney Lanier is in
easy driving distance of Atlanta, Georgia.
It is situated in the Piedmont section of the
state, and the rolling terrain resulted in a
beautiful lake dotted with pine-covered is-
lands. It is well stocked with fish, has 540
miles of shoreline, 68 access areas, 65 pub-
lic boat launching lanes and 48 picnic areas.
There are also 457 tent and trailer spaces,
and rental boats are available.8

The economic impact on the area has been
tremendous in terms of property values;retail
sales, especially sporting and recreational
goods; and vacation accommodations. The
lake has transformed the area into a favorite
vacation andrecreation spot in a state which
has many such facilities, from beautiful
mountains to seashore. Careful planning

went into the project. Studies made in placing
the picnic areas, access roads, and other

facilities included joint effort of the Mobile
District, the National Park Service, the
United States Fish and Wildlife Service and
the state of Georgia. This careful planning
has paid off in public utilization. While no
other project has attracted such widespread
attention, Corps projects have produced
many lakes within the District, each of
which has contributed to the economy and
development of the area of its location.

Other river systems which have received
much attention are the Alabama-Coosa Riv-
ers of Alabama and Georgia; the Black
Warrior and Tombigbee Rivers of Alabama:
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and, to a lesser degree, Pearl River in Mis-
sissippiand Louisiana. The Alabama-Coosa
Rivers improvement program was approved
by an act of Congress in 1945, but the in-
dividual projects were initiated between
1962-1966 and when completed will provide
a 9-foot channel from the mouth of the Ala-
bama River to Montgomery, Alabama. They
also accomplish flood control, power, rec-
reation and other purposes in keeping with
the 308 Report concept. These projects,
along with the Black Warrior and Tombig-
bee Rivers improvement program, when com-
pleted, will give Alabama one of the
most complete river improvement and flood
control systems in the nation, and will as-
sure the state a major role in the future
industrial development of the nation.

Over $102,000,000 has been spent in
replacing the 17 dams and 18 locks of the
Black Warrior-Tombigbee system withmod-
ern locks and dams. Unlike the Alabama-
Coosa projects, this system was concerned
with maintaining a 9-foot channel, 200 feet
wide, from the mouth of the Tombigbee to the
industrial areas in the vicinity of Birming-
ham. The usual side effects and benefits
will be realized, such as flood control,
recreation and  property value increases.
By an act of Congress, 1960, a wildlife
refuge of 4,250 acres was created within
the reservoir area of the Jackson Lock and
Dam (now Coffeeville Lock and Dam).

With the expanded program of river im-
provement to include flood control, conser-
vation, and otherwise maximum utilization
of water resources, the Mobile District has
extended its functions into the remote areas
of its boundaries.The number of projects are
far too numerous to discuss. Sometimes the
projects were actually flood control work
accomplished by the Mobile District. This
type of work often extended to the head-
waters of the streams or rivers concerned
and included the entire watershed. Only
local problems were the objcctive at other
times. The Corps was sometimes concerned
with only the accumulation of information,
which was made available to state, county
or municipal governments for their consid-
cration. In recent years much of this type
of work has been accomplished.
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An example of this type of study is one
recently accomplished at the request of the
Gulf Regional Planning Commission pre-
sented to the Mobile District through the
Mississippi  Research and Development
Center. The point of concern was flood
plain information for the Pascagoula-Gautier,
Mississippi area. This area is subject to
flooding, especially when hurricanes come
inland along the Mississippi Gulf Coast.
The study, completed in June 1970, includ-
ed information concerning past floods and
something of what could be expected in the
future. This information can now be used
in seeking solutions to flooding and in
planning the best utilization of land subject
to flooding. Such studies have been made
for the Elba, Alabama, City Planning Com-
mission; the Atlanta Region Metropolitan
Planning Commission; Cedartown, Georgia;
and for Lowndes County and Columbus,
Mississippi.? There have been others.

While developing the river systems within
the District, harbor improvement has not been
neglected. As navigation requirements have
dictated, channels have been deepened,
some as much as 10 feet since World War
II. The Mobile harbor and ship channel are
the most important in the District, and are
the deepest. The final phase of the improve-
ments was initiated in 1963 and was com-
pleted in 1965, providing a 40-foot channel
through Mobile Bay and a channel through
the Outer Bar 42 feet deep. This has guar-
anteed Mobile a place among the major port
cities of the nation.

Lesser harbors have also been improved
where needed, either for commercial, mili-
tary, or recreational purposes. Channels
and harbors have also been established and
dredged all along the coastal area of the
District. Many are used almost exclusively
for commercial and recreational fishing and

pleasure vessels.

While attention was being given to plan-
ning and initiating new civil project_s, t.he
Operations Division of the Mobile District
continued to receive expanded responsibil-
ities. Each new project usually resulted
in permanent responsibility to main'tain. and
operate it. This necessitated organizational
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expansion into several branches, Plant,
Projects Operations, Pérmits and Statistics,
Hydro Power, and Reservoir, emerged. This
meant a great increase in engineers and
other technically trained personnel and an
increase in floating plant, boatyards, and
moorings. The floating plant included
dredges, snagboats, derrickboats, towboats,
tugs, surveyboats and a variety of work
boats, barges, and launches.10

The snaghoat Ros was the latest major
addition to the floating plant facilities. It
was completed in 1969 by the St. Louis Ship
Division of Pott Industries and represents
the latest in engineering and technological
progress. [t is 253 feet long, 42 feet wide,
and has a displacement of 850 tons. Equip-
ped with the latest equipment, it will perform
snag and debris removal from the Alabama-
Coosa River systems and commercial traffic
lanes through reservoirs from the mouth of
the Mobile River to Birmingham and Mont-
gomery, respectively. It will also perform
excavation in areas of bank erosion after
high-water periods and set stop-logs for
lock repairs as the necessity arises. The
ever-expanding Operations Division has
been headed by T. O. Gaillard for a number
of years.

While channels, harbors, and flood con-
trol have accounted for the major civil
projects, there have been many others. The
Mobile District with its vast shoreline on
the Gulf of Mexico has carried on a con-
stant battle with shore erosion. In the early
history of Corps activity in the area, erosion
was a major problem. Forts Pickens, McRee,
Morgan, Gaines and Massachusetts have all
been threatened by the tides, and erosion
destroyed Fort McRee. The others were
saved only through major erosion control
projects.

This battle to stabilize the beaches has
continued. Jetties have been constructed to
control the currents such as those at St.
Andrews Bay, Panama City, Florida, and at
Alabama Point. Seawalls have been con-
structed at some points. Beaches are still
changing, however. The size, shape and
location of offshore islands change with
each major storm in the Gulf of Mexico.
Some of those changes are of no major con-



sequence, but others require attention of

the Corps.

The warm climate of the southern Mobile
District has created a problem of plants in
streams and lakes, especially water hya-
cinths. Plant control in the waters of the
District, like beach erosion, has been a
continuing task.

The Mobile District has become deeply
involved in real estate. The Real Estate
Division, M. W. Dovith, Chief, has con-
tinued to expand until it now consists of
four branches: Management and Disposal,
Planning and Control, Acquisitions, and
Appraisals. Major responsibilities are to
acquire the real estate needed by the Feder-
al Government for both civil and military
projects and to dispose of surplus real es-
tate when Government need ceases. In addi-
tion to those responsibilities of long stand-
ing, others have been acquired, such as dis-
posing of private homes of persons displaced

as a result of shift in governmental functions.

A good example was the closing of Brookley
Air Force Base in Mobile, which put many
homes on the market in a brief period and
created real hardships for many owners.

Single projects now cost more than the
budget of the entire Corps of Engineers in
1815, when work began in the Mobile Dis-
trict. Such vast expenditures have necessi-
tated great expansion in the office of the
Comptroller. That office, headed by Fred
Barrineau, consists of the Audit, Budget,

Finance and Accounting, and the Manage-
ment branches. There has been corre-

sponding growth in the size and complexity
of the entire Mobile District organization
but none to exceed that of engineering.

The Engineering Division, J. J. Danaher,
Chief, developed into one of the Nation’s
most active and sophisticated engineering
organizations during the 1950’s and 1960’s.
This was a result, to a large extent, of the
geographic location of the Mobile District.
The presence of the Marshall Space Center
at Huntsville, Alabama, and the selcclion
of Mississippi as the site of the Mississippi
Test Facility thrust upon the Mobile Dis-
trict its greatest challenge. The result was
an extremely sophisticated engincering
division.

88

In 1964, when the District was at a
peak in missile responsibilities, it was no
less active in civil projects. The largest
contract let at the Mississippi Test Facility
that year was to the Koppers Company of
New York City for the construction of a dual
test stand at a cost of $17,280,157. The
same year a contract for $18,692,541 was
awarded for the construction of the main
portion of the Millers Ferry Lock and Dam
on the Alabama River in Wilcox County,
Alabama. As the Mobile District entered the
final quarter of 1964, there were 220 active
construction contracts, civil and military,
totaling over $172 million.11

The workload and expenditures of the
Mobile District in 1964 were the largest
since the peak years of World War II. The
Mobile District was the busiest of the 42
Corps districts throughout the world. It is
true the missile responsibilities accounted
for this, but the important feature of the
situation is that civil projects were expand-
ing at the same time. The Mobile District
had reached a balance between military and
civil responsibilities that gave it a stability
dreamed about, but seldom realized, by or-
ganizations dependent upon appropriations
from Congress.

The Corps spent about $250 million on

the Mississippi Test Facility, but civil
projects were under way in 1964 which
were to cost over %300 million. This bal-

ance between the civil and military pro-
grams and the resulting stability of the
workload has enabled the District to develop
a well-coordinated, experienced engineering
group. Another contributing factor to this
stability has been the vast potential for
water resources development in the South-
eastern United States, particularly within
the  Mobile District boundaries. Also
climatological and physical characteristics
have favored the location of military in-
stallations in the area.l?

The various responsibilities accom-
plished by the Mobile Districthave resulted
in the development of capability sufficient
to meet the demands made upon it. This
was graphically demonstrated when the
District was called upon to meet the erisis
created by hurricane Camille.



CHAPTER XIII:

THE MOBILE DISTRICT MEETS CRISIS:

Hurricane Camille struck the Gulf Coast
17-18 August 1969, resulting in mass de-
struction and the greatest relief andrehabil-
itation program in the history of the United
States up to that time. It also presented the
Mobile District with the most serious peace-
time challenge of its history. The District
was called upon to render services and
perform tasks under emergency conditions
similar to those created by the World War
II and Korean conflict crisis. It afforded
an opportunity for the organization to demon-
strate its capabilities and effectiveness
when called upon to function under pressure.

In spite of warnings and massive evacua-
tion, Camille resulted in the death of 137
persons in Mississippi and 9 in Louisiana,
and 27 persons were reported missing. Public
property losses were estimated to have been
$210,000,000 and private property at over a
billion dollars. This included the destruc-
tion of over 5,500 dwellings with damage to
many times that number. Over 650 small
businesses were destroyed, resulting in loss
of employment, business income, and tax
revenue. Total destruction was almost be-
yond comprehension when considered in all
its ramifications.

The scope and intensity of the storm
exceeded that of any ever to have hit the
continental United States. The overall de-
structive force exceeded that of the tornado
which roamed across Missouri, Illinois, and
Indiana on 14 March 1925. That storm cut a
path about 220 miles long and up to a mile
wide. It sped across the landscape at 60
miles per hour. The cloud above it, the

mother cloud, was so low and t'he funnel
was so wide that it was described as a

“‘turbulent, boiling mass of blackness™. It
killed 689 people in all, including 234 per-
sons in one community, Murphysboro, [1linois
Destruction would have been much greater
had much of the path of the storm not been
through rural areas.

Camille hit the populous Louisiana, Mis-
sissippi, and Alabama Gulf Coast. Destruc-
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HURRICANE CAMILLE

tion of life would have numbered in the
thousands had it not been for warnings and
adequate time to evacuate. It was first de-
tected on 14 August 1969 about 60 miles west
of Grand Cayman Island, some 480 miles
south of Miami, when only a tropical wave.
It developed rapidly and by early morning
15 August, it had reached hurricane inten-
sity. By that afternoon the winds had reached
a velocity of 115 miles per hour. It was
moving in a northwesterly direction 6 to 7
miles per hour. The trek across Cuba weak-
ened the hurricane only slightly and once
over the open Gulf of Mexico it began gain-
ing strength. Its forward movement increased
to about 10 miles per hour. Early on 16
August, a hurricane watch was posted from
Biloxi, Mississippi, to St. Marks, Florida.
Hurricane warnings were issued for the
Florida coast from St. Marks to Fort Walton.

The movement of the storm slowed in the
afternoon of 16 August, but the velocity
increased. A reconnaissance aircraft indicat-
ed that maximum winds were an estimated
150 miles per hour near the center, which
was located 380 miles south of Fort Walton,
Florida. Hurricane warnings were issued from
Fort Walton to Biloxi, Mississippi. Early
next morning the storm was about 250 miles
south of Mobile, Alabama, and was moving
north-northwesterly at 12 miles per hour.
Winds near the center were 160 miles per
hour. By late afternoon they reached 190
miles per hour.

The hurricane moved inland at the Wave-
land-Bay Saint Louis, Mississippi, area
near midnight 17-18 August with gusts of
wind estimated at up to near 200 miles per
hour near the center.! Gusts up to 75 miles
per hour extended eastward along the coast
to Mobile Bay and inland to just south of
Jackson, Mississippi. The eye of the storm
at landfall was about 12 miles diameter and
crossed directly over the town of Waveland,
Mississippi, at a speed of 15 miles per hour.
The tidal surge reached an unprecedented
height of 22.6 feet above mean sea level at



Pass Christian and was 6 feet as far east as
Gulf Shores, Alabama.

The eye of the storm moved across Mis-
sissippi, passing within a few miles of
Columbia. The maximum recorded wind
speed there occurred at 2:55 a.m. (C.D.T.)
on 18 August and reached 120 miles per
hour with gusts up to 135 miles per hour.
The wind instrument tower collapsed at that
time, so no official record exists thereafter.
An observer described the storm’'s fury.
Limbs were breaking from trees, large trees
were falling, and the streets were covered
with debris, many being blocked by fallen
trees.?

Destruction in the path of the center of
the storm at landfall was virtually complete.
The hurricane winds (speeds greater than 75
miles per hour) extended from New Orleans
to Pascagoula. Extensive damage occurred
from New Orleans to Pascagoula with less
serious destruction extending into West
Florida and as far inland as Jackson,
Mississippi.

The Mobile District Corps of Engineers
began to take official action concerning
Camille as early as 14 August 1969. When
the U.S. Weather Bureau advisory No. 1 was
received, close observation of the path of
the storm and its potential to develop into
a hurricane was commenced. The path of the
storm was plotted and its rate of progress
computed. Phase I of the Mobile District
hurricane plan was initiated. All floating
plant were notified and work schedules re-
viewed. Protective plans and emergency
equipment were rechecked for readiness and
reliability and all contractors engaged 1in
work for the Corps of Engineers were inform-
ed of the direction and potential of the
storm.?>

Advisories issued on 16 August indicated
that Camille would probably go inland some-
where in the Mobile District. Phascs 11 re-
quired that constant communication between
the District and the area offices be main-
tained. This was accomplished by means of
the District’s radio net, which enabled the
District, Area Offices, and floating plants to
keep in constant touch. All inactive floating
plant was moved to pre-selccted mooring
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areas for safety and standby watches were
set up. Emergency power supplies were
checked to assure proper operation if needed.

Phase II was initiated by ordering all
Government-owned floating  plant and
appurtenant equipment be moved to safe
harbors. All contractor-owned equipment was
released to seek refuge from the storm. On
17 August a 24-hour watch was established
for certain designed elements in the District
office and in the coastal area offices. By
noon of the 17, all floating plant and equip-
ment had been safely moored. Plans were
drafted to have teams move into the storm
area after the storm moved inland.

An emergency operations center was
established at 7:00 A.M. (C.D.T.) 18 August
after the storm center passed landfall from
which eleven survey teams were dispatched.

They were instructed to inspect the damaged
areas and report on damages and needs for

assistance. An inspection and photographic
mission was also made by helicopter. The
survey revealed that there had been little
damage east of Mobile, but destruction be-
came progressively worse west of Mobile to
Waveland, Mississippi. The ground survey
teams could hardly move around because of
obstructing debris in every highway, street,
and waterway. The helicopter survey team
got the first view of the massive nature of
the destruction.

Beginning at Pascagoula, much beach
front property had been destroyed. It became
progressively worse and from Gulfport to the
Louisiana line, one could travel west along
Highway 90 for several miles and not find
one house left standing. The beach front for
about two blocks inland had been swept al-
most completely clean of all buildings. The
eastbound lane of Highway 90 was destroy-
ed for long strips in many places. Massive
concrete deck slabs of bridges had been
displaced. In somc instances they were
lifted and deposited on the cdges of the
slabs of the opposite lane. Tracks and ties
were washed from the railroad bridge over
St. Louis Bay, and tracks and bridges were
damaged or destroyed in many other loca-
tions. Harbors, port facilitics and break-
water structures were destroyed or heavily



damaged. The merchant vessels, The Hulda,
Silver Hawk, and Alamo Victory, were
grounded at Gulfport, and a large barge was
beached on Highway 90. All communication
facilities were out and all utilities destroyed
over the area. The loss of life would have
been staggering had it not been for a mas-
sive and successful evacuation effort.

By the time Camille reached landfall,
evacuation of the lower portions of Plaque-
mine and St. Bernard Parishes in Louisiana
was almost 100 per cent complete. The
beach front area of Mississippi and Alabama
was over 90 per cent evacuated. Residents
of low-lying and exposed areas soughtref-
uge in about 263 shelters in 25 counties and
parishes in Alabama, Mississippi, and
Louisiana. Many others sought protection
with friends and relatives who lived inland.
Still others moved to commercial lodging in
protected areas. An estimated 200,000 per-
sons sought refuge from Camille. What could
have happened to many of those evacuees
is grimly portrayed by the experience of the
Richelieu Apartments party at Pass Chris-
tian. There 23 persons refused to leave, pre-
ferring rather to sit the storm out. The apart-
ment complex was completely destroyed and
only 3 of the party survived. Modern com-
munications making warnings adequate and
modern transportation facilities making evac-
uation possible saved scores of lives.

Before noon of the morning following the
storm, many agencies and volunteer groups
were entering the distressed area to aid the
thousands whose homes had been destroyed
or damaged. Those were expanded until
over 25 Federal agencies were included, with
several organizations within some of those
agencies participating. The Department of
Defense is a good example. Organizations
from that department included the Army, Air
Force, and the Navy and Marine Corps. In
addition, the American Red Cross and many
other public and private bodies assisted'. Only
the work of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
is included in this presentation.

The Mobile District became involved in
the recovery program first under the Corps’
continuing statutory authorities, and then at
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the request of the Office of Emergency Pre-
paredness. The Corps had extensive author-
ities under which rehabilitation work was ac-
complished under Public Law 99, 84th Con-
gress, and Section 3 of the River and Harbor
Act of 1945. There were also various project
authorizations under which regular operation
and maintenance work was carried out. The
Office of Emergency Preparedness (OEP)
requested Corps assistance under Public
Law 875, 81st Congress, which authorizes
Federal assistance to states and local
governmentsin major disasters. Later author-
ity was expanded under Public Law 79,
91st Congress, passed six weeks after Hurri-
cane Camille. This law authorized emergency
relief to private citizens who suffered losses
from the storm.4

Commitments under continuing Corps au-
thorities called for the restoration of all Fed-
eral navigation projects to pre-hurricane con-
ditions, repair of the Harrison County, Missis-
sippi, seawall, and various surveys and
inspections. This included restoration of all
the coastal project channels which had been
damaged. All those from Perdido Pass near
the Alabama-Florida line to Pearl River,
Louisiana, were heavily shoaled and clogged
with debris. There were many wrecks which
obstructed the channels. This was a monu-
mental task within itself, and ultimately
resulted in a $4,000,000 expenditure. It was
completely overshadowed, however, by the
recovery assignments from OEP.

The first task was an evaluation of dam-
ages. Survey teams covered the affected
territory within the Mobile District, making
comprehensive studies of the flooded areas.
Effort was made to determine all damage sus-
tained by both real and personal property
and economic losses to commercial and in-
dustrial concerns. Then effort was made to
evaluate the cost of relief and rehabilitation.
It was difficult to determine damages in
many instances, since nothing was left upon
which to base estimates. Often all that re-
mained was a vacant lot with even traces of
foundations vague or gone completely. Tax
assessors records were utilized when practi-
cable, but they often did not reflect fair
market value. Street to street surveys were
made in the flooded area, and every effort



was made to arrive at value of property dam-
aged or lost.

The survey revealed that the destruction
was almost complete for some three or four
blocks inland along the entire 75-mile Mis-
sissippi Gulf Coast. Residences, motels,
apartments, restaurants, and other structures
were reduced to rubble and swept into great
heaps of scrap lumber and masonry along
with fallen trees, ruined automobiles, and
grounded boats. Over 3,800 homes were
completely swept away along this strip and
16,000 suffered severe damage. In low areas
residential sections were flooded as much as
15 feet deep.

The total effect was dramatic and eerie.
At a season when the Gulf Coast is normally
green and lush, trees had been stripped of
all leaves. Most small terminal twigs had
been stripped as well and many large branches
were broken. Many large trees, especially
pines, were broken many feet above the
ground and looked as if they had been twisted
by some giant hand. Some trees were even
stripped of their bark. Replacing the foliage
in the trees were bits of clothing, spreads,
sheets, and other household items deposited
there by wind and flood. Streets were com-
pletely impassable.

Before any significantrehabilitation could
be accomplished, it was necessary to clear
the streets and utility rights-of-way and re-
store power, water, sewage and communication
systems. Three requests were received from
OEP 19 August, 22 August and 17 September,
accompanied by outlines for technical ser-
vices and field operations to be performed by
the Mobile District under Public Law 875. In
addition to surveys and assessment of dam-
ages as already noted, debris was to be

cleared and removed from all non-Federal
public roads, streets and other essential pub-

lic property. Debris was also to be cleared
from private property and non-essential public
property and other works performed when cer-
tified by the state and U. S. Public Health
authorities to be essential to public health
and safety.

The order came from OEP by tclephone on
Tuesday, 19 August, after President Nixon
had declared the storm area a major disaster
area. Twenty-six counties in Mississippi and
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one in Florida and Alabama each fell within
the Mobile District. A letter confirmed the
order later. Colonel Robert E. Snetzer, Mobile
District Engineer, called a meeting of his
key personnel and outlined the task before
them. When Colonel Snetzer ordered that con-
tracts be in effect and operative within a few
hours, it appeared impossible.

Contracts were normally advertised for 30
days. Civil works projects usually were ad-
vertised for 45-60 days. Supply let out the
advertisements. Bids were received and
opened and constructionrecommended awards.
Recommendations were referred back to
Supply normally in 1 to 4 days. If there were
no difficulties, contracts could be let in 5 to
6 weeks. Now the Corps was called upon to
let contracts within hours. Though the task
seemed impossible, Colonel Snetzer was
firm and ordered that his staff proceed.

Calls had come in to the Mobile office on
Monday from persons having equipment and
desiring to assist in the cleanup. Some of
those had had experience in hurricane clean-
up, especially after Hurricane Betsy in 1965.
Within 48 hours after Camille struck, five
contracts were in effect. They were cleaning
streets and rights-of-way. Many contracts
were negotiated within a day and work con-
tinued seven days a week. The contracts in-
cluded removal of debris from much private
property since such property was declared a
health hazard by either the United States
Health Department or State Health Depart-
ments. In some areas it included almost all
private property. There were dead animals
and inflammable materials to be removed and
debris which obstructed repairs to sewage
systems.5

The Mobile District was authorized to
repair or replace damaged public buildings,
utilities, and other cligible facilities when
requested by local officials. Also an inspec-
tion team was given the responsibility for
inspecting and documenting eligible rehabil-
itation work that government entities pre-
ferred to perform themsclves subject to
rcimbursement. The Corps was further author-
ized to give technical and administrative
assistance to government entities desiring
Federal assistance and reimbursement to
them for emergency expenditures.



EMERGENCY CLEANUP OF MISSISSIPPI COAST
FOLLOWING HURRICANE CAMILLE

RAVAGED AREA IN GULFPORT AFTER WRECKAGE PUSHED ASIDE FOR ACCESS
TO HOMES AND UTILITY INSTALLATIONS BUT BEFORE REMOVAL OF DEBRIS

CLEARING PRIVATE PROPERTY OF CLEARING STREAM OF DEBRIS
SAFETY AND HEALTH HAZARDS



The Corps’ role in providing technical and
administrative assistance and direct financial
reimbursements to local entities was a de-
parture from the usual OEP procedures.
Local governments did nothave the resources
or knowhow to cope with a disaster of such
magnitude. Normally the State of Mississippi
would have handled such responsibilities
and made the payments, but the task was too
great.

Within 10 days the Mobile District had
restored freedom of movement on 586 miles
of highways and streets. By mid-November
about 1.25 million tons of debris had been
removed. By that time, that phase of the
operation was virtually complete. Contracts
had been negotiated for set fees for a piece
of equipment and necessary operators for
pushing and removing the debris. The Real
Estate Division was responsible for securing
disposal and land-fill areas. Contracts award-
ed by the Corps required that available local
labor be hired and included the nondiscrimi-
nation clause.b

Many homes had to be moved from streets
and highways. In many cases, the Corps’
contractors returned the homes to their
foundations, and in doing so, rendered assis-
tance to stricken homeowners. Homes were
thus restored for 81 homeowners in Missis-
sippi alone. Services went much further for
the town of Pass Christian. At the request of
the OEP, the Mobile District assumed full
responsibility forrestoring all public services.

This included utilities, providing a fire
truck, police cars, and a temporary city
hall.7

To meet the crisis, the Mobile District
gave priority to the recovery task over all
its normal responsibilities. It also called
upon other Corps organizations for assistance.
A total of 137 civilians and 14 officers from
districts and divisions as far away as Port-
land, Tulsa, and Chicago came to the aid of
the Mobile District, and the District Engineer
was given command of other military organi-
zations engaged in debris removal. Among
those were about 800 Seabees stationed. at
Gulfport. An Engineer Construction Battaho.n
and a reinforced company from another Engi-
neer Battalion numbering al_)out 900 men were
dispatched from Fort Benning, Georgia.
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The District Engineer was alsoresponsible
for letting contracts and seeing that the terms
of such were met. The capability of the Corps
increased rapidly. Within a few days there
was a tremendous concentration of dump
trucks, loaders, dozers, cranes, and other
equipment employed in the project. The
forces under contract peaked at over 3,000
men.

Most of the contracts progressed smoothly
and without incident. It was noted by Corps
officials that some trucks delivering debris
to disposal areas were arriving with much
less than normal loads. Since pay was based
on loads hauled, the Corps was paying for
more than it was receiving. It became neces-
sary to place inspectors at the disposal
areas temporarily,8 Colonel Snetzer was di-
recting a vast and complex operation.

Within 10 days after the storm, 586 miles
of streets and highways had been cleared.
Soon this accomplishment was expanded until
2,400 miles of streets and roads had been
cleared and a total of 313,300 tons of debris
had been removed. This opening of roads and
streets was accomplished by Corps contrac-
tors and military units. At first the debris
was simply pushed aside to whatever location
was available. Once the streets and roads
were open, disposal locations were secured
and the debris removed.

Particular problems presented themselves
which required specialized personnel. Military
units under Corps directions disposed of
hundreds of dead animals and tons of spoiled
fish, shrimp, and food. It was also necessary
to dispose of a large stockpile of spoiled
fish meal. With all electricity out, all refrig-
erated foods spoiled and presented problems
of disposal unlike that of most debris. Another
particular problem was that of traffic. With
so few traffic arteries open for the first few
days after the storm, problems developed at
critical crossings during debris removal as
residents began to return and sightseers
flooded the area. Contracts were negotiated
with the sheriffs of Hancock and Harrison
Counties, Mississippi, for additional deputies
for traffic control. Other types of specialized
contracts included those for demolishing
large buildings left standing but structurally
unsound, and those for replacing buildings



to their foundations where they had been
swept away by the tide water.?

By December 1969, work under Public
Law 875 had been almost completed. A few
small Federal contracts at Pass Christian still
required supervision, and a number of city
and county contracts for OEP reimbursement
had to be monitored. The Mobile District was
already anticipating responsibilities under
Public Law 79 and was becoming organized
to assume this new task though orders to do
sowere not received until 20 February 1970.

Just about the time Public Law 79 was
implemented, a new responsibility was as-
sumed under Public Law 875. The Office of
Emergency Preparedness determined that the
removal of debris from public-owned navigable
waters other than Federally authorized pro-
jects was eligible under that law. Public
Law 79 had initiated a whole new realm of
Federal services, that of cleaning up private
property, including private waters. OEP con-
cluded that the cleanup of public waterways
more logically belonged under Public Law
875, so additional work was accomplished
under that law.

Six snagging contracts and one dredging
contract were negotiated. The :debris was
removed from the waters and deposited at
stockpile areas. Clearing contractors work-
ing under Public Law 79 removed the material
to dumping areas.10

By mid-January 1970, Colonel Snetzer was
notified officially that the Mobile District
would be responsible for services under
Public Law 79. It was necessary for those
seeking assistance to apply through a plan
established by the state.Mississippi finaliz-
ed its plan and started receiving applications
on 19 January. By the end of January, the
District office had assessed its responsibili-
ties and developed aplan to accomplish them.
Authorization was given by OEP 20 Febru-
ary, and the Corps was ready to implement
its program.

The Corps was given responsibility for
cleaning up private property in urban areas,
and all work in agricultural and undeveloped
areas was assigned to the Agricultural
Stabilization & Conservation Service (ASCS).
The Corps, under this arrangement, reccived
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over 80 per cent of the applications. Those
applications included reimbursement for
work done by the applicant, debris removed
by the Corps, a combination of reimburse-
ment and debris removal, and applications
for the demolition of structures.l!

By 1 March, the Engineering Branch at
the Gulfport area office had 60 engineers
and engineer technicians functioning. They
developed location maps for debris removal
and determined eligibility of structures on
demolition applications. Over 700 structures
were demolished either by equipment rental
contractors, or under lump-sum contracts.
About 9,000 ciaims for reimbursement were
processed and over $2,610,000 was paid to
individuals who had paid for removal of
debris themselves. Over 15,000 applications
for removal of debris by the Mobile District
were approved.l® The Corps cleared about
14,300 residential lots and 280 wooded
tracts under Public Law 79. About 1,500,000
tons of debris were removed.

By October 1970 the work was virtually
complete. Recovery operations following
Camille were by far the largest task of its
kind ever undertaken by the Mobile District.
For the next year after the storm struck, a
major portion of the resources of the Dis-
trict, manpower, equipment, and funds, were
diverted from normal use to be used to re-
habilitate the disaster area. There was
considerable curtailment of the civil works
engineering program, and a slowdown in
routine maintenance of navigation projects.
Improvements at reservoir projects had to be
delayed.

The adverse effect of Camille on the
District’s operation was greatly diminished
because the storm came at a time when the
construction workload was declining. The
President announced a 75 per cent cutback
in contract awards in September 1969, just
after Camille. This resulted in a reduced
workload throughout the Corps of Engineers.
The Camille assignment precluded the need
for a reduction in force in the Mobile Dis-
trict and made it possible to sccure aid
from many other Corps Divisions and Dis-
tricts.13

Colonel Snetzer was given overall com-



mand of 1,700 uniformed personnel and sev-
eral thousand civilian contractors and civil
service personnel. The work forces under
his command operating under Public Laws
875 and 79 were far more than the normal
forces under his direction as District Engi-
neer. He was ably assisted by Lieutenant
Colonel Paul D. Sontag as Deputy District
Engineer of the Mobile District. Together
they directed expenditures of over $49,000,
000 in recovery and rehabilitation services.

They were served by career Corps per-
sonnel of the Mobile District, who devoted
many hours to arduous tasks which demanded
much more of them than their normal Corps
functions. Many key persons were assigned
to temporary duty at one of the nine field
offices maintained within the disaster area.
Some of those spent many months away from
home, serving until the emergency was over.

The effectiveness of the Corps’ accom-
plishments is reflected in the fact that of
the thousands of applications for reim-
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bursement processed, there were only 180
appeals. This amounted to only about two
per cent of the total claims. This is even
more amazing when it is considered that
Camille was the initial test for Public Law
79, and the Corps was functioning without
experience or precedence in the matter.
Colonel Snetzer’s accomplishments did not
go unnoticed. He was personally commended
by President Nixon and was awarded the
Legion of Merit for his leadership during
the early phases of Hurricane Camille re-
covery and rehabilitation work.

The nature of disasters is such that
people are not prepared to meet them in
most instances. Since the precise time,
place, and nature cannot be anticipated,
adequate preparations can seldom be made.
Each will require its own unique responses.
It is evident, however, that the Mobile
District was capable of mobilizing and di-
recting vast resources in a most commend-
able fashion, thus relieving much suffering,
inconvenience and economic loss.



CHAPTER XIV:

LOOKING INTO THE FUTURE

As the Mobile District entered the 1970’s,
it continued extensive civil projects al-
ready projected and under construction. The
Corps was engaged in many projects in
various stages of completion. Any cutoff
date would leave many works incomplete
and many questions unanswered. Mid-1971
has been chosen for the cutoff date for
this research. Three considerations were
prominent as the Corps entered the new dec-
ade; the Tennessee-Tombighee Waterway,
ecology; and manpower economy. The out-
come of none of those considerations could
be determined absolutely at that date.

The Tennessee-Tombighee Waterway was
authorized by an act of Congress in 1946.
Construction was scheduled to begin in
1971, twenty-five years later. It was without
doubt the oldest project of the Corps of
Engineers in terms of the inception of the
idea and it was the largest civil project of
the Mobile District. It has been deeply in-
volved in national and sectional politics.
For those reasons, more attention has been
devoted to it than might be otherwise.

W. A. Evans, a Mississippi historian,
has asserted that French settlers as early
as the eighteenth century considered ad-
vantages to be realized by connecting the
Tennessee and Tombighee Rivers. The
Marquis de Montcalm advised Louis XV of
France that such a canal was needed about
1760.1 This interest in river improvement
was in keeping with accomplishments at
home, France having been the first nation
of the western civilization to have developed
a national transportation system.

The next recorded interest in the water-
way was a petition submitted to Congress
in 1810 by a group of citizens of Knoxville,
Tennessee, requesting such a project.?2 The
first indication of Corps official interest
appears in the report of Simon Bernard,
member of the Board of Engincers, in 1817.
Bernard surveyed future prospcects of the
Alabama and Tombighee River Valleys and
concluded that those valleys must be af-
forded adequate defense for ‘‘that finc
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country assuring its inhabitants the
peaceful enjoyment of all prosperity which
they will be blessed with: if particularly
we consider that it is destined to become the
natural communication between the valley
of the Mississippi, Tennessee, and the
Sea,”” by means of an artificial canal.?

The Corps of Engineers was primarily
interested in military projects at this time.
It was generally assumed that river improve-

ments would be accomplished by the states.
Shortly after Alabama entered the Union in
1819, the state hired an engineer to survey
Alabama’s rivers with the hope of connect-
ing them with the Tennessee. Tennessee
was also investigating the possibility of
connecting the Tennessee with one of the
Alabama rivers, possibly the Coosa.*

Alabama and Tennessee were not alone
in their ambition ‘to open a waterway from
the Tennessee to open water. Georgia had
high hopes of making Savannah a major port
by capturing the commerce of the interior.
In 1825 a Board of Public Works was created
by the Georgia State government whose
duty it was to employ ‘‘artists, agents, and
laborers’’ to make surveys and estimates
for canals, roads, and bridges. The board
was given specific instructions to investi-
gate the possibility of constructing a canal
across the state as centrally located as
possible, to join the Tennessee River. It
was hoped that a main canal could be built
with subsidiary canals connecting the rivers
of the state. Hamilton Fulton, an English-
man, was appointed chief engineer. He
divided the state into three sections and
employed crews to work on each. The north-
ern division, with primary responsibility for
plans for the canal was assigned to Wilson
Lumpkin.

Lumpkin surveyed a route for the canal,
and it was considered possible and pr
to construct such a waterway. By the end of
1826, however, the board had been discredited
and was abolished. The canal was never con-
structed but the state did build the state-
owned Western and Atlantic

actical

Railroad along



the route surveyed by Lumpkin. It was built
between 1839 and 1851 from Chattanooga to
a southern terminus on the Chattahoochee
where it connected with other lines. At this
terminus, the great industrial city, Atlanta,
developed.5

It was fifty years later before further
thought was given to the waterway. After
the Civil War, President Grant concluded
that flooding of the lower Mississippi River
could be controlled by diverting waters of
the Tennessee River to the Gulf of Mexico.
There was no merit to the argument, but the
Corps of Engineers did make a serious in-
vestigation of the possibilities for such a
project for commercial purposes in 1874-
1875. It was concluded that the canal could
be built, but the Corps doubted that there
was enough commerce in the area to justify
it.6

Corps studies made in 1913, 1923, and
1932 resulted in conclusions that the cost
of constructing the waterway would exceed
benefits derived from the project. It would
not be justified therefore.?”  After 1932
favorable reports were given by the Mobile
District. The survey upon which authoriza-
tion was made was completed in 1938 and
submitted to Congress in 1939. Authorization
came some years later. While this may not
be true with regard to other projects, the
Corps became interested in the Tennessee-
Tombigbee Waterway after it had received
considerable political attention.

Politics on the state level have been
most active in Alabama. There was support
for a connection by way of the Warrior River
in addition to, if not instead of, the Tom-
bigbee. This route would place the entire
project within the state of Alabama. The
conrfection with the Tombigbee would place
much of the route in Mississippi with most
of the major construction projects in that

state. The conflict between the rival interest

was intense in the late 1930’s.

In 1945 the Corps of Engingers mafie its
final examination of the pro]ect' bragt Fo
authorization for construction. This exami-
nation was an elaboration of t‘he survey made
in 1938 which had resulted in favorable re-
ports from the Corps. The project as present-

ed to Congress would create a slack water
route from its junction with the Tennessee
River to the Gulf of Mexico by-way of the
Port of Mobile. It would entail improving
170 miles of existing river channel, con-
structing 45 miles of canal and building
five dams and ten locks across the dividing
ridge between the Tennessee and Tombighee
watersheds, the ridge cut alone being 27
miles. The ridge cut was projected for the
Nashville District while the Mobile District
would accomplish the rest. These plans
were to be modified with the passing of
years between authorization and the appro-
priation of funds for construction.8

When the Corps completed its examina-
tion and presented it to Congress, both
houses of the Alabama [.egislature unani-
mously adopted a resolution in support of
the project.? While Alabama was now on
record supporting the Tennessee-Tombighee
route, the question of a possible Tennessee-
Warrior route would be warmly discussed in
1959-1960, both by Mobile District officials
and interested persons in political circles
in Alabama.

Congress accepted the recommendation
of the Corps of Engineers and authorized the
Tennessee-Tombighee Waterway 24 July
194610  This came only after years of
political campaigning for Congressional
approval. The House rejected authorization
in 1939, and the Senate in 1940.11 Senator
Arthur Vandenberg of Michigan led the oppo-
sition to authorization. He pointed out that
the Corps of Engineers had reported unfa-
vorably onthe project in its previous reports,
and now the reversal of its position was
only a feeble one. Support for the waterway
was led by Senator Theodore G. Bilbo of
Mississippi, but when the vote was taken,
the proposal was defeated.

The project was debated in the House
Rivers and Harbors Committee in March
1941. Among those appearing before the
committee were Major General Julian L.
Schley, Chief of Engineers, and Tom Faust
of Mississippi, lobbying for the railroads.
Schley would go no further than to say that
the project was practicable both from an
engineering and economic position. He did
not come out specifically for the project at



that time. Faust, on the other hand, insisted
that the project would cost Mississippi
money because of the requirement that a
portion of the cost would have to be absorb-
ed locally. Mississippi, he said, would not
support a project which it could ill afford to
support financially.!® This time the com-
mittee reported favorably. Its recommendation
included $66,000,000 for the project, but
because of the war crisis, no river and har-
bor bill was passed in 1941.

The committee reported favorably on the
project again in 1943, and it was included
in the omnibus river and harbor bill which
included 271 projects. When the bill was
debated on the House floor, Republican
opposition, which had opposed the project
in committee, now fought it on the floor.
Representative Dondero of Michigan offered
an amendment to strike the southern water-
way from the bill. The amendment carried,
and the project was stricken from the omni-
bus river and harbor bill. The opposition
vote was largely Republican 148 Republi-
cans to 45 Democrats voting against the
waterway.l3

Because of inflation and other factors,
the cost had increased from the initial $66,
000,000 estimated to a projected $386,570,
000. The project was 253 miles long includ-
ing 168 miles of improved river channel, 45
miles of canal and a 27-mile cut through a
ridge separating the Tennessee and Tom-
bighee Rivers.

This waterway would provide a slack-
water barge route which would give 23
states outlet to open water by way of the
Port of Mobile. The water route to the Gulf
of Mexico would be shortened as much as
700 miles from some points now using the
Mississippi River. The Corps of Engineers
estimated that the project would return $1.66
for every dollar spent. It was anticipated
that it would result in an industrial boom
along the waterway, and would tremendously
increase the importance of the Port of Mobile
in National and international commerce.

The project was obviously deeply in-
volved in sectional politics, and what hap-
pened to it was out of the hands of the
Corps of Engineers. The Tuscaloosa News
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saw the rejection of the waterway as in-
dication of the lack of political bargaining
power of the ‘‘Solid South’’.14  The Ten-
nessee-Tombigbee project was excluded from
the river and harbor bill completely in
1945. In an attempt to present the bill free
of all controversial projects, Senator Over-
ton, chairman of the Rivers and Harbors Sub-
Committee of the Senate Commerce Com-
mittee, excluded all those projects which had
not been clearly and firmly approved by the
Chief of Engineers. There were 291 projects
included in the bill, and the Tennessee-
Tombighee Waterway was the first project
listed among those which had been elimi-
nated.1® The problem with the project at
this stage was sectional politics and this
problem was destined to delay the develop-
ment of the waterway for the next 25 years.

Finally the Tennessee-Tombighee won
approval in the 1946 river and harbor bill.
The bill authorized projects costing $600,-
000,000 - this project alone accounted for
$116,941,000. The 1946 Congressional ses-
sions were stormy with sectional politics.
By this time the Deep South congressmen
were much more united in support of the proj-
ect, and the border states were stronger in
their support. The opposition, on the other
hand, was more outspoken. Clare Hoffman,
Republican Representative from Michigan,
charged that the ‘‘tax-paying states’ of the
East, the North, and the central states should
not be burdened with millions of dollars in
appropriations for strictly local improvements
in the South.16

The opposition lost, however, and the
House of Representatives voted 184 to 164
to authorize the waterway. Attempts to strike
the project from the river and harbor bill
failed in the Senate by a vote of 21 to 44.17
Authorization was made after some 200 vears
from the first inception of the idea for such
a project by the French, but no appropriation
accompanied the authorization. Representa-
tive John E. Rankin of Mississippi spoke in
behalf of an appropriation in 1947 and many
times between 1947 and 1951, but his in-
fluence probably caused more opposition
than support. In 1949 an appropriation of
$200,000 for planning was approved though
one of $2,500,000 proposed for construction
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was defeated. At last planning could be ini-
tiated.

Failing to get further consideration from
Congress, Mississippi and Alabama entered
into negotiations which ultimately secured
sufficient political support to secure appro-
priations. Colonel Harry Griffith, District
Engineer, Mobile District, announced 10
April 1971 that the first bid for construction

of the first project of the waterway would be-

opened in June 1971. This first construction
project was alock in a canal across anoxbow
bend in the Tombighee River near Gaines-

ville, Alabama. This project was estimated to
cost about $10,000,000.18

The 1970 appropriation bill included
$1,000,000 to begin construction. President
Nixon froze the funds and they were not re-
leased until the spring of 1971. The pro-
posed 1971-1972 budget included $6,000,000
for the waterway. From this initial construc-
tion project it was anticipated that progress
would be consistent until completion of the
project in about ten years. The climate of
uncertainty which had surrounded the proj-
ect during attempts to get it approved and
funded was dispelled 26 May 1971 when
President Nixon visited Mobile and dedi-
cated a plaque commemorating the begin-
ning of construction. Serious opposition
mobilized, however, and additional delays
were experienced. Though Republicans had
consistently opposed the waterway, it final-
ly was funded under a Republican president
and a Republican representative, Jack
Edwards, of Mobile, who was one of its
strongest advocates.

In his dedicatory speech, Nixon said,
““We’re not Northerners, Easterners, or
Westerners’’. He appealed to Americans to
unite and stated that the five states working
together with the Federal Government to build
the waterway link between mid-America and
the Gulf of Mexico demonstrated the bene-
fits of cooperation.19 There was every rea-
son to believe that the project would receive
adequate administrative support to progress
without further interruption.

Construction of the first phase of the

Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway could not
begin until an environmental study was com-
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pleted and presented to the Council on En-
vironmental Quality. The Corps had to be
able to state that the construction of the
waterway would not result in adverse ecolog-
ical or environmental effects as required by
the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969.
Ecologists delayed the beginning of con-
struction beyond the date of writing. En-
vironmental quality control was the second
primary consideration as the Corps faced
the decade of the 1970’s.

The U. S. Army Corps of Engineers has
been given credit for much of the pollution
and ecological crisis which faces the na-
tion. If one took seriously the charges of
Justice William O. Douglas and other out-
spoken opponents of the Corps, he would
conclude the Corps of Engineers is respon-
sible for most of our national ills in those
areas.20

Opposition to the Corps of Engineers was
only one aspect of a movement reflecting
great concern with ecology. The movement
resulted in the Environmental Policy Act of
1969 and in determination to enforce the Rc-
fuse Act of 1899, which requires that all in-
dustrics get approval of the Corps of En-
gineers before dumping refuse into streams,
rivers, lakes and bays.

To meet the requirements of the Envi-
ronmental Policy Act, the Institute of Water

Resources, Corps of Engineers, issued
environmental guidelines in November
1970.21

The Mobile District began to feel the im-
pact of the demands of the environmental
guidelines in late 1970. Those guidelines
were met as rapidly as funding permitted.
The responsibility was shared by areas in-
volved in planning, design, construction and
operations. Each of these areas followed
guidelines which were now Corps policy as
they approached their responsibilities.

By 1971 the Mobile District was apply-
ing the guidelines to all projects as funds
were made available.®®  The area which
had felt the impact greatest was probably
the Operations Division. T. 0. QGaillard,
Chief, Operations, was responsible for
carrying out the provisions of the Refuse



Act of 1899. This meant the application of
guidelines to numerous private industries
which must develop new systems for the
disposal of refuse. Practice of long stand-
ing had to be abandoned. Operations was
responsible not just for inspection of new
industries as they are built, but also those
already operating. The task was staggering.

The Refuse Act of 3 March 1899 (33
U.S.C.. 407) had not been seriously enforced
until recently. The Operations Division of
the Corps of Engineers, Mobile District, be-
came responsible for issuing permits to all
who discharged or deposited refuse into navi-
gable waters of the Districtor into any tri-
butary of any navigable water from which
the refuse would float or be washed into
such navigable waters. Any firm wishing to
discharge such refuse had to get a certifi-
cate from the state which verified that such
refuse did not damage the water beyond stand-
ards established by the state. The Mobile
District issued no permits until such a certi-
ficate was secured from the state. Thus far
the standards set by the states within the
Mobile District have been acceptable to the
Corps of Engineers.

It was the responsibility of the Corps to
see that such standards were kept up to par
and that they were met by any persons,
firms, or others who discharged refuse in
the waters. Regulations as they existed at
the time of writing stated that all facilities
which existed but were not in existence or
lawfully under construction prior to 3 April
1970 must apply for permits as soon as pos-
sible following the publication of those re-
gulations in the Federal Register, but in no
event later than 1 July 1971. Operations se-
cured permit forms and set up the necessary
facilities for processing them. The initial
forms proved less than ideal, however, and
new ones were adopted. The entire program
was in the formative stage at the time of
writing, but would doubtless become a vital
operation of the Corps of Engineers.

The Corps would work closely with the
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA),
which concerned itsell with water quality
standards. The Regional Representative of
EPA identified and advised the Corps with
respect to applicable water quality stand-
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ards. The Regional Director of the National
Marine Fisheries Services of the National
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and
the Regional Coordinator or field representa-
tive of the Department of the Interior would
advise the District Engineer concerning the
protection of fish and wildlife.

The entire environmental protection pro-
gram was complex and really in its formative
period as environmental quality control was
then envisioned. It involved the states,the
the Department of the Interior, and the De-
partment of Commerce through its National
Marine Fisheries Services as well as the
Army Corps of Engineers. A change inpol-
icy or regulations of any one of those
agencies could affect the programs of the
others.?3 Tt would be sometime before firm
policies and procedures could be established.

The third consideration of the Mobile Dis-
trict as it looked toward the 1970’s was that
of manpower economy. Edward E. Peters,
Chief of Manpower Management, received a
teletype dated 12 July 1968 which stated
that no additional appointments could be
made for fulltime permanent employees until
strength had been reduced to the employment
level of 30 June 1966. This directive was
designed to implement Section 201 of the law
(PL 90-364) enacted 1 July 1968. Positions
could be filled up to 75 per cent of those
separated until the stated level of employ-
ment was reached. The directive further
stated that fulltime temporary appointments
must not exceed one year. Part-time employ-
ment was also restricted. The law was modi-
fied so that manpower was based on quarter-

ly vouchers stating how many positions were
allotted.24

Manpower strength as of 30 June 1966
stood at 1,111 fulltime permanent positions
assigned to civil projects and 578 assigned
to militaty projects, making a total of 1.689
permanent positions. The third quarter of
fiscal year 1970-1971, 1,015 civil positions
were allotted. Having farmed out the West
PointD‘dm to the Savannah District and hav-
ing completed the Mississippi  Test
Facility by 1968, the Mobile District had
already reduced its force somewhat and the
manpower restriction would not have ¢

~at
problems had added i

responsibilities not



been assigned to the District.

During May and June 1970, the Mobile
District assumed responsibility for the Jack-
sonville, Florida, District’s military con-
struction. This included contracts, real
estate and design. It also included Panama
Canal Zone military construction. The Dis-
trict further assumed responsibilities for the
Canaveral District, Florida, but did receive
50 spaces along with these duties. As of 1
July 1971 the Canaveral District ceased to
exist as such and all responsibilities were
assigned to be administered as an area office
of the Mobile District. Much of the added
responsibility has had to be assumed within
existing manpower allotments, This neces-
sitated some reorganization and shifting of
personnel to accomplish the workload.

As the Mobile District entered the 1970’s,
one could detect what appeared to be contra-
dictions in its functions. Proud of its space
age accomplishments and the role it has
played in the aerospace program, it still has
some elements of the lingering past. In April
1971 the paddle-wheel snagboat, Montgomery,
departed Bender’s Shipyard, Mobile, to re-
sume its duties on the Apalachicola-Chatta-
hoochee River system. Commissioned in
1926, it is one of the last of the stern wheel
snagboats in operation in the nation. Though
completely overhauled and efficient, it had
the appearance of a steamboat of the last
century. As it navigated the lower Apalach-
icola River, passing jungle-like swamps
and forests, the setting had all the appear-
ance of a hundred years ago.

While the Montgomery quietly went about
the task of removing snags and other ob-
structions from the river channels, the Mo-
bile District was busy meeting the require-
ments of the aerospace program in keeping
facilities and projects updated. Two projects
facing the District in the future were the
Theodore Industrial Park ship channel and a
superport in the Gulf of Mexico ‘to accommo-
date super bulk carriers. The‘flrst of those
projects had passed the planning stage and,
when accomplished, would add much to
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Mobile as an industrial city. The latter
was only a recommendation that the Corps
make a feasibility study of the Alabama-
Mississippi coast as a possible site for
such a facility. Paul Soros, president of
Soros Associates International, Inc., was
retained by the U. S. Maritime Administra-
tion to make technological studies of pro-
spective sites for offshore terminals. He
visited Mobile in April 1971 and indicated
much interest in a site off the coast of
Alabama.?5 Other possible Gulf of Mexico
sites are off the coast of Louisiana at the
mouth of the Mississippi and off the coast
of Texas. The Corps of Engineers is ex-
pected to have the final word on the selec-
tion of a site. If the Alabama-Mississippi
site should be chosen, it would be the
largest navigation project thus far for the
Mobile District and would cost an estimated
one billion dollars.

Such a facility would be designed to
handle bulk material such as coal, chem-
icals, iron and basic ores used to manu-
facture aluminum. It would enable the United
States to compete with other nations, such
as Japan, which are already using the super
bulk carriers. The prospect for the Mobile
District Corps of Engineers getting the
responsibility for construction of the Gulf
of Mexico terminal, if such is accomplished,
was greatly enhanced by the Tennessee-
Tombighee Waterway projects.

As the history of the Mobile District is
reviewed, evidence of the initial beginnings
is clearly seen in the coastal fortifica-
tions which still stand in various degrees
of preservation. Step by step the Corps has
met the demands made upon it both in peace
and war and has accomplished its respon-
sibilities. Tremendous capability and tech-
nological know-how have been acquired
through the years and have never been
greater than at present. As the military, in-
dustrial, navigation, and other requirements
are made, there is every indication that the
Corps will rise to the demands.
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California, 1970, 268-284. The article first ap-
peared in Playboy Magazine, July 1969.

21 Environmental Guidelines for the Civil Works Pro-
gram of the Corps of Engineers, Institute for
Water Resources Report, 70-5, November 1970, 4.

22 Interview with E. A. Drago, Chief, Environment
and Resources Branch, Mobile District, Corps of
Engineers, 12 April 1971.

23 Interview with T. O. Gaillard, Chief of the Opera-

tions Division, 18 May 1971. See also Permits
for the Discharge or Deposits into Navigable
Waters: Part II and Part III, 1971 Preliminary
Edition, Department of the Army Corps of Eng-
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ENGINEERS IN CHARGE OR DISTRICT ENGINEERS

MAJ C. B. Reese

CPT A. N. Damrell

COL J. H. Simpson

LTC W. F. Raynolds

CPT, MAJ & LTC A.N. Damrell
1LT Eben E. Winslow

MAJ W. T. Rossell

CPT Spencer Cosby

CPT & MAJ W. E. Craighill
CPT J. B. Cavanaugh

MAJ W. E. Craighill

MAJ Henry Jervey

MAJ & LTC C. A.F. Flagler
CPT R. T. Ward

LTC Charles Keller

MAJ W. L. Guthrie

MAJ F. C. Boggs

LTC Edward H. Schulz

MAJ W. L. Guthrie

CPT C. L. Sturdevant
Mr. G. K. Little

Mr. F. H. Reed

APPENDIX

MOBILE DISTRICT

1870-1870
1870-1870
1870-1872
1872-1873
1873-1895
1895-1895
1895-1901
1901-1903
1903-1906
1906-1906
1906-1906
1906-1910
1910-1913
1913-1913
1913-1916
1916-1916
1916-1916
1916-1916
1916-1917
1917-1917
1917-1918
1918-1919

COL R. S. Thomas
MAJ Earl North

MAJ T. H. Emerson
LTC W.D. A. Anderson
LTC R. S. Thomas
CPT F. Z. Pirkey
COL Richard Park
LTC Willis E. Teale
LTC L. D. Worsham
LTC Doswell Gullatt

"LTC H.I. Collins

COL Mark M. Boatner, Jr.
COL J.J. Twitty

COL W. K. Wilson, Jr.
COL Harry L. Fox

COL Harold E. Bisbort
COL Robert W. Love

LTC & COL Daniel A. Raymond
COL Robert C. Marshall
COL Robert E. Snetzer
COL & BG Harry A. Griffith
COL Drake Wilson

MONTGOMERY DISTRICT

(Consolidated with Mobile District on 1 October 1933)

CPT R. L. Hoxie
CPT Philip M. Price
MAJ F. A, Mahan
CPT C.A.F.Flagler
CPT W, V. Judson
CPT R.R. Raymond
CPT J. B. Cavanaugh
CPT H. B. Ferguson
LTC G. D. Fitch
MAJ Earl I. Brown

-1889
1890-1894
1896-1899
1899-1900
1901-1901
1902-1902
1903-1907
1908-1910
1911-1912
1913-1915

MAJ Frank C. Boggs
CPT C. L. Sturdevant
Mr. James E. Turtle
COL W.D. A. Anderson
MAJ W. A. Johnson
MAJ J. J. Loving

MAJ E. A. Bethel
MAJ L. E. Lyon

MAJ R. A. Sharrer
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1919-1920
1920-1924
1924-1928
1928-1932
1932-1935
1935-1936
1936-1940
1940-1941
1941-1942
1942-1943
1943-1945
1945-1947
1947-1949
1949-1952
1952-1954
1954-1958

1958-196 1
1961-1964
1964-1967

1967-1970

1970-1973
197 3-

1916-1916
1916-1917
1918-1918
1919-1919
1919-1921
1921-1924
1924-1926
1926-1930
1930-1933
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